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Financial Summary

B HE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLHFE

Results £ 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“EC-F | ZT2%F ZT-NF T\ CZT+F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR FET TAT THL TET
Revenue A 139,818 114,474 158,714 203,892 325,445
Gross profit EM 38,699 24,957 32,196 42,480 95,589
Loss before income tax BRETS LRI 1B (46,020) (67,038) (71,048) (62,178) (13,875)
Loss attributable to the owners ARAEAA
of the Company FEIEEE (46,271) (68,115) (76,680) (60,032) (15,632)
As at 31 December
W+ZR=+-H
Financial position BBMR 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“EC-F | ZEZFF ZE-NEF ZE-N\F ZT—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR THET TAET THL
Total assets BEBAE 234,832 283,700 351,054 427,616 525,762
Interest-bearing borrowings/ HRMER/HERE
lease liabilities 7,954 4,975 8,547 1,071 699
Total liabilities BmaE 38,575 45,275 45,857 45,198 79,431
Shareholders’ equity &Y 196,257 238,425 305,197 382,418 446,331
Current ratio (note 1) ML= (fEE1) 4.87 5.27 6.26 6.85 5.08
Quick ratio (note 2) R X (HEE2) 4.7 5.00 5.91 6.65 4.96
Return on assets (note 3) BER®RE (fi:3) (19.7%) (24.0%) (21.8%) (14.0%) (2.9%)
Return on equity (note 4) BAEHRE (FizE4) (23.6%) (28.6%) (25.1%) (15.7%) (3.5%)
Gearing ratio (note 5) BEGELE (HE5) 4.1% 2.1% 2.8% 0.3% 0.2%
Inventory turnover days (note 6) FEREXE (i76) 22days/H | 49days/B  43days/H  20days/H  15days/H
Trade receivables turnover days B SRR RE
(note 7) R (FEET) 72days/H | 61days/B  48days/H  26days/H  48days/H
Trade payables turnover days B o ENFREE
(note 8) A& (HizE8) 69days/B |101days/B  30days/ B 21days/B 37 days/H
Note P
1. Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities 1. RELE = REBEAERBAE
2. Quick ratio = current assets less inventory/current liabilities 2. HEE = RBEAERGS RBAE
3. Return on assets = Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year/ 3. BERSHE = XAREEANELREEER B4
total assets =
4. Return on equity = Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year/ 4. RARIHE = AATHE AELEERE/RE
shareholders’ equity RS
5. Gearing ratio = Interest-bearing borrowings or lease liabilities/shareholders’ 5. BEAGBHLE - AEXLHERR REERS
equity
6. Inventory turnover days = Inventory balance/cost of sales for the year x number g, CEAERY - TE&0 EENERAN x £F
of days for the year K
7. Trade receivables turnover days = Trade receivables/revenue for the year x 7. BoEWIERE RS = B 5 EWEIEFEIK
number of days for the year A X FEXE
8. Trade payables turnover days = Trade payables/cost of sales for the year x 8. BoEMNTBRERS = ESRNIEFEH

number of days for the year

ERA x FERE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors” and
each of a “Director”) of Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited* (the
“Company”), | hereby present the audited consolidated results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

The COVID-19 pandemic persisted throughout 2021, with the
emergence of more infectious variants of COVID-19 continuing to
threaten and disrupt people’s daily lives, but the global economy has
recovered despite this volatility.

Thanks to the rollout of mass vaccination programmes, people’s lives
have returned to normal to varying degrees, and economic activities
have gradually resumed. The economy of the United States (“US”)
rebounded in 2021 due to government support in the form of fiscal
measures and monetary policy. According to the US Department
of Commerce, US’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) grew by 5.7%
in 2021. However, significant economic headwinds remained, in
particular inflation and employment issues, which complicated the
prospects of US’s economic recovery. According to data released
by the US Department of Labor, US’s consumer price index (“CPI”)
rose by as much as 7% year on year in December 2021whereas
in February 2022, it further rose by 7.9%, representing the highest
level in the last 40 years. In an attempt to curb inflation, the Federal
Reserve is expected to raise interest rate this year, although interest
rate rise may present economic challenges of their own, increasing
the cost of capital leading to greater uncertainty in corporate
financing and cross-border business. The impact on financial markets
will gradually become apparent.

A change of the Company’s name from “CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment
Company Limited” to “Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited” was conditionally
approved by a special resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 25 March 2022 and becomes effective on 29 March 2022,
being the date on which the certificate of incorporation on change of name was
issued by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands.
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Meanwhile, China’s strong export performance and effective anti-
pandemic measures have created a favorable environment for
economic recovery. According to the National Bureau of Statistics,
with GDP increased by 8.1% year on year in December 2021,
China’s economy grew significantly in 2021. The central government
held an economic conference in December 2021 to reinforce its
strategy of “making economic development a core priority”, following
related pronouncements in 2014 and 2018. In order to support the
development of the real economy, the People’s Bank of China cut the
deposit reserve ratio required among financial institutions by 0.5% on
15 December 2021. The move maintains reasonable and sufficient
liquidity to effectively support small and medium-sized enterprises
and technological innovation, and creates a monetary and financial
environment conducive to high quality development and supply-side
structural reforms. China’s continued long-term economic growth
under the guiding principle of “steady growth” is anticipated in 2022.

Hong Kong’s economy enjoyed a marked recovery in 2021 as the
pandemic remained under control for most of the year and global
economic activities continued to regain momentum. The territory’s
economy rebounded by 6.4% in 2021, thanks to a strong recovery in
global demand and the launch of the consumption voucher scheme
to stimulate spending.

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

OUR PERFORMANCE

In 2021, our apparel operation and money lending operation
performed steadily and summarized below are the highlights of the
Group’s performance:

Apparel operation

In 2021, the US market remained the major market for our apparel
business. Revenue from our apparel operation increased by 20.7%
to approximately HK$129,254,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$107,053,000) as the US economy rebounded amid
government support. Our apparel operation remained the largest
contributor to the Group’s business, accounting for 92.4% of the
Group’s total revenue.

The Group intends to expand its design, manufacturing and trading
of apparel business with a view of developing trendy apparel
products. The Group has signed a cooperation agreement with a
sizeable apparel manufacturer for the long-term collaboration on
apparel product development and production which could diversify
from its current focus of manufacturing private label women apparels
to become an all-rounded trendy apparel manufacturer and tap into
the men and young adults’ markets. The Group is seeking suitable
intellectual property rights (“IPRs”) for apparel production in order to
enrich its product portfolio.

Money lending operation

As our money lending business focuses on individual consumers and
small businesses in Hong Kong, its performance is closely related to
the state of Hong Kong economy.

As Hong Kong’s economy showed signs of recovery in 2021,
revenue from our money lending operation surged to approximately
HK$10,564,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$7,421,000), representing an increase of approximately 42.4%.
Money lending operation accounted for 7.6% of the Group’s total
revenue.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)
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PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the Company
entered into a convertible bond placing agreement on 13 December
2021 (the “CB Placing”) which was completed on 6 January
2022. The net proceeds from the CB Placing, after deduction of
fees, commissions and expenses payable, were approximately
HK$34,125,000. Details of the CB Placing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 13 December 2021 and 6
January 2022.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Over the past two years, the COVID-19 pandemic has brought
tremendous difficulties to people around the world, and we believe
2022 will be another challenging year. Although COVID-19 vaccination
programmes have been rolled out globally, some countries and
territories, including Hong Kong, are still dealing with significant
outbreaks, and many are operating under a range of restrictive
measures. All of these may have a negative impact on social and
economic development.

Geopolitics is another major challenge for the global economy in
2022. The Russia-Ukraine war has added uncertainty and panic
to the market sentiment that was already volatile. And issues such
as the China-US trade war, sanctions applied to the Chinese high
technology industries and concerns over the Taiwan issue have
continuously hindered the normal development of the Sino-US
relations. Although the current conflict involving Russia and Ukraine is
fraught, risks related to ongoing tensions between China and the US
may have a more serious impact on the global economy, and Hong
Kong in particular, as an international financial center inextricably
intertwined with China, will likely be significantly affected. As a Hong
Kong listed company, we must fully assess the risks that may arise
from geopolitics and take comprehensive and decisive action when
considering the future development strategies and business focus of
the Group.

Looking ahead, we expect the global economy will continue to
recover in 2022, but probably at a more moderate pace than in 2021,
given restrictive pandemic control measures that may hold back the
economic recovery if the threat of COVID-19 variants persists for an
extended period.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

China’s economy has remained strong and stable during the past
two years, despite the persistence of the pandemic. We believe that
China will remain a major driver of global economic growth for the
foreseeable future, as it has been over the past few decades. The
fundamentals of China’s economy remain strong and resilient, and a
series of reform measures has been implemented to promote high-
quality economic development which, coupled with prudent fiscal
measures and monetary policy, will support China’s economy to
sustain solid growth in 2022.

The rapid rise in global inflation in 2021 has upended the low-inflation
environment of the past two decades. The Group’s product exports,
shipping, logistics and other activities are facing rising cost pressures.
Considering that the Group’s apparel business in the US accounts
for a large proportion of its revenue, and amid the international trade
uncertainties that lie ahead, the Group will exercise cautious in the
development strategy of its existing businesses. At the same time,
it will allocate more resources to expand the more diverse market
in China and explore business opportunities with higher growth
potential.

The Group will make adjustment to its major women’s clothing
export business to better adapt to the Chinese market, expanding
its apparel portfolio and leveraging trendy IPRs to open up the
sportswear, children’s wear and other markets. The Group will also
grasp the opportunity to expand its business in the trendy cultural
products closely related to apparel to seize the huge opportunities
presented by the economic development of China and diversify the
Group’s business income.

In recent months, the Group has entered into various agreements to

explore further business opportunities in China. Please refer to the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section for more details.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

APPRECIATION &

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank and acknowledge & ' HERXEFTERXHSURELBE
colleagues for their commitment, perseverance and efforts over the ~ —F I FT1ERIAGEMEBFHFTEHE 1 - F
past year. | am also grateful to all shareholders for their continued — BXHIFTA R EAFEL I -

support.

Li Yang =30
Chairman Ea
28 March 2022 —E-—F=A=-+N\H
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Yang, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee,
a member of the Remuneration Committee and an authorised
representative of the Company on 19 January 2022. Mr. Li provides
leadership for the Board. Mr. Li acts as a consultant to the Board with
effect from 8 December 2021.

Mr. Li obtained a diploma from Shenzhen University in 1992 and a
Master of Business Administration from Shenzhen Economic and
Management Institute in 2000. Mr. Li also completed a Master’s
degree programme in 2001 at the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences, majoring in World Economics.

Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in investment activities
and business management. He has held directorships in several
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and a public company listed on
the mainland stock market.

From September 2014 to June 2018, Mr. Li acted as the deputy
chairman and an executive director of China Best Group Holding
Limited (stock code: 370.HK). From July 2015 to September 2016,
he acted as the chairman and a director of Guanghe Landscape
Culture Communication Co., Ltd., Shanxi*, shares of which are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600234.SS). From
February 2017 to December 2018, he also served as an independent
non-executive director of Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock code:
1106.HK). From November 2018 to December 2020, he acted as the
deputy chairman and an executive director of Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1089.HK). Such company was
privatized by way of a scheme of arrangement under the Companies
Act of its place of incorporation and its listing was withdrawn on
24 December 2020. From August 2020 to February 2021, he also
acted as an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(stock code: 1363.HK), the listing of which was cancelled under Rule
6.01A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. For further information of the above companies, please
refer to their respective public disclosures.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBBEFE

Mr. Li has held various senior management positions in a number of
capital investment and entity enterprises, and has extensive industry
experience in fashion apparel, trendy brand promotion, information
technology and other businesses.

Ms. TIN Yat Yu Carol (formerly known as TIN Yuen Sin Carol), aged
56, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 11
October 2019. She also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group including Delta Wealth Finance Limited. She joined the
Group in November 2016.

Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur operating business including money
lending business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also has extensive
experience in trading business in Hong Kong and PRC. Ms. Tin
served as a director of Yan Oi Tong from 2017 to 2018.

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (“Carnival”) (formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited) from
2005 to 2011, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 996.HK). She also served as the chairman of
Carnival from 2006 to 2011.

On 5 May 2020, Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive director of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft Financial”), a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8018.HK). She has been the chairman of Finsoft
Financial since 19 May 2020.
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Mr. CHEUNG Ka Lung, aged 46, was appointed as the deputy
chief executive officer of the Company on 1 May 2017 and an
executive director of the Company on 28 June 2019. He also serves
as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group including Runway
Global Limited. Mr. Cheung is primarily responsible for the daily
management, business operations and corporate transactions of the
Group.

Mr. Cheung graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration
(Finance) from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
He is a CFA charterholder. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Society of Financial Analysts and a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of working experience in the
banking and finance industry. He previously worked for a number of
investment banks and has extensive experience in handling various
corporate transactions such as initial public offerings, mergers and
acquisitions, reverse takeovers, restructuring and fund raising. During
his career, he also had worked in the field of private equity investment
for over 10 years including a senior position in the private equity
arm of Ichigo Inc. (formerly known as Asset Managers Co., Ltd.), a
company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange First Section (stock
code: 2337.T) in which he managed a portfolio with assets under
management over USD300 million in the Greater China region.

Mr. Cheung was a non-executive director of Stemcell United Limited
from October 2016 to November 2019, a company whose shares are
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: ASX:SCU).

Mr. CHAN Ming Leung Terence, aged 54, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 2 August 2021.

Mr. Chan has held key management positions in various companies
since 1999, including chemical, storage, trading and health care
product industries. He has extensive experience in international
trading, sales, marketing, strategic planning and business
development.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan was engaged in the health
care product business.
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Mr. GONG Xiaohan, aged 41, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 8 December 2021.

Mr. Gong obtained his master’s degree in software engineering from
East China Normal University in 2018.

He started his career in IT industry since 2003, with a focus on the
area of sales and marketing. Between July 2003 and September
2016, he spent more than 13 years with Tencent, during which
he held senior positions at various departments. He individually
won a number of awards from Tencent in respect of his valuable
contributions to the business of Tencent.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gong was an entrepreneur. He
started his own company in 2017 and engaged in technology
business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 August
2016. He is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee
and also a member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Tang is a practising solicitor and an accredited mediator with the
Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre. He is a partner of P. C.
Woo & Co., a firm of solicitors with over 70 years of service in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Tang is @ member of the Panel member of the Insurance Appeals
Tribunal, honorary legal advisor of the General Agents and Managers
Association of Hong Kong, founding member and vice president
of the Hong Kong Institute Patent Attorneys, honorary senior legal
adviser of the Hong Kong Brands Protection Alliance, founding
member, board member and honorary legal counsel of the Hong
Kong-ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation, member of the
Standing Committee on Standards and Development of the Law
Society of Hong Kong, member of the Sichuan Committee of The
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, honorary legal
advisor of the Kitchee Foundation Limited, Executive Board Member
of Hong Kong Air Cadet Corps, fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors, board member of Monte Jade Science and
Technology Association of Hong Kong and member of Disciplinary
Panel A of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Tang was first appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 November 2013. He retired on 3
December 2015 in order to devote more time for his other personal
pursuits. He was re-appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 August 2016.

Mr. HON Ming Sang, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 2 November 2016. He is
the chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and also a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Hon obtained an honor degree of Professional Accountancy in the
School of Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
He is a CFA charterholder. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Society of Financial Analysts, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate member of
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international audit firm and has
over 13 years of working experience in listed companies and financial
institutions. He has extensive experience in corporate finance,
merger and acquisition, investment and financial management and
compliance services.

Mr. Hon is currently an executive director and company secretary of
SFund International Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1367.HK).

On 24 June 2020, Mr. Hon was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8018.HK). On 6 November 2020, Mr. Hon was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Asia Energy
Logistics Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 351.HK).
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Ms. LO Wing Sze BBs, JP, aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 January
2021. She is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Ms. Lo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Economics from the
University of Sydney in Australia in 1995 and obtained a degree of
Master of Commerce in Finance from the University of New South
Wales in Australia in 1997.

Ms. Lo is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia. Ms. Lo has been
the financial director of Million Tour Limited since 1999.

Ms. Lo was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in June 2017
and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in October 2020 by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("HKSAR”) respectively. She has been an Honorary Court Member
of Lingnan University since June 2020. She has been a member of
Social Workers Registration Board since January 2022, a member of
HKSAR Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for Former
Chief Executives and Politically Appointed Officials since July 2021,
a member of HKSAR Wan Chai District Fire Safety Committee since
April 2021, a member of HKSAR Advisory Committee on Admission
of Quality Migrants and Professionals since July 2018, and a member
of HKSAR Museum Advisory Committee since October 2016. Ms.
Lo served as a council member of Lingnan University from October
2015 to September 2019 and was appointed as the treasurer of the
council of Lingnan University from November 2018 to September
2019. She was an award council member of the Hong Kong Award
for Young People from February 2014 to January 2018, a member of
HKSAR Non-local Higher and Professional Education Appeal Board
from December 2016 to December 2019, a co-opted member of the
finance and management working group of HKSAR Chinese Temples
Committee from October 2015 to September 2021 and a member of
HKSAR Social Welfare Advisory Committee from December 2015 to
November 2021.

Ms. Lo has been a member of the Election Committee 2021 of the
HKSAR (The Fourth Section) since October 2021 and she was a
member of the Election Committee for the Fifth Government of the
HKSAR from February 2017 to October 2021.

On 21 August 2020, Ms. Lo was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8018.HK).

Bk LTwenes c¥#+ 505 0 BT
T F A+ _BEZEAKRATIEL
IEHITES - FALARREZEZEEKE -

BLEIN—NNAFIEREMNEERERE
RELEBM - KR — hﬂtﬁﬂ%&%ﬁﬁ
BRI ABMERELTEM -

BUTRBEBGHAEEE RN ETAD
NEEREE - BEXTBE-NANFREE
BRIRITHE AR AR M HEAEE -

ELZLTH AR —+FERARZE-EF
+RAESR) *TEUTTEREE (TBEBRFE]) BF
ZEARKFHTRERARALEE - BEZ
ToTF A ARNTEEABLEREZTE
B -FEZZE_—_F-ARBREABASFEM
eTEEFMBEE  BZZE-_—Ft AR
HAEEEFRBNIAETEREE RBUARE
TEEHBE LI EFANEZEEgKE B
Z—FOARHARBFEBATETER N
ZEegKE BT \FLARBRHAERE
%E%Aﬁ%Aﬁ&ﬁﬁmﬂiAaﬁﬁ*
EEBZZE-—RFTABRHAREFREYE
BRAEEEKEBE - BRITE-Z—AF+A
EZT-NFNALFEMAERESK
CWEZE-N\F+—HAEZZT-AFAN
H%*EE%ﬁﬁﬁ&%A7f°ﬁ§ z
—MF-_RET—N\F—AABEETFHR
BiFtgEseks B2 —~FTZAE
E-NF+ARBAFEIFHESF R
ﬁ%ﬂaiﬁiﬁaﬁﬁ'5:§*£¢+
AEZZT—FHhALEEEEREABF

ZESMBLER/ MLENRE B -F
—RAFET_AE-ZE-_—F+—-AHLEER

#‘J’Eﬁlzﬁ\ﬁﬂ}mnuuq ,\EWE °

BLTE T - —F+ ABEE2021F&E

;E%;/\EIJI J/_\Z ;E\ (%EE‘%?DU) IE/\\
—+E-RAE -+ AEEES

%E%ﬁfﬁﬁ%*ﬁ ZE8E%L 8 (JRiE

) e

R_ZB-TF)\A-+—H BRLTEZRE
REMEREERBR AR ZBILIFH

TEE  Z2RKRMREZTGEM £ (AR
5 - 8018.HK) °

Annual Report 2021 %R

17



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Zhou Yibing, aged 28, is the chief creativity officer of the
Company and also the director of Virtual Mind Art Company Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. She joined the Group in
January 2022. She is responsible for managing the product design
team of the Group by procuring the recruitment of a team of young
and talented designers, and with the aim of capturing the market
opportunities in the younger generation, developing own brand
trendy culture products of the Group including apparels, cross-over
products with other brands in order to enhance the Group’s strategic
move to re-foucs from its women apparel products to all-rounded
trendy apparel and other ccessories products for men, women and
young adults.

Dr. Zhou is a senior designer of the world luxury product brand group
LVMH with 4 years of experience in fashion design industry. She
was a designer of Givenchy since 2018 and was promoted to senior
designer in 2020 and double WRTW-star senior designer in 2021.
Prior to joining Givenchy, she worked as a designer in Balmain Group
and was responsible for fancy jewelry in Buccellati Italy.

Dr. Zhou graduated with a master’'s degree of Kantian Philosophy
from University of Cologne and earned a doctor of philosophy degree
in Archaeological Research of Religion in the Middle East from
Universite Paris 1 Pantheon-Sorbonne.

Mr. CHAN Ka Yu, aged 42, is the chief financial officer of the
Company and also the company secretary of Runway Global Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in
June 2013. He is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting and assisting in handling company secretarial matters of the
Group.

Mr. Chan graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
from the Hong Kong Shue Yan University. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chan has over 15 years of working experience in professional
accounting, financial reporting, compliance services and corporate
finance such as initial public offerings.

*For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally engages in (i) design, manufacture and trading
of apparel, namely apparel operation; and (ii) provision of money
lending business, namely money lending operation.

REVENUE

Revenue of the Group saw a recovery in 2021 thanks to the continued
revival in demand in our major market. Revenue for the reporting
period increased by 22.1% to approximately HK$139,818,000 (2020:
HK$114,474,000).

APPAREL OPERATION

Revenue from apparel operation is principally derived from the sales
of apparel products. The Group’s products can be classified into two
categories, namely, private label products and own brand products.
Private label products are those designed and manufactured under
the private labels owned or specified by the Group’s customers, while
own brand products are those designed and manufactured under the
Group’s proprietary labels.

Most of our apparel products are exported to the United States and
U.S. market is the principal market for our apparel operation.

The COVID-19 pandemic and resultant social distancing measures
caused serious disruptions to people’s livelihood and commercial
activities in the U.S. However, the U.S. refrained from imposing large-
scale lockdowns or other highly restrictive measures in 2021 despite
the COVID-19 pandemic persisted. People’s dalily lives and economic
activities have been reviving gradually as the U.S. relaxed social
restrictive measures following implementation of mass vaccination
campaigns. Coupled with fiscal measures and monetary support, the
U.S. economy showed a rebound in 2021.

Thanks to the rebound of the U.S. economy, the revenue from apparel
operation increased by 20.7% to approximately HK$129,254,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$107,053,000), despite
affected by marine transportation limitation during the year. Apparel
operation remained the largest contributor to the Group’s business,
accounting for 92.4% of total revenue.
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APPAREL OPERATION - OWN BRAND PRODUCTS

We turned our focus on the own brand products in 2021 as own
brand products had higher gross profit margin. For the year 2021,
revenue from own brand products increased by approximately
80.4% to approximately HK$91,715,000 (2020: HK$50,848,000).
Own brand products became the largest contributor of the apparel
operation and accounted for 71.0% (2020: 47.5%) of the revenue
from apparel operation for the year. Gross profit increased by 107.5%
to approximately HK$27,719,000 (2020: HK$13,358,000). The gross
profit margin for own brand products increased from approximately
26.3% in 2020 to approximately 30.2% in 2021.

APPAREL OPERATION - PRIVATE LABEL PRODUCTS

Revenue from certain major private label customers dropped in the
year, resulting in the revenue from private label products decreased
by approximately 33.2% to approximately HK$37,539,000 (2020:
HK$56,205,000). Private label products contributed 29.0% (2020:
52.5%) of the total revenue from apparel operation for the year. The
gross profit derived from private label products decreased by 90.0%
to approximately HK$416,000 (2020: HK$4,178,000) and the gross
profit margin decreased to approximately 1.1% in 2021, compared
with approximately 7.4% in 2020.

MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

Hong Kong saw a strong recovery in 2021 attributable to the well-
contained local epidemic during the period and continued revival
of global economic activities. However, the economic recovery is
uneven as the pandemic, social distancing requirements and travel
restrictions continued to weigh on certain industries. Our money
lending business primarily offers loans to individual customers and
small businesses in Hong Kong. Revenue from money lending
operation was approximately HK$10,564,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: HK$7,421,000), increased by approximately
42.3%. Money lending operation accounted for 7.6% of total revenue
of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Provision of expected credit loss allowance on loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$18,042,000 (2020: HK$17,021,000)
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2021, increased by
6.0%.

Our loans and interest receivables (net of allowances) increased
by approximately 5.4%, from approximately HK$108,762,000 as
at 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$114,667,000 as at 31
December 2021. The interest rate charged on all loans receivable
ranged from 2.3% to 30% (2020: 3.0% to 36%) per annum.

COST OF SALES

As there was no direct cost incurred for money lending operation,
cost of sales was incurred entirely for apparel operation only. The cost
of sales was approximately HK$101,119,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: HK$89,517,000), increased by 13.0%.

The increase in cost of sales for 2021 was primarily reflected by more
material costs due to increase in revenue from apparel operation for
the period.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$38,699,000 (2020: HK$24,957,000), increased by 55.1%. The
gross profit margin increased from approximately 21.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to 27.7% for the year ended 31 December
2021. During the year, apparel operation contributed approximately
HK$28,135,000 (2020: HK$17,536,000) to the gross profit, and
money lending operation contributed approximately HK$10,564,000
(2020: HK$7,421,000) to the gross profit.
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The gross profit from apparel operation increased by 60.4% to
approximately HK$28,135,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: HK$17,536,000), due to increase in revenue from apparel
operation. Thanks to more revenue from own brand products which
had higher gross profit margin, the gross profit margin of apparel
operation increased to 21.8% for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: 16.4%). For the year 2021, revenue from own brand products
increased by approximately 80.4% to approximately HK$91,715,000
(2020: HK$50,848,000). On the other hand, revenue from private
label products, which had less gross profit margin, decreased by
approximately 33.2% to approximately HK$37,539,000 (2020:
HK$56,205,000).

The gross profit from money lending operation increased by 42.3%
to approximately HK$10,564,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$7,421,000), as there was an increase in revenue
from money lending operation in the year. The gross profit margin
was 100% for money lending operation for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: 100%), as there was no direct cost incurred
in generating revenue in the money lending operation.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Other gains and losses was approximately HK$1,831,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$9,663,000), decreased by
81.1%. Due to low utilization of capacity of our Jiaxing factory as a
result of sluggish manufacturing demand, we also processed outside
subcontracting orders in a bid to increase income. In 2021, there
was subcontracting income of approximately HK$4,621,000 (2020:
HK$5,817,000), fell by 20.6%.

We received United States Government subsidies of approximately
HK$1,714,000 in 2021 for our U.S. operation. The subsidiaries
were mainly for the use of paying wages of employees and rental
expense in the U.S. We received wage subsidies of approximately
HK$2,050,000 in 2020 granted from the Hong Kong SAR
Government’s Employment Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic
Fund for the use of paying wages of employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, resulting from the volatile conditions of the Hong
Kong stock market and the financial performance of the respective
investee companies, a net fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$2,679,000 (2020: nil)
was recognized from the Group’s securities investments.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of our money lending operation in
November 2016, which was the fair value of consideration exceeding
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree.

There was no impairment loss on goodwill incurred in 2021 (2020:
HK$ HK$22,734,000).

REVERSAL OF EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS ON TRADE
RECEIVABLES

Reversal of expected credit loss on trade receivables of approximately
HK$125,000 (2020: HK$8,000) was recorded for the year ended 31
December 2021. We provided impairment loss on trade receivables
on individual assessment.

PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS ON
LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Provision for expected credit loss on loans and interest receivables of
approximately HK$18,042,000 (2020: HK$17,021,000) was recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2021, increased by 6.0%. In
assessing the provision for expected credit loss for loans and interest
receivables, the Group considered (i) the loan receivables which have
been past due as at 31 December 2021; (i) the repayment history of
loan and interest receivables of each borrower during the year; and (iii)
the probability of default rate due to the inability of the borrowers to
make repayments to the Group when due.

The increase in the provision for expected credit loss was due to
an increase in the loans and interest receivables, and deterioration
of the credit status of certain borrowers. The loans and interest
receivables (net of allowances) increased by approximately 5.4%,
from approximately HK$108,762,000 at 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$114,667,000 at 31 December 2021,
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i) import duty and
transportation costs for delivery of products; (i) staff costs for our
sales representatives; and (iii) depreciation on of showroom tenancy
as right-of use assets. The selling and distribution expenses incurred
in the reporting period were approximately HK$17,197,000 (2020:
HK$16,271,000), increased by 5.7% on a year to year basis. During
the year, driven by (i) the increase in revenue from apparel operation;
(i) change in the product mix of apparel operation as there were more
own brand product orders in 2021, for which we were responsible for
import duty and transportation expenses in U.S. for those own brand
product orders; and (iii) increase in marine transportation charges
as a result of marine transportation bottleneck, the import duty and
transportation costs increased noticeably. Excluding import duty
and transportation expenses in U.S., most of the selling expenses
recorded decreases for the reporting period. As a percentage of
revenue, selling and distribution expenses decreased to 12.3% for
the year ended 31 December 2021 from 14.2% for the year ended
31 December 2020.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff costs; (ii)
professional fees; and (i) depreciation of right-of-use assets. The
administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
approximately HK$51,070,000 (2020: HK$45,325,000), increased by
12.7%. In 2021, we continued to adopt certain cost-cutting measures
to reduce our operation costs. Certain administrative expenses
registered decreases for the period. As a percentage of revenue,
administrative expenses decreased to 36.5% for the year ended 31
December 2021 from 39.6% for the year ended 31 December 2020.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$366,000 (2020: HK$315,000),
increased by 16.2%. Finance costs were the imputed interests on
lease liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$46,271,000 (2020:
HK$68,115,000), representing a decrease in loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of 32.1%. As previously discussed, the
revenue increased for the year due to rebound in demand in our major
market, and no impairment loss on goodwill (2020: HK$22,734,000)
incurred for the year, were primarily contributed to the decrease in
loss attributable to the owners of the Company.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of our money lending operation in
November 2016, which was the fair value of consideration exceeding
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree. Goodwill is
subject to impairment review periodically.

There was no impairment loss on goodwill incurred in 2021 (2020:
HK$ 22,734,000).

INVENTORY

The Group’s inventories decreased by 49.7%, from approximately
HK$11,971,000 as at 31 December 2020 to approximately
HK$6,016,000 as at 31 December 2021. The inventory turnover
day decreased from 49 days as at 31 December 2020 to 22 days
as at 31 December 2021. In 2021, certain obsolete inventories of
approximately HK$521,000 (2020: HK$$2,634,000) were impaired.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trade receivables increased by 43.6%, from
approximately HK$19,136,000 as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$27,486,000 as at 31 December 2021. The trade
receivables turnover day increased from 61 days as at 31 December
2020 to 72 days as at 31 December 2021, primarily because there
were more orders in 2021 derived from customers who requested for
longer credit period.

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

The Group’s loans and interest receivables increased by 5.4%,
from HK$108,762,000 as at 31 December 2020 to approximately
HK$114,667,000 as at 31 December 2021. The loans receivables
as at 31 December 2021 were mainly comprised of mortgage
loans receivables, corporate loans receivables and personal loans
receivables.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

The Group’s deposits, prepayments and other receivables decreased
by approximately 56.1%, from approximately HK$12,594,000 as
at 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$5,534,000 as at 31
December 2021, primarily because lesser trade deposits were placed
to our suppliers to purchase raw materials and finished goods.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

The portfolio of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss business consisted of investments in listed securities
of approximately HK$15,681,000 that were held for trading as at 31
December 2021.

No dividend income was received by the Group from its investments
in listed securities (2020: Nil). Resulting from the volatile conditions
of the Hong Kong stock market during the year and the financial
performance of the respective investee companies, a net fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$2,679,000 (2020: nil) was recognised from the
Group’s securities investments.

The objective of the Group’s investments in the listed securities in
Hong Kong is to achieve profit from the appreciation of the market
value of its invested securities and to receive dividend income. The
Directors expect that the stock market in Hong Kong will remain
volatile which may affect the performance of the Group’s securities
investments. The Board believes that the performance of the
securities investments of the Group will be dependent on the financial
and operating performance of the investee companies and the
market sentiment, which are affected by factors, such as interest rate
movements and performance of the macro economy. The Group will
continue to adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of
listed securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor
the performance of its securities investment portfolio.
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TRADE PAYABLES

The Group’s trade payables decreased by 22.4%, from approximately
HK$24,651,000 as at 31 December 2020 to approximately
HK$19,124,000 as at 31 December 2021. The trade payables
turnover day decreased from 101 days as at 31 December 2020 to
69 days as at 31 December 2021, primarily due to more payments
were made to suppliers during the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances amounted
to approximately HK$15,348,000 (2020: HK$78,547,000). Total
borrowing and lease liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$7,954,000 (2020: HK$4,975,000), of
which approximately HK$7,022,000 (2020: HK$3,654,000) would
be repayable within one year and all the remaining lease liabilities
of approximately HK$932,000 (2020: HK$1,321,000) would be
repayable after one year.

The current ratio of the Group was approximately 4.87 as at 31
December 2020 (2020: 5.27).

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowing and
lease liabilities over total equity was approximately 4.1% as at 31
December 2021 (2020: 2.1%).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$15,681,000 were pledged
as securities for the Group’s other borrowings. The Group did not
have any pledge or charge on assets as at 31 December 2020.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K% i& AR A 7

BZENFER

AEENBEZRNFIER-_S_TF+_H
=+—HAK%24,651,0008 L1 22.4% =
—E-—F+=ZA=+—H/#419,124,000
B TFEHRBEMPIRFEAMMEEEELE
ZNF - BESRNFIBRAEREH_T-F
FE+-A=+—HW1N KL E=-T ——
F+ZA=1+—H/GBIK °

RBEERUBER

fﬁA*%*—EJr*Her—E Re RIR
@A/ 15,348,0008 L (ZE T F -
78,547,000/% L) e RZE=-_—F+=HAH
=+—H AEENEREREEEEREY
£37,954,00078 7T (ZF ZZ 4 : 4,975,000
Bor) 497,022,008t (Z T =%
8,654,000 7T) « R —FAEE - B
THHEEREL932,0008T (T T4 :
1,321,000 87T) R —FIEEE -

RZEBE-_—F+-A=+—H AEENR
LR E487T (ZB-FF 1 527) -

EERMGELR

R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—H KEEHE
EABLR (RHEa B0 A B AT
H)ROBA1%(ZEZTF 1 21%) °

EERA

m:;:—¢+ A=+—8 ' x&EMHIN
NEEFEBEFHTASHEZNIFEE
#915,681,000 8 LE THIF - tEARSEE
@F THIER - RZE_EFE+_A=+—
C AEEVWEAMNEED FEBIEL -



Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2020: nil).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group derives the majority of its revenue in US$ while substantial
portion of our costs are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”).
Appreciation of RMB against US$ will therefore directly decrease
the profit margin of the Group if the Group is unable to increase
the selling prices of its products accordingly. If the Group increases
the selling prices of its products as a result of the appreciation of
RMB, it may in turn affect the Group’s competitiveness against its
other business competitors. To the extent that the Company needs
to convert future financing into RMB for the Group’s operations,
appreciation of the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies would
have an adverse effect on the purchasing power of the RMB amount
that the Company would receive from the conversion.

The exchange rates between RMB and US$ are subject to changes
in the PRC Government’s policies and global political and economic
conditions.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment (2020: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 181 employees
(2021: 208 employees). Total staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments) for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
approximately HK$42,708,000, as compared to approximately
HK$45,291,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Remuneration is determined with reference to market norms as well
as individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 22
November 2013 whereby the Board was authorised, at its absolute
discretion and subject to terms of the Scheme, to grant options to
subscribe for the shares of the Company to any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the Group (the “Eligible
Participant”). On 8 December 2021, the Company granted options
under the Scheme to Eligible Participants to enable the Eligible
Participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 60,000,000 new shares
of the Company. Details of the share options granted and outstanding
during the year are set out in the paragraphs “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” in this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: nil).

PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE

On 13 December 2021, the Company entered into a convertible
bonds placing agreement (“CB Placing Agreement”) with an placing
agent, pursuant to which the Company proposed to offer for
subscription, and the placing agent agreed to procure subscriptions
for, the convertible bonds on a best effort basis on the terms and
subject to the conditions set out in the CB Placing Agreement.
The placing agent shall procure not less than six placees to
subscribe for the convertible bonds in the principal amount of up to
HK$35,000,000.

The placing of the convertible bonds was completed on 6 January
2022. The net proceeds from the placing of the convertible bonds,
after the deduction of fees, commissions and expenses payable, are
approximately HK$34,125,000.

Please refer to Company’s announcements dated 13 December 2021
and 6 January 2022 respectively for details.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors did not recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Entering Into a Cooperation Agreement

On 10 January 2022, the Company entered into a cooperation
agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”) with Qingdao
Weiding Sports Supplies Company Limited* (“Qingdao
Weiding”) for the purpose of, inter alia, establishing the strategic
cooperation relationship with each other in the trendy apparel
market. Qingdao Weiding is a company established in the PRC
and is principally engaged in the research and development,
production and sales of trendy and sports apparels and
accessories products.

Please refer to Company’s announcement dated 10 January
2022 for details.

Entering Into a License Agreement

On 18 January 2022, the Company entered into a licensing
agreement with Chengdu Dreamtoys Cultural Creativity
Company Limited (“Chengdu Dreamtoys”)* pursuant to which
Chengdu Dreamtoys grants the exclusive right of use of the
intellectual property right of four animated characters (the “IP
Characters”) worldwide to a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Licensee”) for the development, production and
sales of apparel of the IP Characters for the period from 19
January 2022 to 18 January 2023. Furthermore, the Licensee
has the right to sublicense the IP Characters to third parties
upon obtaining consent from Chengdu Dreamtoys.

Please refer to Company’s announcement dated 18 January
2022 for details.

* for identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Acquisition of the Entire Issued Share Capital of
Chengdu Dreamtoys

On 25 January 2022, the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement, pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of Dreamtoys
Inc. which holds 100% equity interests in Chengdu Dreamtoys
through its wholly-owned subsidiary. The Initial Consideration
for the Acquisition is HK$44.0 million (subject to adjustment), of
which HK$4.4 million shall be paid by the Company in cash and
the remaining consideration shall be satisfied by the allotment
and issue of the shares of the Company at the issue price of
HK$0.22 per share of the Company under the specific mandate
to be sought by the Company at an extraordinary general
meeting to be held.

Chengdu Dreamtoys, being the major operating subsidiary
of Dreamtoys Inc., has various proprietary and licenced IP
rights that could be utilitzed in the production of trendy cultural
products while Chengdu Dreamtoys has developed close
relationship with some renowned gaming platforms with popular
games and large user base.

Please refer to Company’s announcement dated 25 January
2022 for details.
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iv. Acquisition of art pieces and the relevant NFTs

from Leblon-Delienne

On 17 March 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA”) with Leblon-Delienne (“LD”) to purchase
eight sets of art collections designed by French designer Mr.
José Lévy and the relevant digital creation for Non-Fungible
Token (“NFT”) for market sale. The Directors are of the view that
the entering into of the SPA signifies the Group’s first-step in
cooperating with world-renowned brands, artists and designers
to build up the Group’s self-developed brand image and the
Group would continue to explore the cross-over collaboration of
the Group’s brand with world-renowned artists and designers in
developing the Group’s apparel and apparel related products.
The Directors believe that the collaboration with LD and Mr.
José Lévy will further increase the variety and reputation of the
Group’s self-developed brand name and products.

Please refer to Company’s announcement dated 23 March
2022 for details.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code in force during 2021
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year
except for the deviations as explained below.

As a result of the resignation of the former chairman of the Board
on 11 January 2021, the Company failed to meet the requirements
of () having a chairman of the Board; and (iij having the nomination
committee chaired by the chairman of the Board or an independent
non-executive Director in accordance with code provisions A.2 and
A.5.1 of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
during the period between 11 January 2021 and 17 January 2021.

Moreover, as a result of the resignation of a former independent non-
executive Director, the Company failed to meet the requirements
of having (i) at least three independent non-executive Directors on
the Board under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; and (i) the audit
committee comprising a minimum of three members under Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, during the period between 18 January 2021 and
21 January 2021.

The Company has re-complied with the relevant requirements on 18
January 2021 and 22 January 2021 respectively.

The Board will keep reviewing and updating its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure compliance with legal and
commercial standards. The terms of reference of the Board
committees have been posted on the Company’s and the Stock
Exchange’s websites.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating strategies,
monitoring performance and managing risks of the Group. At the
same time, it also has the duty to enhance the effectiveness of the
corporate governance practices of the Group.

Under the Board, there are four committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. All these Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of
the senior management.

THE BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 8 Directors and
their respective roles are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)

TIN Yat Yu Carol

CHEUNG Ka Lung

CHAN Ming Leung Terence
GONG Xiaohan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang
LO Wing Sze

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K% i& AR A 7

TEEREE
FFRTBRHHTRN  BERTREE
AEBEER - RILRE - KA REES
AEE QR EARIRORE -

EEXgTRUEEZES 3
WEEE  IRRZE &m%”ﬁ é? =
FEZESESe L EeRBRESEBES
EZEITRE TR HHESS
SREEENSE TRBE -

EEERESERES

RAREEH  EFEHSBREFMAM LK
ERBBEESIIT ¢

HITES
05 ()
i —1
R
BB

2zt 1=
BERER

BAFHTES

st
FEERAE
AT



Corporate Governance Report

DUTIES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

Duties of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but not limited to formulating
the Group’s business strategies, reviewing the Group’s financial
performance and results, deciding all significant financial and
operational issues and monitoring, reviewing the Group’s internal
control system and corporate governance; and all other functions
reserved to the Board under the Company’s articles of association as
amended from time to time (the “Articles”).

Duties of the Management

In addition, the Board delegates to the Group’s management certain
functions including (i) the implementation of general daily operation
and strategies approved by the Board; (ii) the implementation of
internal control procedures; and (jii) ensuring compliance with relevant
requirements and other rules and regulations.

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 independent non-executive Directors. All
of them have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, the current Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. All the Directors carry out their duties
in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
making decisions objectively and acting in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board considers them
independent.
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Biographies of all Directors are listed in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” set out
on pages 12 to 18.

CHAIRMAN AND DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. LI Yang, the chairman, provides leadership for the Board and
ensures that the Board works effectively and that all important issues
are discussed in a timely manner.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Lung, the deputy chief executive officer of the
Company, is responsible for managing the Group’s day-to-day
businesses and implementing major strategies and policies of the
Group.

The positions of the chairman and the deputy chief executive officer
are held by separate individuals so as to maintain an effective
segregation of duties.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance of the Group, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Additional
meetings are held when significant events or important issues are
required to be discussed and resolved.

The Company held 11 Board meetings and one annual general
meeting (“AGM”) and nil extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”)
throughout the year. During the year, the chairman also held meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.
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PREARE

The attendance record of each Director is as follows:— BESHMHFRENT
Number of Board Number of AGM Number of EGM
meetings attended/ attended/ attended/
Name of director eligible to attend eligible to attend eligible to attend
EZEeHLE/ RRAFAGEE/ RRWAASHE/
Esfs RERLERY  RERLERE  RERLEXY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: BES:
LI Yang (Chairman) 305 (2E) 00 000 0/0
(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (R=E-ZE-RTNBEZT)
TIN Yat Yu Carol B4 1111 11 000
CHEUNG Ka Lung RFE 111 1n 0/0
CHAN Ming Leung Terence Rz 55 00 000
(was appointed on 2 August 2021) (RZB=Z-5/\AZREZf)
GONG Xiaohan BER 202 000 000
(was appointed on 8 Decembmer 2021) (RZF——-5T-A/\REZf)
GUO Lin I 11 00 0/0
(resigned on 11 January 2021) (R=B=-5-R+-HER)
JIANG Mingsheng =t
(resigned on 11 January 2021) (R=B=-%5-A+-HER) 17 0/0 0/0
JIANG Tianging BiEE
(resigned on 11 January 2021) (R=B=-%-A+-HER) 11 000 0/0
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:  BuF#ITES !
TANG Shu Pui Simon HaE 1111 17 000
HON Ming Sang RHE 1111 17 00
LO Wing Sze Bk
(was appointed on 22 January 2021) (W=F=—-%-A-+-REZ) 7 17 0/0
WU Fei 2R
(resigned on 18 January 2021) (RZE=—-5-A1+/\BER) 212 0/0 000
DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL EERFESERRE

DEVELOPMENT

According to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in

continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a comprehensive
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and business as well as
his/her responsibilities under the relevant laws, rules and regulations.
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The development and training of Directors are an ongoing process
so that the Directors can perform their duties appropriately. The
Directors are provided with periodic updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, the Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
they continue to make contribution to the Board in an informed and
relevant manner.

The chart below summarises the participation of the individual

Directors in continuous professional development during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report:

Name of director

EERRLMFIIR—EFENBE - AEE
ERERNEEHEITRE - ARFEHRES
REAEARRRIR - WRNMATR Z&HE
B UBEEEEBREMMNEREFTHREITH
BE - Ubs ARRSBEREZT2ESE
E%%’*E& PARR T+ Ko BB 3 15 35 2 0 38 B 1%
CREMERRSEEHESTSELABR

W%E%

TERBEBEEFHE_T _—F+_-A
=+ REFEREEARE QA2 EHE
HEEROBER

Participated in continuous
professional development

EEnE SHEISESERR"
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: HITESE:
LI Yang (Chairman) =% (£E) v

(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (RZZE_ZF—A+ILBEZE)
TIN Yat Yu Carol H—17 v
CHEUNG Ka Lung REKH v
CHAN Ming Leung Terence ﬁ%ﬁﬂi v

(was appointed on 2 August 2021) (RZZE=Z—FNAZHEZMF)
GONG Xiaohan BEER

(was appointed on 8 December 2021) (RZZE_—F+ANBEZEE) v
GUO Lin FBAK

(resigned on 11 January 2021) (RZZE—F—A+—H#R) v
JIANG Mingsheng ZRAE

(resigned on 11 January 2021) (R=ZEZ—5F—A1+—H&ER) v
JIANG Tianging BES

(resigned on 11 January 2021) (R=ZE=—F—HA+—H#R) v
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: BN EHITESE :
TANG Shu Pui Simon B IS v
HON Ming Sang FEERAE v
LO Wing Sze B IKET

(was appointed on 22 January 2021) (R=ZE=—F—A=-T-HEZE) v
WU Fei R

(resigned on 18 January 2021) (RZZE=—F—A+/\BH#) v
* Attend seminars/conferences/forums/briefings/workshops/programmes; and/or ~ * HFEER SFERE  DEELUATNEENR

read materials relevant to the business, director’s duties, corporate governance
or regulatory updates, etc.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment (as the case may be) with the Company for a period of
three years.

In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall
retire from the office and being eligible offer themselves for re-election
provided that every Director shall be subject to the retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A new Director is subject to
re-election by the shareholders at the first general meeting after his or
her appointment in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with article 83 of the Articles, Mr. CHAN Ming Leung
Terence (who was appointed on 2 August 2021), Mr. GONG Xiaochan
(who was appointed on 8 December 2021) and Mr. LI Yang (who
was appointed on 19 January 2022) should hold office until the first
general meeting (which has been held on 25 March 2022) after their
respective appointments and, being eligible, offered themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with article 84 of the newly adopted Articles, Ms. TIN
Yat Yu Carol, Mr. CHEUNG Ka Lung and Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon
will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee on 22 November
2018. The Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon and Mr. HON Ming Sang.
Mr. LI Yang is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The main duties of the Nomination Committee include, among others:
- reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors; and

- identifying suitable and qualified individuals to join the Board.
Throughout the year, 5 meetings of the Nomination Committee were

held and the attendance record of each committee member is as
follows:—

Name of director

REZEBENIERARE (HHEE) :

-  EREFENRE - RERAERK

- HEMZEAEHNZAEFTAEFTSR

iz &

- YesEkE

EFERTIRNREEESEENEEE

B FRLET -

ERALTIIAE=ZS

o

S

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

BEEfSE HESEREEERRE

LI Yang (Chairman) =5 (FE) 0/0
(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (R=ZE==F—ATNBEZF)

TIN Yat Yu Carol (ceased as the Chairman H—#F (BZZE=Z=F—HTNA 5/5
since 19 January 2022) T\E%If)

GUO Lin (resigned on 11 January 2021) HFH(RZZE=_—F—A+—HEB) 0/0

TANG Shu Pui Simon BB S 5/5

HON Ming Sang BEERA 5/5

During the year, the Nomination Committee performed the following
work:

- provided recommendation to the Board with respect to the
change in composition of Board committees;

- reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board with
reference to the Company’s board diversity policy;

- reviewed the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the
AGM held on 27 May 2021;
- reviewed the confirmations of independence from the

independent non-executive Directors; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has established a set of nomination policy setting out
the approach to nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to shareholders for election
as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual
vacancies. The criteria of nomination have been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, skills, experience,
qualifications and aspects as detailed in the board diversity policy.

During the year, the Company reviewed its nomination policy for a
formal, considered and transparent procedure to help identifying
and nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination
of candidates, accompanied with biographical details, would be
presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration would be
given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity, experience and
qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is believed that
members of the Nomination Committee collectively have required
relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and evaluate individuals
nominated for directorships.

The process of our appointment and re-election of Directors are as
follows:

Potential new Directors are identified and considered for appointment
at any time by the Board upon recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. Nomination Committee considers the candidates based
on merit having regard to the knowledge, experience, skills and
expertise as well as the overall board diversity which, in the opinion of
the Directors, will enable them to make positive contributions on the
performance of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board
as appropriate. Emoluments of new Directors will be considered by
the Remuneration Committee.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has established a set of board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board with the aims
of enhancing the Board’s effectiveness and corporate governance
as well as achieving our business objectives and sustainable
development. Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, required
expertise, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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The Board currently consists of a diverse mix of Board members
appropriate to the business needs of the Company, whose
backgrounds are briefly set out below:

Executive Director
Independent non-executive Director

Designation

Skills, knowledge Accounting
and professional Business Development
experience Not Compliance

Corporate Finance
Corporate Management
Entrepreneurial

Finance

Financial Management
Legal

Trading

Sales and Marketing
Strategic Planning

Female
Male

Gender

Note: Directors may possess multiple skills, knowledge and professional experience.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Remuneration Committee on 22
November 2013. The Remuneration Committee currently consists
of one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon and Mr.
HON Ming Sang. Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among
others:

- formulating remuneration policy for approval by the Board,
which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment, employment
conditions, and responsibilities, and individual performance of
the Directors and senior management; and

- ensuring none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration.
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Corporate Governance Report

Throughout the year, 5 meetings of the Remuneration Committee
were held and the attendance record of each committee member is
as follows:

Name of director

EECRITAFMHEEEERNEERE

PREARE

S

FRE M FRENT

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

BEEfSE HEEEREESERE
TANG Shu Pui Simon (Chairman) BOEE (F/%) 5/5
LI Yang =05
(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (RZZE_=F—H+NLBEZE) 0/0
TIN Yat Yu Carol (ceased as H—F 5/5
a member since 19 January 2022) (BAZE=_=F—ATNLBTERKE)
HON Ming Sang FRERAE 5/5
GUO Lin ZBAR
(resigned on 11 January 2021) (RZZE=—F—A+—HER) 0/0
JIANG Tianging BEE 0/0
(resigned on 11 January 2021) (RZZE=——F—A+—HER)
WU Fei R
(resigned on 18 January 2021) (RZZE=—F—HA+/\B#k) 0/0

During the year, the Remuneration Committee performed the
following work:

- reviewed the performance of the Directors and senior
management, and made recommendations as to their
discretionary bonus and remuneration package;

- reviewed the remuneration policy and annual bonus policy; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Corporate Governance Committee on 22
November 2013. The Corporate Governance Committee currently
consists of one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui
Simon and Mr. HON Ming Sang. Mr. LI Yang is the chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee.

The main duties of the Corporate Governance Committee include,
among others:

- developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

- reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Throughout the year, one meeting of the Corporate Governance ZFERIT—APEERZESERNLEE

Committee was held and the attendance record of each committee B &K 8 E’]ﬁfuﬂffﬁﬂ—l—
member is as follows:

Number of meetings attended/

Name of director eligible to attend

EEMA HEEEREESERE

LI Yang (Chairman) =5 (FE) 0/0
(was appointed on 19 January 2022) (R=ZE==F—ATNBEZF)

TIN Yat Yu Carol (ceased as the Chairman H—#F (BZE=Z=F—HTNA 11
since 19 January 2022) T\EEIf)

GUO Lin (resigned on 11 January 2021) M (RZZE=_—F—A+—HEB) 0/0

TANG Shu Pui Simon BB S 1/1

HON Ming Sang FEERAE 1/1

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee performed the RAFE  CEERZEGFEEBTUATL

following work: (=

- reviewed and monitored the policies and practices of the Group —  #@# REEAEENCEEABRELT
on corporate governance; i

- approved the Corporate Governance Report and the - HUERRREEZBIEFEZ (BEE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company AlE) RCGRIR - HERERWME)

for the year then ended,;

- reviewed and monitored the training and continuous - IR REREENEIISEZERS
professional development of Directors; and B &

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of -  &BFRHEEE - BB AESS
above reviews to the Board for approval. IREEFEASRLE -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 22 November 2013.
The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon, Mr. HON Ming
Sang and Ms. LO Wing Sze. Mr. HON Ming Sang is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others:

- monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual and interim financial reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments and accounting policies contained
therein;

- satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and as
to the adequacy of the external and internal audits;

- making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor; and

- reporting the findings and making recommendations to the
Board on a regular basis.

Throughout the year, 3 meetings of the Audit Committee were held
and the attendance record of each committee member is as follows:

Name of director

BEREE]

EEgCR - T—=Ft—A-+ZHKXZ
BEVZEg BRZESRRBRE=28BY
FEMITES - AIEUEAE A - BHAESRER
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o
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EARRNEP MK - FE NP A%

=
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oo

L
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- REAEEREREERAEERSD
BN A R MR ER R BRI RO TE 2 1 5E
B MERIKE

- BERERERET EFZALER
SNEBAZ ERTIR B B R I AN
SENAE BN R REIEK - &

- TEHREZSREERNREHERZ

Eé«t"

i3

EECRII3REVLZBEEERNEERE
REMHFREENT -

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

=Y HEEERHEERRE
TANG Shu Pui Simon st 3/3
HON Ming Sang FREEAE 3/3
LO Wing Sze ZEIKET 3/3
(was appointed on 22 January 2021) (R=ZBE_—F—A=-+—HEZT)
WU Fei R
(resigned on 18 January 2021) (R=ZZE=—F—A+/\B#R) 0/0
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During the year, the Audit Committee performed the following work:

- reviewed the re-appointment and remuneration of BDO Limited
as the Group’s auditor;

- reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems;

- reviewed the annual and interim financial statements, reports,
and results announcement of the Group prior to publication;
and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group’s results and cash flows for
the year then ended and was properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which
may affect the Group’s business or cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out
in the Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry with each of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Board has also adopted written guidelines based on the Model
Code for relevant employees of the Group in respect of their dealings
in the Company’s securities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group highly values the importance of internal control and risk
management for the smooth running of its business. The Board is
responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company against unauthorised
use or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information, and ensuring
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations.

The process used by the Group to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks are twofold:

Internally, the Corporate Governance Committee closely monitors
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reports to the Board regularly. The Corporate
Governance Committee shall report to the Board immediately once
any non-compliance issues are noted.

Externally, the Company engages an independent external assurance
provider to perform the internal audit function, who is responsible for
carrying out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board conducted an
annual review of its risk management and internal control systems
and reviewed the reports issued by the independent external
assurance provider. The annual review considered the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience etc. of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. The main
features of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
include financial, operational and compliance controls.

The Board is of the view that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate. The Board
will continue to assess the effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems by considering reviews and
recommendations made by the Corporate Governance Committee
and senior management.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a
decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

- the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

- the Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved. Inside information is restricted to relevant parties on
a need-to-know basis so as to ensure confidentiality;

- the Group strictly prohibits unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information;

- the Group has also implemented procedures to guard against
possible mishandling of inside information within the Group
including natification of regular blackout period and securities
dealing restrictions to Directors and relevant employees; and

- the Group keeps the Directors and employees appraised of the
latest regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside
information.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFIGERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprisewide
risk is a top priority of the Company. The Company is convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O
Insurance is reviewed and renewed annually.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Ms. WONG Ka Man, a
representative from an external secretarial service provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Wong has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person with the company secretary of the
Company is the deputy chief executive officer of the Company.

AUDITOR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, remuneration payable to the
auditor of the Group is approximately HK$798,000 for audit services.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no change
to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the EGM held on 25
March 2022, the Company adopted its second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association. The latest version
is available on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with the Articles, shareholders holding not less than
10% of the paid up capital of the Company can convene an EGM
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company. In addition, shareholders can raise any questions relating
to published information and latest strategic plan of the Group with
the Directors. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Shareholders
can also submit enquiries to the management and send proposals
to be put forward at shareholders’ meeting to the Board or senior
management by sending e-mails to ir@vmh.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles and guidelines in relation to declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders. The
distribution of dividend will be considered and determined by the
Board based on the Group’s operating results, cash flow, financial
position, business prospects, and statutory and regulatory restrictions
relating to dividend distributions as well as other factors that the
Board considers appropriate.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level
of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. The Company
is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and public investors.

The Company maintains various communication channels with
its shareholders and the investment public to ensure that they are
kept abreast of the Company’s latest news and development. The
Company updates its shareholders on its development, financial
results and major events through its annual and interim reports. All
published information is promptly uploaded to the website of the
Company at www.vmh.com.hk.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHE

The Board is pleased to present this report on environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) which set out the Group’s support to various
sustainable development efforts and ESG concepts, visions and
policies during the year ended 31 December 2021 (“the Year”).

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The ESG Report mainly describes the environmental and social
policies of the core businesses of the Group in the PRC (including
Hong Kong), comprising design, manufacturing and trading of
apparel products, and money lending business. The Group takes
the environmental performance of the manufacturing plant in
Jiaxing, China (“Jiaxing Plant”) and three offices in Hong Kong
and the social performance of the Group as the disclosure focus
of the environmental and social key performance indicators. For
details about the Group’s corporate governance, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 35 to 53.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is compiled in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Guide”) under
Appendix 27 to the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange, which applies the reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality:

The content of the ESG Report is determined based on the
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment, which covers
the identification of ESG-related issues, gathering and review of the
opinions from internal management and stakeholders, assessment
on the relevance and materiality of the issues, and preparation and
verification of the information of the ESG Report. The ESG Report
provides comprehensive coverage of the key ESG issues of concern
to the Group’s stakeholders.

Quantitative:

The Group has disclosed the quantitative environmental and social
key performance indicators (“KPI”) in the ESG Report. The criteria,
methods, reference and conversion factors used to calculate the
KPIs are stated to enable stakeholders to have a comprehensive
understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K% i& AR A 7

EEEeMAR2LARE HalkER
([ESG)) W& - M AKERE—_T——
TZA=T—BUEHFE (XRFE]) A
AIFRHESRNSRTE  UREESGHEA
B BRREBR -

REHE

ESGREFZEMMAEREFRE KL (BHFES
B) BRRLEBRZBRIBRMEEHR - BER
HEmMI R  HERES  UNERRE
X% REBNUURNFEZENEERSE
(IZEEE]) RN EBNRAEZIR
BRARAEBZHERE - (ERARFER
BN EMBESUEENRESE - BHEAX
SECEEARNFE  B2HMEIBELE
I EERWmE °

ik

BEE % S

ESGH & JORIFE X TR MY (ER LR
) M-+ GRE - e RERRERE
51> (TESG#E5l))  XEAERME - E1t
TN —HENERRAARE

BEM:

RESGHENABRNREFNESERER
MEHEMERE - WEESGHEBEEMNHES -
AHERERFHETLNVRELERN A
BAEEMMERIELREE T E AR ESGHRE
EHRELZE - RESGHREZTERER
SESNEMBEINEEESGEE -

=1t :

AEBECRAESGHRETHE T ELHRE
Mg RaRias ((EREER]) - 2
ST ERRAERIERNRE 75 2R
BEREAEFNELE T HASBRESG
R e



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Consistency:

The Group uses consistent reporting and calculation methods as far
as reasonable and details the significant changes in methodologies
in relevant sections to facilitate the comparison of ESG performance
between years.

COMMENT AND FEEDBACK

We value your views on this report, and please email any comment or
suggestion on the report to: info@vmh.com.hk.

ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group is committed to the implementation of corporate goals
and visions as well as the active fulfillment of social responsibilities.
We have developed ESG management approach to benefit all
stakeholders, contribute to society and protect the environment
under the principle of sustainable development. In the meantime, the
Group values the opinions of different stakeholders, which are taken
as the basis for the development of our sustainable development
policies. We are committed to communicating with stakeholders in a
diversified way, understanding and trying our best to respond to their
expectations and requirements, so as to improve our performance in
ESG.

Governance Framework of ESG

For the sake of effective top-down implementation of sustainable
development strategies, the Group has developed an independent
internal control and risk management framework with the Board,
deputy chief executive officer and senior management of the
Company as the core. Moreover, we will review and adjust relevant
sustainable development policies from time to time to understand
and meet the expectations and needs of different stakeholders.
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The ESG governance framework of the Group is as follows:

Board of Directors

Developing and approving the Group’s development and
business strategies, policies, annual budget and business
plan;

Reviewing, tackling and reporting all environmental and social
issues under the subject areas and aspects of the ESG
Guide;

Overseeing the Group’s execution and performance of ESG
related matters; and

Making timely adjustments to the Group’s strategies.
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Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Executing the duties entrusted by the Board, including the
overall strategies and approach on operational, financial,
environmental and social issues and obligations;

Analysing and establishing key performance indicators; and

Coordinating with the objectives, visions and policies of the
Group to carry out supervision and continual actions.

v

Senior Management

Leading and supervising the implementation of sustainable
development objectives and policies of the Group;
Formulating and executing ESG policies;

Keeping track and reporting to the Board of emerging market
trends regarding ESG-related issues that may potentially
impact the Group’s business operations;

Overseeing, reviewing and discussing the content and quality
of the annual ESG Report, and presenting the ESG Report to
the Board; and

Informing the Board of the Group’s development in ESG
performance, visions and strategies through Board meetings.

v

Business Units

Coordinating and implementing ESG policies and measures
of the Group at different stages of business operations; and
Collecting ESG related information and data.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

To evaluate and prioritise material ESG issues, the Group has
engaged an independent ESG consulting firm in the Year in helping
to identify material ESG issues and provide advice on its ESG
performance. The consulting firm assisted in gathering and analysing
the opinions of the Group’s stakeholders (including the Board,
senior management and employees) on ESG issues and conducted
materiality assessment. The issues would be reviewed and prioritised,
and those with high significance to the Group and stakeholders
are considered as material. The senior management reviews and
presents to the Board the results of the assessment and identifies
material ESG issues of the Group.

In the aim of formulating and executing effective ESG policies and
measures, the Board reviews the plans and execution of ESG-
related work with respect to its targets and goals during regular
meetings. The Group also shares its progress in ESG with different
stakeholders, most notably through the Group’s annual ESG Report.
The senior management will continue to oversee ESG-related work
and keep abreast of the latest ESG disclosure requirements of the
Stock Exchange for the Board to lead the Group’s ESG progress
effectively.

RIR - HERERHE

RFHERERBEFEAN ESGHEE - ARER
RERRIEBY ESGREAABEDNBREKR
ESGEEIMHE ESGRIREHEF  %HE A
RAGIRERDNARERFHE (BRRE
Z2 SARAEEENESR) HESGHEENE
R WETEEEE - AARRERLE
REEFHREZE  BAKERFNEREER
EENEAESWAREKN - SREREERH
VWHEFSRIFMGER  LRAIEAEE
MERNESGHERE °
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Engagement

The management and staff from various departments of the Group
jointly prepare the ESG Report of the Year and assist the Group in
reviewing its operating conditions. The solicitation of views from the
management and other staff enables the Group to identify major
issues at the environmental and social levels and make relevant
disclosure and response in the ESG Report.

Expectations and

K ESH

AEENEEEREHFFIREAREEAF
EHESGHE - M 15 B AN B et & &M
e ARBEBEBEKEEBREMETINE
R BRREMMEEENEEZE AN
ESG $R&h EHMERA R FE M & -

Ways of Communication and

Stakeholder Requirements Response
#oE FREEERE R BREEDEL N
Government and e Abiding by national and regional e Timely reporting of information
Regulatory Authorities policies, laws and regulations ERFIE RS R
TR B ES S PRI B[R BOR OAREAR ¢ Ongoing communication with
* Promoting local employment regulatory authorities
mENH T B SEEEEWEER
e Paying taxes on time ® |nspection and supervision
R B mE KRR
Shareholders e Returns e General meetings
IR (B %R RERAE
e  Compliant operation e Company announcements
BRES NSIVNCS
e [ncrease in company value e E-mail, telephone communication
RARRER and company website

e |Improving information
transparency and effective
communication

Em BB R ARER

Partners e Business integrity
BIERH MERE
e Fair competition
NP HEF
e Due performance of contracts
BITEH)
e Mutual benefit and win-win result
ERES
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e Business communication
[EEti

e Communication and discussion
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e Negotiation and cooperation
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RIR - HERERHE

Ways of Communication and

Stakeholder Requirements Response
BHE M EER BEEEERN
Customers e High-quality products and services e Customer service center and hotline
LSS B E m B AR S BRI OFIEAR
e Health and safety e Customer communication meetings
ERET 2 BFARE®
e Due performance of contracts e Social media
B1TEH) AR
e Business integrity
WMIEHEE
Environment e Discharge in compliance e Communicating with
IR with standards local environmental authorities
EZBE HE M IRIBEPIZR
e Energy conservation and
emission reduction
B gE IR HE
e Ecological protection
A REIRE
Industry e Promoting industrial developments e Participate in industry forums
7% RETEER 2ETHERIE
e Visits and inspections
ZRE5
Staff e Occupational health e Staff communication meetings
BT B ER BIE®Eg
e Remuneration and benefits e Employee mailbox
A BT{E4
e Career development e Employee activities
BEER BIE®
Community and the e |mproving community environment e Company announcements
General Public HEMRIRIE NSIVNGS
HEEAR e Participating in public welfare e Company website
undertakings NSIEED
DENTHEE * Social media
e Information disclosure and FER RS
transparency
B ARER
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RIR - HERERHE

Materiality Assessment

To develop a clear and effective ESG management approach, the
Group has conducted a materiality assessment to identify ESG issues
that are important to its business and stakeholder. The materiality
assessment was based on stakeholder surveys, materiality maps
provided by well-known external institutions' and advice from the
independent ESG consulting firm. The Group identified 10 material
ESG issues to be discussed in detail in this report.

BRI

REH R BB EIE ESGER T E - ANEH
BEETEEHE - UEBIE AR T EB R
HEHEZHERNESGEE - E2MFTE
DERFNERAE - MBI BEIBREHNE
ZME " ARIBY ESG A RIMEEE
17 - AEE D BHH AR ERFAR W10
HESGEZZAE °

Aspects Material Issues
Em EZEE
Environmental o Carbon emission
RIE BRBERL
° Use of raw materials and packaging materials
R R B B R
Employment and Labour Practices ° Employment compliance
BRERNRBTER EiRaR
° Remuneration and benefits
e R
o Occupational health and safety
BEEEREL S
° Training and education
Bl EHE
Operating Practices ° Product quality and safety
EIEED EnEERTS
° Customer privacy protection
BEFEALERE
° Supply chain management
HrEEER
° Anti-corruption
REB

1 BENTEPIANEE R ERIES B RER
TAFEARBEER MSCl) A5 ERE ST ELE
B (SASB) fREA ESGTTH EZ 4B I SASB
BEMHE -

! The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment have included
the ESG Industry Materiality Map and the SASB Materiality Map produced
respectively by Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) and the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB).
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GREEN OPERATION

The Group adheres to the approach of “observing environmental
protection regulations, raising environmental awareness,
emphasizing pollution prevention, optimising resource utilisation,
striving to conserve energy and reducing consumption, continuous
improvement” during apparel manufacturing to shoulder the social
responsibility of environmental protection. Besides, the Group strictly
abides by environmental laws and regulations enacted by the country
and local environmental department, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes and Law of the People’s Republic of China on Promoting
Clean Production, as well as carries out close monitoring on activities
with potential impact on the environment so as to have a solid grasp
of the impacts of the operation on the surrounding environment, and
fuffill its responsibilities and obligations of environmental protection.

During the Year, no violation of relevant environmental laws and
regulations was involved or discovered by the Group.

Environmental Goals and Progress

The Group is committed to maintaining transparency and tracking
progress on the various initiatives to achieve the goals we set during
the Year. The table below highlights our environment-related goals
in different aspects. The Group also ensures that the environmental
impact of the Jiaxing Plant is minimised through continuous
improvement and is committed to continuously monitoring the
progress of its goals.

RIR - HERERHE

resE

AEBR R EEBIET R [ETRRERX
Mo RARRER  BRISAER - BB
RAA  BAMERRE  HESCERS] W
7t BRRERBNTEEL  WHRE
STRIR M5 R REBFT B E B IRBOER ROE
B BREARR (PEARAMBERRR
&R (PEARAMBE NSRBI AZE) -
(REARRMBERRZRIAE)  (hE
ARKMBEEEREYSRAREN X &
(PEARAMBEBREEREZL) - BB
FEXBHASRENTERBITRERE
METRRE  AEEETENEEREH
EBIEERTHREABCEZENLY -

RAFE  AEBWESRFBEREMER
RIBMAARREARITR -

REBBRRER

A BB RS FERE BB S BRI
B AEBRBRMAAFEREMEIE T
BT PR A E I SR B 12 - A%
EBERENE  RRERRNLERTH
WESNTE  WRORREEREA RN
B -
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RIR - HERERHE

Section with

Aspects Our Goals Corresponding Measures
FEm RPN ER HEERNEE
Emissions Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions intensity GREEN OPERATION
HER ARG = RS S HELE
Emissions Management
e E R
Waste Harzadous and non-harzardous waste GREEN OPERATION
BEEY) disposal in compliance REEE
EREEAENEIEEY Waste Management
REEWER
Water Improve the utilisation efficiency of energy and USE OF RESOURCES
7K water resources EREMA
B = AR RK B RE F AR R
Electricity Improve the utilisation efficiency of energy and USE OF RESOURCES
ES water resources ERE A
R= IR KK E R FI A REE
Environmental Management System RREERAR

The Group has established an environmental management system,
including but not limited to relevant systems and procedures such
as environmental management, pollution control management and
solid waste management. The environmental management system is
composed of four parts of “planning, implementation, inspection and
correction, and review”. The environmental management objectives,
indicators and plans shall be strictly implemented within each
department upon approval, and managers shall be responsible for
supervising and inspecting the implementation of the plan. The Group
also holds regular environmental management review meetings to
ensure the effective implementation of environmental approaches,
objectives, indicators and plans to maintain the continuous
applicability, adequacy and effectiveness of the environmental
management system. Environmental protection report is an important
part of the environmental management review meeting, which enables
the Group to understand, research and resolve major environmental
issues in a timely manner.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The environmental management system of the Group is as follows:

RIR - HERERHE

REBERNRFERBRWT

Planning

B

Identifying, assessing
and confirming significant
environmental aspects;
Bl FHE REREARR
RREE

Identifying applicable laws,
regulations and other
requirements; and
BRIEREERE  ER R
HMER : &

Formulating environmental
objectives, indicators and
plans.
HEREFEBR - HBER

Vi

During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted environmental management

Implementation
Bl

Practising environmental
objectives, indicators and
plans according to its
responsibilities by each
unit;
EBEARBEABETRR
SRR BENGE

Providing staff training on
relevant laws, regulations
and environmental
approaches; and
RUERERERIIRE
FEENETE : &

Implementing emergency
preparedness and
response measures.
Bt ERMEEN
Hi -

Inspection and

Correction

BEHEAIE

Monitoring and measuring
activities with significant
potential environmental

impacts;

HA R BB EARRTE
B EENESTEDRIAAI2

Carrying out compliance
evaluation and internal
audit at least once a year;
and
SERTRD —RE MM
S RAERER R

Investigating and dealing
with non-compliance and
taking measures to reduce

impact.

AEMBERNERIER -

FREEMR D E -

Review

HE

Holding at least
one environmental
management review
meeting every year.
FEBRPRD —RBHE
BIESE -

AEE  mEBEHERETETTRESE

knowledge training for all employees in order to increase their
knowledge in environmental management, pollution control
management and solid waste management, as well as to deepen
their understanding of internal environmental regulations. Also, oral
test was conducted to ensure that employees have understood the
knowledge in environmental management.

BRI AR I FINIRIRE IR » )5
22 Il T2 4N ] 58 R 1 B 12 55 U5 T O A8 S
ARREHANBIRTARNTHE > WETO
A R E TREZRRIREIEER A -
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RIR - HERERHE

Emissions Management

The Group has been committed to environmental protection to
reduce emission and waste during production and operation by
adopting clean energy and controlling resource consumption
as much as possible and has spared no effort in environmental
protection over the years. Jiaxing Plant has taken measures to
reduce emissions and is committed to reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. The Group also provides training on pollution prevention
for staff to fulfill its environmental protection responsibilities. The daily
operations of the Group are mainly located in offices and plants, and
the production process only includes cutting, sewing and apparel
manufacturing processes, so no significant amount of exhaust gas or
other air pollutants with significant impact on the environment will be
generated. In addition, the Group’s exhaust gas emission was mainly
derived from vehicle use and the data of relevant exhaust emissions
are as follows:

BRER

AEB-—BEHNRERE  ZBARKAR
R R LG EREE - WD EEMK
LBREFHBBARE - ZHEKR - AKRER
RERFTHE R TNEHRN - REBEER
HUBHHEN - BUOEREREEHM - K&
Br A B TiIRIHABENRIRSRNEI -
NETTRERENSIE - AEENBFEE
TBURBRELRE  MEEBRERBRE

(5T - 424 BREIF - AATEELX
EERIEMUREAEATENETRIGR
Yo REBERBERENEZRNEMER
THEAEE RBEREE T

Exhaust Gas Emissions’ Unit 2021 2020
BRI B —E=—F T -%F
Nitrogen oxides kg 35.31 30.62
Eletl ) T

Sulfur oxides kg 0.16 0.15
k=Rl &7 T

Particulates kg 1.84 1.16
LR T

Note: Bz -

1. The emission factors used are from the Appendix Il “Reporting Guidance on 1. P 5% A 6 B BT 79 28 B B 58 AT 3 RO B % —

Environmental KPIs” (the “Appendix II”) published by the Stock Exchange and
the “Land Transport Enterprises — Guidelines on Greenhouse Gas Emission
Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued by the National Development and
Reform Commission (the “NDRC”) of the PRC.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Bl HEREA

wE

The greenhouse gas emission of the Group mainly comes from $%IE’95 EREBHEREZRBBEWREDE
vehicle fuel consumption and purchased electricity consumption. BHFE  AFEE - AR20197
During the Year, the Group did not have business air travel due to Hﬁfafﬁ'li CAEETEMEER o AE
the COVID-19 pandemic. The greenhouse gas emission data of the RERBEHREEAT -
Group are as follows:
Greenhouse Gas Emission Unit 2021 2020
SR B —g— &  —z-=a
Total greenhouse gas emissions' tCO.e 303 327
mERBEYRAEE" WS tiRE =
Scope 1: Direct emissions? tCOe 25 24
— BRI WS tiREE
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions® tCOe 265 271
#E— - geIREEBERS WS b E S
Soope 3: Other indirect emissions* tCO.e 13 32
SE= : HbEEH W_S(tiRE S
Greenhouse gas emission intensity® t CO,e/employee 1.74 1.60
REREBHNEES WE—ftixEE &S
Note: FiaE -

1.

Total greenhouse gas emissions are calculated in accordance with the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange and the “Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purpose) in Hong Kong” published by the
Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department. The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions include carbon dioxide,
methane and nitrous oxide. For ease of reading and understanding, the data of
greenhouse gas emissions are presented in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(‘tCO.e").

Scope 1 covers emissions from mobile combustion sources and emission
reductions from tree planting. The emission factors used are from the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange and the “Land Transport Enterprises —
Guidelines on Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued
by the NDRC of the PRC.

Scope 2 covers emissions from electricity purchased from power companies.
The emission factors used are from The Hongkong Electic Co., CLP Holdings
Limited and the “Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factor of China Regional
Power Grid in 2011 and 2012” issued by the NDRC of the PRC.

Scope 3 covers emissions from water treatment, waste paper disposal and
employees’ business air travel (for 2020 only). During the Year, the Group did
not have business air travel due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The emission
factors used are from the Appendix Il published by the Stock Exchange, “Study
on Energy Consumption of Urban Water Supply System in China” published by
Tsinghua University, “Statistical analysis and quantitative identification of the law
of energy consumption in urban sewage treatment plants in China” published
by Tsinghua University and Nation Urban Water and Drainage Engineering
Technology Research Centre, and the International Civil Aviation Organisation
(ICAQ) Carbon Emissions Calculator.

During the Year, the Group reviewed the data collection for the number of
employees in 2020 and restated the data.
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RIR - HERERHE

Wastewater Management

The production process of the Group only includes cutting, sewing,
apparel manufacturing and other processes, so the Group does not
involve the discharge of production wastewater. The discharged
wastewater by the Group is mainly domestic wastewater. The
domestic wastewater generated by the Jiaxing Plant is discharged
into the municipal pipelines equipped with filter facilities and treated
by the wastewater treatment station to reduce the impact on the
environment.

Waste Management

The Group has developed policies with regard to solid waste
management, collected waste separately in various departments and
working units so as to improve recycling. In addition, the random
stacking of solid waste is strictly prohibited, while non-hazardous
and hazardous wastes that cannot be reused must be collected and
handled by qualified units. With effective waste disposal strategies
and policies, the Group has minimised the environmental risks and
impacts caused by waste. During the Year, the non-hazardous
wastes generated by the Group are mainly domestic wastes, paper,
kitchen wastes and production wastes, including waste cloth and
waste electric wires. 109 tonnes (2020: 348 tonnes) of nonhazardous
wastes? were generated by the Group during the Year, with an
average of 0.62 tonnes (2020: 1.70 tonnes®) of non-hazardous
wastes per employee. Moreover, The hazardous waste of our Group
mainly comes from office operations, such as light tubes and ink
cartridges, and the generated hazardous waste was handled by
qualified collectors. During the Year, the hazardous waste* generated
by the Group was 268 kg (2020: 305 kg), with an average of 1.54 kg
(2020: 1.50 kg®) of hazardous waste per employee.

2 The production waste is calculated based on the actual recorded weight of
waste. The other non-hazardous wastes are calculated based on the volume of
waste. The volume and weight unit conversion factor is derived from the United
States Environmental Protection Agency and “Inquiry on the Charging Standard
for Volume Measurement of Non-residential Daily Waste and Food Waste” issued
by the Beijing Municipal Commission of Urban Management.

8 During the Year, the Group reviewed the data collection for the number of
employees in 2020 and restated the data.
4 Hazardous waste is calculated based on the actual recorded weight of waste.
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Noise Management

The Group adopts noise reduction measures on equipment that
generates heavy noise to meet the emission standards of the industry
for noise, including the Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprises
Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008), and strives to reduce the
significant impact of noise on the surrounding environment. Through
sealing the glasses of production units, intensifying maintenance of
equipment and adjusting the shock-absorbing function of equipment,
and preferentially selecting low-noise equipment, the Group has
effectively controlled noise generated during the production process.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group strives to optimise resource utilisation rate and enhance
energy saving and consumption reduction so as to reduce wastage
of resources and pollution. Therefore, the Group has formulated,
implemented and improved resources and energy management
policies and procedures to standardise and effectively use of
resources thereby enhancing production efficiency. Our environmental
protection approaches are published on the corporate bulletin
board, meanwhile, we actively promote environmental protection to
employees to enhance their awareness of environmental protection
and indoctrinate the concept of energy-saving, consumption
reduction, reduction of wastes at source, effective use of resources
and green office. We also monitor the use of water, electricity, paper,
packaging materials and other resources, thus effectively controlling
the use of resources and reducing wastage. Because the water
consumption and discharge of the Group’s three offices in Hong
Kong are solely controlled by the property management company of
the building, we have no access to the water consumption data of
these three offices. During the Year, the water consumption?® in Jiaxing
Plant was 20,886 cubic meters (2020: 13,445 cubic meters) in total
and 120.03 cubic meters (2020: 65.91 cubic meters®) per employee
on average. In addition, the Group did not have any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose during the Year.

5 The water consumption is calculated based on the actual amount consumed.
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RIR - HERERHE

The Group’s data on use of resources are as follows:

AEEERERSBIELT

Use of Resources Unit 2021 2020
R B e e
Use of Energy
BEIRBE
Total energy consumption MWh 501 503
BLIREFEEE JKEFLBF
Non-renewable fuel consumption’ MWh 103 102
PRI BAEREFEE JKEL B
Purchased electricity? MWh 398 401
BEEHE? JK FLBF
Energy consumption intensity® MWh/employee 2.88 2.46
BEREERES KK, BE
Packaging materials consumption
BEMEMER
Paper consumption tonnes 6 9
MEBEAE Mg
Paper consumption intensity kg/product quantity 0.01 0.01
MEERATE Tr/EmEE
Plastic consumption tonnes 0.26 0.49
BRERE i)
Plastic consumption intensity kg/product quantity 0.001 0.001
BRERTE FTr/EmnfE
Note: MI3E -
1. Non-renewable fuel consumption is from the use of vehicle fuel, which is 1. T BERERE N REERERNER @ &

calculated based on the actual amount consumed. The fuel and energy unit
conversion factor is derived from the “Land Transport Enterprises — Guidelines on
Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued by the NDRC
of the PRC, the Chinese National Standard GB17930-2016 “Gasoline for Motor
Vehicles” and GB19147-2016 “Automobile Diesel Fuels”.

2. Purchased electricity is calculated based on the actual amount consumed.

3. During the Year, the Group reviewed the data collection for the number of
employees in 2020 and restated the data.

In parallel with actively developing its business, the Group also keeps
in mind the concept of energy-saving, reduction of waste at source,
efficient use of resources and green office. Therefore, the following
measures have been adopted for our commitment to applying our
environmental protection concept in our daily operation:
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R -HERERHRE

Energy Saving and Consumption Reduction HEiRErRFE
e Monitor main energy consuming equipment and manage ® ERAEHFEXEREESBIINE
each department’s energy consumption to avoid energy BB AR IR ERER
wastage; o [FRAMAGEXHEERRENSFEE
° Replace existing high energy consuming equipment with new B
energy efficient equipment; o MMRIIBHARIMELE - FAFITE -
e  Study and enhance technical standards and utilise new MR R E RS EEWE - H D
processes, new materials and new equipment to improve BIRBFE
production efficiency and reduce resource consumption; o B TMERAMFERER
e Turn off all idled energy consuming equipment; s MAEREEMNZ=FHEBETSENE
e Set the air conditioner in any office to a temperature of no K268  REFENZE=ARETFSRN
lower than 26°C in summer and no higher than 23°C in EK23E :
winter; o THUEZZTRME « 45 LUERZE
e Regularly organise air-conditioning inspection and FARNEE
maintenance to ensure the efficiency of air-conditioning; o TE/IN[R)RRBA [ 13 3% 57 A B S 4% i 9 R
e Install light switches which allow independently controlled BRI
lighting in different lighting areas; o (FHRMESEFBURESEREHRE
e Use energy-saving transformer to improve power switching FREINFERBERE : &
rate and reduce power and energy consumption; and s HMEMABME LETHAORAEE
o Train all new employees in the plant on energy saving. 3 o
e Adopt measures of source control, comprehensive utilisation o EREURSEIEH] - 414 FI A KR T
and recycling to reduce the waste; and REMAR D EEREEY - &
e Resell surplus fabric to second-hand fabric recyclers to e RBFMSKEMBE _Fhetkg -
reduce fabric disposal. BAOHEKBEES

Effective Use of Resources =RER

e Post up environmental protection information and reminders e RBAERMERREERREET

in office to encourage employees to save water and to - HEEESHHAKRESE
enhance their awareness of water-saving; IKEH

e Instruct all new employees in the plant about the water- o HEMEFMANE ISR KE
saving measures; and iS4

e Check the water use, regularly maintain valves and pipelines, e BZERKERL THHEZERMPR
and replace and repair leaking pipelines in time so as to EE O URKERREERRE
prevent running, leaking and dripping. EoLAtER - F R OBIRR e

Green Office REHRAE

e Encourage employees to reuse paper and print on both s HEEIFHBRBAANRER
sides; EEER ;

e Promote paperless office and communicate internally with o  HITEMKHA - LATHFAE
emails instead of paper documents; RE AR X ERER B

e Reuse office stationary; s FHRFRAXEAM:

e Separately collect classified office wastage for recycling; o DHEWERAEEYAEITEIR

° Encourage employees to use public transport; and A

e  Use video conferencing to replace non-essential business e HEEBIFREAHAAETA: K
trips. s HARGEZRDARIELZHTIN

N
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RIR - HERERHE

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group attaches importance to the impact of our business
operation on the environment and natural resources. In addition to
our compliance with applicable environmental laws and international
standards, we also have included the concept of environmental
protection and environmental management into our business
decision, daily operation and internal management. We are committed
to balancing economic, environmental and social development.

In order to reduce the impact on the environment and natural
resources, the Group has actively identified the environmental
factors within our business scope and established relevant control
measures and environment improvement targets. We have also
assigned specific department to follow up and handle any problems
with respect to the environment and natural resources utilisation. We
have kept on file all the environmental protection works monitored
and recorded materials relating to contamination accidents, pollution
prevention and control. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted
chemical spill drill and environmental emergency response drill for the
production employees to increase their knowledge in the response
to chemical leakage, so as to reduce possible impact on the
environment.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

The world is currently facing the challenge of climate change. The
Group is concerned about climate-related issues and has taken
different measures to assess and mitigate the risks. The Group has
identified physical risks such as an increase in extreme weather
events and changes in precipitation patterns, which could pose
threats to the business and its financial performance. In addition,
climate change may bring about various transitional risks, such as
shifts in consumer preferences and increased pricing of greenhouse
gas emissions. As a result, the Group may face an increase in
operating costs and a change in revenue sources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group reviews updates to policies and regulations in regions
it operates to identify potential climate-related risks on a regular
basis. The Group issues safety warnings and makes special work
arrangements in the event of extreme weather conditions or incidents
to ensure the safety of its employees. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant
conducted emergency business procedures training for its employees
to increase their knowledge in the response to emergency business
situations resulting from natural disasters, so as to reduce the
possible impact of climate change on the Group’s business.

PEOPLE-ORIENTED

The Group understands that employees are the foundation of
corporate development, so it adheres to the management approach
of “people oriented” and attaches great importance to the rights and
interests of the employees. In addition to providing employees with
generous remuneration and benefits, the Group also pays attention
to the training, development and safety of the employees. Especially
under the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, various pandemic prevention
measures have been implemented to protect the health and safety of
our employees.

RIR - HERERHE

REEEHESH LM NEERSOER
BV HT - PARBRIBER RARMER AR - N&
BN AR BN ERNEER B R LT
EWAERRFRI TIEL S - AEREEEN L
2AFE REEFHETETTESE
BigFpiEsl - BB TRUBERNEEH
MESEBBRAE - TR D RIREE
HAKBEBRAIERE -

BUARZR

AEEFAETRLEHEENRE S T
[AAAK]NEERSH  SEEEETH
R REZR - BT ABTREEENTIK
BRISN - REBIEEIE IHHFIERELE
2 FRE2019 B KBS REET - BT
BIERERE  WREEIMNREREZS -

The number of employees during the Year are as follows: KEZREEABUT :
2021
Number of Employees' EE A8 —E--F
Total st 181
By gender =R
Male B 59
Female pegi 122
By employement type ZEFEER
Full-time 20 178
Part-time R 3
By age group LR R
Aged below 30 30BRAT 10
Aged 30 to 50 303 E 50 5%, 125
Aged above 50 50 pRIA £ 46
By geographical region 1R [@
The PRC (do not include Hong Kong) FE (MREEE) 137
Hong Kong B 4
USA EE 3
Note: M3 -
1. The Group starts to disclose the number of employees in the Year. 1. REBRAFEFRBHKERES A -
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RIR - HERERHE

The employee turnover rate during the Year are as follows:

2021

Employee Turnover Rate' EERLER —EB-—F
Total st 31%
By gender ZIERIE

Male ESlis 42%

Female 7t 26%
By age group HEBRAARIE D

Aged below 30 30BRATR 90%

Aged 30 to 50 30X ZE 50 7%, 20%

Aged above 50 505 A £ 50%
By geographical region R 2

The PRC (do not include Hong Kong) FE (CMREES) 35%

Hong Kong B 17%

USA e 67%
Note: FfsE -
1. The Group starts to disclose the employee turnover rate in the Year, which is 1. AEEBRAFERIBEEREERAE - HIREHR

calculated in accordance with the Appendix Il “Reporting Guidance on Social
KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.

Employment Standard

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations related to
employment, including but not limited to the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong. The
Group has gained a Gold Certificate awarded by the Worldwide
Responsible Accredited Production (WRAP), marking an affirmation
of our efforts to protect workers’ rights and interests. In order to
improve efficiency and standardise the procedure of recruitment, we
have established recruitment-related management and controlling
procedures according to the principles of fairness and impartiality,
avoiding misemployment of child labour or any discrimination. In
order to strive for creating a fair and equal working environment and
ensure that employees enjoy equal opportunities and fair treatment,
we treat all employees and applicants equally in the aspects of
recruitment, transferring, training, promotion, remuneration and
benefits, regardless of race, gender, age, religion, belief, marital or
fertility status. For resigned employees, we will terminate the contract
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, and pay the
outstanding wages on time.
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To prevent forced labour, the Group specifies the details of the
workplace, working hours and job responsibilities in the contract.
If employees have to work overtime due to business needs, the
Group will pay overtime wages according to the regulations. We also
forbid taking any monies or belongings as “security deposit” from
employees as well as forcing them to work or restricting their freedom
in any way, so as to ensure that they are employed voluntarily. Apart
from prevention of forced labour, the Group promises not to employ
child labour. The Group requires new employees to provide genuine
identification documents with accurate personal information when
commencing employment, aiming at identifying the true age of
the employees and avoiding misemployment of child labour. The
Group would also occasionally check whether child labour has been
misemployed in various departments. Once it is discovered, the
Group will immediately return the child labour to their original place of
residence and bear all necessary expenses.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to
employment and labour standard, avoiding child labour and forced
labour was involved or discovered by the Group.

Salary and Benefits

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations of China
and Hong Kong, including but not limited to the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong,
ensuring that the employees’ working hours and wages meet local
requirements and providing social insurance and mandatory provident
fund to employees as required by local regulations. The Group’s salary
is established according to several factors such as the positions, work
performance and abilities of the employees, and would be adjusted
with reference to market salary level. We evaluate the performance of
employees according to different positions and adopt the knowledge
and skills, attitude and enthusiasm to their positions as the evaluation
criteria. The results will be used to determine promotion and annual
salary adjustments of employees. The Group offers its employees
extra benefits such as attendance incentives and bonuses based
on the Group’s annual financial performance and the individual
performance of employees. Employees also enjoy paid leaves, such
as annual leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and compassionate
leave, apart from statutory holidays.

RIR - HERERHE

RIBEREBT  AEEEEBERTFE
IR TE b« TYERME R M AL B B S 4
o EETHEHIIEREETEMMI - AX&
EeRERELZMINETE - FHMINELLEM
FRE TS EEYIE 2] - FRER
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KBTI EABRREHEEERN FHER
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FE BRREET AEENETEHR
B UTHESHFIESREEZET - —B#R
REZETER  AEEEIZZBMIIERER
BiEH - WAEFREER -

RAEE - NEE 8P Kk HREMER
EIRKLSIER - ByibE T Roatlss TiaR/
ERERHIBR

5 B K2 48 A

AEEBRBETHEMEBRVER LR -
BREMRR (REARKMBESEE) - &
B GREMERTEE TP M (RETE K
)% REREINIKEIENSEM
23R Wikt T RE R B TRET SRR &
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RIR - HERERHE

Employees are the important asset of the Group, whose sense of
belonging is closely related to the success of the Group. Aiming
to promote the idea of work-life balance, create an excellent
environment for work and enhance employees’ sense of belonging
to the Group, the Group hammers at improving its policies and
measures, and providing employees with the following benefits
(including but not limited to):

° Distributing allowance and welfare gifts during festivals;

° Providing reimbursement on transportation costs for employees
returning home during Chinese New Year;

° Providing medical health insurance for employees;

o Offering free meals or meal allowance for our staff in the plant;
and

° Under specified circumstances, employees can enjoy
allowances of meals and transportation for overtime work.

Development and Training

The Group has established a comprehensive evaluation system for
work, according to which the Group would evaluate employees’
working attitudes, abilities, performance and disciplines, thereby
enhancing employees’ understanding of their work and allowing
supervisors to give feedback about their work performance. The
evaluation results also serve as the standard for their position and
salary adjustments and discretionary bonus, which will greatly benefit
employees’ individual development and productivity enhancement.
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Aiming to improve staff’s professional proficiency and follow the
development of the Group, we formulate training plans annually for
our staff in the plant in order to provide different types of training,
including internal training, external training, induction training and
on-the-job training, on the basis of the training needs of each
department. New recruits are required to attend induction training,
including job responsibilities and objectives, operational skills and
procedures, as well as regulations and policies. During the Year,
the employees of our Jiaxing Plant have participated in different
types of training, such as social responsibility training, environmental
management knowledge training, WRAP requirement training and fire
safety awareness training, etc. In addition, we encourage and support
employees to participate in personal and professional training to keep
abreast of the development of new technologies and equipment.
Eligible employees completing the training can apply for subsidies on
course fees and be reimbursed with partial or full cost of the training
course.

The average hours of training per employee and percentage of
employees who received training during the Year are as follows:

Average Hours of Training

RIR - HERERHE

BRABIMNIEE N UBBAEEN
BRERINK RMEBESBPITR 8F 4
B e B THlIEFIEE - RETEERAY
53l - BEAEEI - NS - ARSI
REBENE - TABRBEIF B AR
Al BIARBREIEBREMEZR  BER
BEFIRT - URHAESES - AFE - 28
BEME T2ME T ARERMEF - flinkt
eEHEEEI - BRETEMBEI - WRAPE
K RO R 2 B SIS o o - B
EELkTHEESHBAARSEEI - UEB
BT R TR ER R - ERIEIINEE
METAMEMEBEEREED  NEBEBE
RN DN EER -

AEEEBREEMNFHIZIIENSLZIES
teBan T

per Employee and Percentage of BREENFHEZIRER 2021
Employees who Received Training’ ZIES B —E-—F
Total st 20(82%)
By gender IR
Male B 19(75%)
Female pegc 21(85%)
By employee category RZEBERE D
Senior =¥ 6(44%)
Middle Y] 6(38%)
Junior MR 25(94%)
Note: MI3E
1. The Group starts to disclose the average hours of training per employee and the 1. REBRAFEREHRESRESNHTHZIE

percentage of employees who received training in the Year. The percentage of
employees who received training is calculated in accordance with the Appendix
Il “Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.
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Health and Safety

The Group prioritises the health and safety of its employees, and
adheres to the production principle of “Safety First”. The Group
provides employees with a safe and healthy working environment
and complies with national laws and regulations on safe production,
including but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong, and
provides employees with a safe and healthy working environment so
as to reduce accidents during work. Jiaxing Plant has established
an accountability system for different positions regarding production
safety, listing clearly the safety responsibilities of each unit and
unifying the standards for safety production and the managers shall
be responsible for ensuring the safety of the working environment,
and shall guide and supervise the employees to reduce the possibility
of work-related injuries.

We provide safety protection equipment and supplies as well as their
user guide for our staff in the Jiaxing Plant to safeguard their health
and safety as well as to prevent and reduce accidents. For employees
who may have access to hazardous materials, we provide an annual
health check to monitor the impact of the production process on their
health and identify and resolve possible safety impacts in a timely
manner. Moreover, we regularly provide employees with occupational
safety training. Employees are required to attend three-level safety
training, including education at plant, working units and position
levels. They can only operate the equipment individually after passing
the assessment. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted a number
of safety-related trainings for all employees, including chemical use
protection and personal labor protection supplies training, equipment
safety operation training, environmental, health, safety manuals as
well as first aid knowledge training, accompanied by oral or on-site
operation assessment, in order to enhance employees’ awareness
and understanding of work health and safety.
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In order to improve employees’ danger awareness and emergency
response capabilities, the Group has formulated corresponding
emergency plans for different emergency conditions, and conducted
regular exercises. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted fire drills
and educated the employees on the fire escape and the use of fire-
fighting equipment, in order to improve their ability to respond to
and deal with fire incidents, and to reduce the occurrence of work-
related injuries. In addition to implementing the accountability system
regarding production safety, we encourage our employees to provide
advice on work safety, report on accidents and share other views
actively, so as to control risks of workplace and reduce accidents.
The Group would also investigate and eliminate potential accidents to
protect the safety of its employees and properties.

To strengthen the safety management of hazardous chemicals,
Jiaxing Plant has set a safety management policy for hazardous
chemicals, which lists out the solutions and safety regulations for
storage, use, transportation and disposal. Through providing training
to its employees on the hazardous chemical safety management
policies, the Group effectively reduces accidents related to hazardous
chemicals, thereby protecting employees’ health and safety as
well as the surrounding environment. In addition, Jiaxing Plant has
implemented safety management policy for special equipment,
which requires the special equipment operating personnel to obtain
corresponding certificates before working. Jiaxing Plant also inspects
special equipment regularly and entrusts qualified units to carry
out maintenance and repair, ensuring the safe operation of the
equipment.

During the Year, there were 65 lost days due to a case of work injury
among our employees. In the past three years, there was no work-
related fatality.
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RIR - HERERHE

Coping with COVID-19

COVID-19 pandemic is still rampant at present. The Group attaches
great importance to pandemic prevention and control, and actively
complies with the relevant national and local requirements. The
Group has implemented various disease prevention measures, and
prioritises the health and safety of its employees while developing
its business. Jiaxing Plant has established a pandemic prevention
and control team to effectively conduct various disease prevention
measures, including promoting and lecturing the knowledge of
pandemic prevention and control through billboards and text
messages, arranging non-local employees to quarantine before
returning to the plant, reducing gathering by adopting separated
dining and limiting the number of people indoors, and stepping up the
cleaning and sterilising measures, etc. In addition, the Group requires
the employees to wear masks and maintain personal hygiene in office
to reduce the risk of contracting the virus.

OPERATING PRACTICES

The Group understands that product and service quality is the
cornerstone of corporate success. Therefore, the Group selects
suppliers in a stringent manner, establishes a quality management
system to ensure product quality and safety, and values customers’
feedback to continuously improve product and service quality.
The Group is also committed to maintaining business ethics in its
business operations, attaching importance to the protection of
intellectual property rights, eliminating infringements, and prohibiting
all bribery acts.
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Supply Chain Management

Supply chain management is always considered as an important part
of controlling quality by the Group. The Group adheres to the quality
oriented principle and establishes a supplier evaluation management
policy, standardising the evaluation process and daily management
of suppliers. In selecting suppliers, we strictly review the supplier’s
product quality, delivery capability, capacity and service quality, and
require them to provide samples for reviews by our customers, so
as to ensure the quality is up to customers’ requirements. Beyond
that, we also track and monitor the progress of entrusted processing
suppliers, ensuring that the quality of processed products is in accord
with the requirements. The checked suppliers will be added to our
approved supplier list, which will be reviewed regularly. To strengthen
the management of suppliers, promote and improve the supplier
management system and optimise the operation of supply chain, the
Group eliminates suppliers that do not correspond with the corporate
development regulations. The Group has incorporated the concept
of “green purchasing” into its procurement process and established
strict environmental protection requirements. For example, Jiaxing
Plant prioritises the selection of products and services with the
minimum impact on the environment and promotes the use of
environmentally friendly materials instead of purchasing materials that
are harmful to the environment or the human body in accordance
with national restrictions.

The Group also attaches importance to environmental and social risks
in the supply chain. Therefore, the Group regularly communicates with
internal and external stakeholders to identify potential risks. When
selecting suppliers, the Group would also consider its environmental
and social conditions, and give priority to suppliers with outstanding
performance in energy saving, occupational safety, supply chain
management and anti-corruption, as well as suppliers with relevant
certifications or which are internationally recognised suppliers.
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RIR - HERERHE

The Group’s business in money lending has no significant suppliers.
During the Year, the Group’s design, manufacturing and trading of
apparel products business had a total of 59 major suppliers, divided
by region as follows:

AEENERREXRBIREZHER - K
FE FEERHEMORT  HERES
EBHAORTEMER  miMREIH M
T

2021
Number of Suppliers' ftrER e —EB—F
Northeast China BRI 1
East China HER 56
South China 30 1
Southwest China I
Note: PI3E -
1. The Group starts to disclose the number of suppliers in the Year. 1. REERAFERBFEHREREE -

Management on Product Quality

The Group attaches great importance to the product quality and label
use of the apparel manufacturing business, and therefore strictly
abides by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Consumer Goods Safety Ordinance in
Hong Kong. Thus, the Group has established a quality management
system, aiming to standardise inspection procedures and regulations,
ensuring the products manufactured are in line with the quality and
safety requirements. We review the system regularly, ensuring that the
system is still appropriate, comprehensive and effective. According
to customers’ specific requirements, the Group is open to inspection
and monitoring by the customers, and assesses its production
procedures every year, ensuring the system can operate continuously
and effectively, and meet customer requirements pragmatically.
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To ensure that equipment condition is able to achieve production
targets, relevant equipment operating personnel will check the
equipment condition daily prior to production. We also conduct
occasional inspections on production procedures and take corrective
measures as soon as a failure is found. In addition, the quality of
raw materials, semi-finished products and finished products are
inspected. Only qualified products can enter the next production
stage, aiming that the products will meet the criteria of relevant
standards. The unqualified ones will be labelled clearly and stored
separately, and then the relevant department will analyse the cause
and implement corrective measures. The Group has established a
policy on reporting incidents to standardise quality reporting, ensure
timely handling of product-related issues and control potential
risks effectively. Meanwhile, we review product sales and market
information as well as supervise the content of product labels to
ensure that the information contained is clear, true and in compliance
with legal requirements. We will also keep customer feedback in track
in order to continuously improve product quality and safety.

During the Year, none of the products of the Group were required to
be recalled due to safety and health reason.

Customer First

The Group is committed to enhancing customer satisfaction,
since fulfilling customers’ needs is the ultimate goal of the Group’s
development. We have established a set of policies on customer
rights and interests to regulate the handling of complaints from
customers, so that the Group’s reputation will be maintained and
customer satisfaction will be improved. Customers can complain
through letters, calls and emails, which will be handled and
investigated by our designated personnel in time. During the Year, the
Group did not receive or discover any major complaints.
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RIR - HERERHE

In addition, the Group also provides money lending services in
which customer personal data needs to be collected and stored, so
protecting customer privacy is a very important part of our business.
Employees must abide by relevant laws and regulations, such as the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. They are forbidden
to disclose customers’ information to third-party without prior
consent, adhering to professional ethics at all times. The customers’
data is accessible by authorised personnel exclusively, while staff
from other departments can only retrieve and provide information
upon application to and approval by the company.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to strengthening the protection of intellectual
property rights. Therefore, we require employees to strictly abide
by the laws and regulations such as the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China and Copyright Ordinance in Hong Kong. We also have clear
requirements for the application, management, use and protection
of intellectual property for our customers and the Group, enhancing
internal awareness of protecting intellectual property rights and
corporate interests. The Group only uses genuine software, and
employees are required to submit an application to the Group before
installing any software to avoid infringing on the intellectual property
rights of others.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to
intellectual property was involved or discovered by the Group.
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Anti-corruption

The Group advocates employees to consciously abide by the law,
act in good faith, be self disciplined and build an integrity culture.
The Group abides by the laws and regulations on anti-corruption,
including but not limited to the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong.
The Group has formulated employee handbooks and systems to
regulate their behaviour, especially in the money lending business,
encouraging employees to be honest and self-disciplined. Thus, the
operating risks will be reduced, and the interests of the company and
employees will be guaranteed. In addition, employees should not
seek personal or indirect benefits by their authority and should avoid
situations that may involve or result in potential or actual conflicts of
interest. Once any violation is discovered, employees should report it
in written or verbal ways. The identity of the whistleblower will be kept
confidential by the Group while relevant violators will be dismissed
and bear legal responsibility upon confirmation of violation after
investigation. During the Year, Jiaxing Plant conducted anti-corruption
training for all employees to increase their awareness in the response
to corruption, so as to enhance ethical management and employee
integrity. In addition, the Group has provided training for all of its
employees in Hong Kong and directors on their respective roles and
responsibilities in corruption prevention.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to anti-
corruption was involved or discovered by the Group.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group attaches great importance to social responsibility and
regards the prosperity and stability of society as the cornerstone
of its development. For this, the Group spares no effort to promote
the development of charities, and to support charitable projects and
activities. We also encourage employees to participate in volunteer
activities and charitable donations, enhancing their sense of social
responsibility. In addition, the Group’s Jiaxing Plant provides job
opportunities for people with disabilities and will give priority to hiring
suppliers of people with disabilities when selecting suppliers so as to
promote social development. During the Year, the Group’s community
investment did not involve resource contribution.
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CONTENT INDEX IN RELATION TO THE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

REPORTING GUIDE
ESG Index Summary Section Page
ESGERE Bt 1 B
Environment
B
Aspect At: General disclosure GREEN OPERATION 61
Emissions Information on: REEE
EBEA1: (@  the policies; and Environmental Goals and Progress 61-62
B (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations ~ REE R NER
that have a significant impact on the issuer Environmental Management 62-63
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, System
discharges into water and land, and generation of ~ RFERER
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Emissions Management 64-65
— R HRER
BHERREREEHN - MKRTHEHES - BF  Wastewater Management 66
FEEEERNMNELFH BEKER
@) HE: R Waste Management 66
b) BEFTHETAREATENEREELRD BEEMER
HIE R} o Noise Management 67
BEEE
Aspect A2: General disclosure GREEN OPERATION 61
Use of Resources  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including HEsE
BHEA2 : energy, water and other raw materials. Environmental Goals and Progress 61-62
ERER —RER REAERER
BAERER (A1ER - KREMERME) 895K - USE OF RESOURCES 67-69
BIRE A
Aspect A3: General disclosure ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL 70
The Environment  Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact RESOURCES
and Natural on the environment and natural resources. RERAAER
Resources —RRE
BHEAS3 : REETAERERAAERENERZZHNHE
RERRRER
Aspect Ad: General disclosure RESPONDING TO CLIMATE 70-71
Climate Change Policies on identification and mitigation of significant CHANGE
BEA4 : climate-related issues which have impacted, and FEERIRE L
RIzEL those which may impact, the issuer.

—REE
BRI REHEE L AR EHRTAELRENEAR
{ERAEBEEE AR -
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ESG Index Summary Section Page
ESGER Bt B Hig
Social
e
Employment and Labour Practices
BREREIER
Aspect B1: General disclosure PEOPLE-ORIENTED 71-72
Employment Information on: ABR
E@EB1: (@)  the policies; and Employment Standard 72-73
=4 (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations ~ {E{E2%EE
that have a significant impact on the issuer Salary and Benefits 73-74
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment MR AEF
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
— R
R RRE  BERE  TERS - RE T
e Zu  RIEGAREMFBRERR :
(@) 6 4
b))  EFEETABEAFEOEBEERAN
HOERY
Aspect B2: General disclosure PEOPLE-ORIENTED 71-72
Health and Safety  Information on: AABZ
[EHEB2: (@  the policies; and Health and Safety 76-78
REHEZ2 (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations ~ f#EEZE
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
— R E
FHARMZ2THERERREEEHCBELES
7 :
(@) BE Rk
b  EBTEETABEAFENEBEELAN
HEH o
Aspect B3: General disclosure PEOPLE-ORIENTED 71-72
Developmentand  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and PABR
Training skills for discharging duties at work. Description Development and Training 74-75
BEB3: of training activities. TR A
BRREN — R
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ESG Index Summary Section Page
ESGERZ Bt 1 L]
Social (Continued)
e (&)
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
ERREIER (&)
Aspect B4: General disclosure PEOPLE-ORIENTED 71-72
Labour Standards  Information on: VY=Y
[EmB4 : (@)  the policies; and Employment Standard 72-73
TR (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations ~ {E{E2%EA
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— R
AR IEET G ST -
(@) BE Rk
b))  ETHETAREAFENORBERNA
HBH o
Operating Practices
EEEH
Aspect B5: General Disclosure OPERATING PRACTICES 78
Supply Chain —MRIEE HEED
Management Policies on managing environmental and social risks Supply Chain Management 79-80
BEBS : of the supply chain. HERER
ftreEER BBHERNRE I SRBEE -
Aspect B6: General disclosure OPERATING PRACTICES 78
Product Information on: HEED
Responsibility (@  the policies; and Management on Product Quality 80-81
[EEBS : (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations ~ EmBEEE
EmER that have a significant impact on the issuer Customer First 81-82
relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and XPZEL
privacy matters relating to products and services Protecting Intellectual Property 82
provided and methods of redress. Rights
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ESG Index Summary Section Page
ESGER Bt B Hig
Operating Practices (Continueq)
EEEH (8)
Aspect BT: General disclosure OPERATING PRACTICES 78
Anti-corruption Information on: 2EER
[EEBT : @  the policies; and Anti-corruption 83
RES (o)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations RES
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
— M=
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(@) BR Rk
b)  EBTEETABEATENEBEERAN
HYE RS o
Community
HE
Aspect B8: General disclosure COMMUNITY INVESTMENT 83
Community Policies on community engagement to understand the L& 1% &
Investment needs of the communities where the issuer
[E®BS : operates and to ensure its activities take into
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EEHRESE

The Board hereby presents its report together with the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in design, manufacturing and
trading of apparels as well as provision of money lending services.
Details of the principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
are set out in notes 1 and 38(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by geographical
areas and businesses is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
its state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 224.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five years is set out in the financial summary
on page 5 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the year are set out in note 38(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively in this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders, comprising share premium and
contributed surplus, amounted to approximately HK$169,316,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentages of sales
and purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers and
suppliers, respectively are as follows:

Sales
— The largest customer 22.0%
— The total of the five largest customers 73.6%

Purchases
— The largest supplier 12.3%
— The total of the five largest suppliers 43.2%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company, which owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, to the best knowledge of the Directors, had any interest in
the share capital of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Directors’ Report

ESEREE

A H 7 Tk

RZTB-_—F+-_A=+—H  &x2Qaa1#
DK TSR 2 FHE (BIERMEE RS
AZER) 47169,316,000587T °

AEERAKEENDE - BFELREBEEEHF
BERANFRAGRE M ERRMTE14 -

FEEFREER

BEZT-—F+t-A=T—"HLEFE &
SENEREFREREEEGHERERE
MBSO BRI -

tHERE
-BAKEF22.0%
- ARRFAF73.6%

g
- AR 12.3%
- AKREEEAEET43.2%

MEBEIAES BEFENETBEA - HEM
PR (BB 5% A EHARRF B HITRMN K
BE) BEFEMAEASE LARARDN
EP S EE AR TR A -

SN

KRRz E - —F+-_A=+—H1t

FEHBMBRAE B BN GRE P BRE
FEE30 ©

Annual Report 2021 %R

89



90

Directors’ Report

ESEREE

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles nor the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report. The Company has maintained a sufficient public float in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been audited by BDO Limited, who shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to
the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)
(was appointed on 19 January 2022)
TIN Yat Yu Carol
CHEUNG Ka Lung
CHAN Ming Leung Terence (was appointed on 2 August 2021)
GONG Xiaohan (was appointed on 8 December 2021)
GUO Lin (resigned on 11 January 2021)
JIANG Mingsheng (resigned on 11 January 2021)
JIANG Tianging (resigned on 11 January 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon

HON Ming Sang

LO Wing Sze (was appointed on 22 January 2021)
WU Fei (resigned on 18 January 2021)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 12 to 18 of this annual report.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors subsequent to the date of the Company’s
Interim Report 2021 are set out below:

On 2 August 2021, Mr. Chan Ming Leung Terence was appointed as
an executive Director.

On 8 December 2021, Mr. Gong Xiaohan was appointed as an
executive Director.
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EEHRESE

On 19 January 2022, Mr. Li Yang was appointed as an executive
Director. On the same date, Mr. Li Yang was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination Committee,
the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of
the Remuneration Committee, and also an authorised representative
of the Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules, in place of Ms.
Tin Yat Yu Carol while she remains as an executive director of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of other
changes in the directors’ information which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has
entered into any service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the service contracts of the Directors, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and
determining the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group.
The Directors may also receive options to be granted under the
Company’s share option scheme. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 November 2013.

(1)

2

(3)

Purpose

It enables the Company to grant options to the Eligible
Participants (as described below) as incentive or reward for
their contribution to the Group to subscribe for shares of the
Company thereby linking their interest with that of the Group.

Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants under the Share Option Scheme include,
among others, directors, employees, advisors, consultants,
service providers, agents, customers, partners or joint-venture
partners of the Group.

The total number of securities available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme together
with the percentage of the issued shares that it
represents as at the date of the annual report

The total number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue
as at the date of approval of the scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit), provided that the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under all share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

On 8 December 2021, 60,000,000 options to subscribe for
shares of the Company were granted.
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(4)

()

(6)

The refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit under the Share
Option Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 25 March 2022. Please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 3 March 2022 for further details.

The total number of shares available for issue upon the exercise
of all options granted or to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 239,026,737, representing approximately 13.35% of
the Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date of
this annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to each Eligible Participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the
Company.

Timing for exercise of options

The exercise period of the options granted is determinable by
the Board, and commences on the date of the grant of the
options and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the grant of the options or other expiry date(s)
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme, whichever is the
earliest.

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and specified at the
time of the offer, there is no performance target required to be
achieved before an option can be exercised.

The minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time in whole or in part
during the option period.
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(7) The amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be repaid

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21
days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 by the grantee.

(8) Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price per Share in relation to an option shall be
a price to be determined by the Board and shall be no less than
the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date on which the option is offered to an Eligible
Participant, which must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; or

(c) the nominal value of the Shares on the offer date.

(9) Life of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 22 November 2013, which was the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

(7)

8)

)
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Details of the movements of the options during the year ended
31 December 2021 under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Outstanding at

REBEE-ZE-_—F+-_A=1t—HLEFER

BIRERT B T 2 BIRES BRI T
Options
granted on Outstanding at

1 January 2021 8 December 2021 31 December 2021
R-B=-—%F R-B=-—%F R-B=-—%F
—HA—H +=ZANH +=—HA=+—H

e RATBE Bz e e RATE

(Note 2) (Note 3)

(fFzE2) (MF3E3)

Directors 5=

LI Yang (Note 1) 5 (fFEE1) - 16,900,000 16,900,000

TIN Yat Yu Carol A—F - 16,900,000 16,900,000

CHEUNG Ka Lung REKH - 2,000,000 2,000,000

CHAN Ming Leung Terence PRAASE - 2,000,000 2,000,000

GONG Xiaohan R - 16,900,000 16,900,000

TANG Shu Pui Simon B - 1,000,000 1,000,000

HON Ming Sang SR - 1,000,000 1,000,000

LO Wing Sze KT - 1,000,000 1,000,000

Employees == - 2,300,000 2,300,000

TOTAL et - 60,000,000 60,000,000

Notes: MI3E

1. 16,900,000 options were granted to Mr. Li Yang who was a consultant of the 1. 2[5 5 A % T 16,900,000 17 BE B& 1+ R R
Company on the date of grant and was subsequently appointed as an executive LA ARARRER  ABER-_T-__F—AH
Director on 19 January 2022. THEEZERPTES -

Mr. Li did not receive any consultancy fee under the consultancy contract. Mr. Li FEAEWEBEER G OB T MERER -
has held various senior management positions in a number of capital investment EEBREREARERERCERETSRER
and entity enterprises, and has extensive industry experience in fashion apparel, Bz - WAER AR AN © BT AR HEE - {5 BT
trendy brand promotion, information technology and other businesses. The grant EEBK ITHELETELR M LERNER
of the options to Mr. Li serves as remuneration to him for his provision of services HERE R A S BIRHIRTS 2 MEBN - tLERE B
to the Group which will help the Group to develop its apparel business. It could REBERRLRNOER - TrAISBFTEERLE
also encourage Mr. Li to bring in prosperous business opportunities to the Group %l)\%%%% C AR EAREE RIE R ATRE
that may improve the Group’s performance and profitability which may in turn CEMREARRRNDAIRE - AEETH L
boost the share price of the Company’s shares. The Group also wishes to put the ?%EZM/\*U 5 Al BEAR D B AR RARME 2 RIBAR
interests of Mr. Li in line with the future share price performance of the Company, B8 BFEEAAERREREZEE KK
which would tie up the quality and successfulness of the services to be provided ThEEMA) o

by Mr. Li to the Group.

2. A total of 60,000,000 options were granted on 8 December 2021. The exercise 2. T — E += A\B & #%# 160,000,000
price was HK$0.155. The closing price of per Share immediately before the date MK - 1TFER0.1558 T - BEZLER
on which the options were granted was HK$0.155. The option period during #E 8 ﬁﬁiHQNKWEEOJ% ABIT o AI{T{E AR
which the options may be exercised is from 8 December 2021 to 7 December EERERRS T _—F+_AN\BREZ
2026 (both days inclusive). ZARFTZRtER (BEERMAE) -

3. As at 31 December 2021, none of the options was exercised, lapsed or 3. RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—8 ' SIEERERET

cancelled.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
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referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to ~ REI#Ez : SR IBZRESFAIZEME AR D
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows: B PRI AT -
Long positions in Shares of the Company RAEARRBHEE
Number of Number of Approximate
Capacity/nature ordinary share Total percentage of
Name of interest shares held options held interests interests
s Frfs BOER
HE 5 ERME EERYE BREHE Y Aot
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(PH5E1) (FfzE2)
LI Yang (was appointed Beneficial owner - 16,900,000 16,900,000 1%
on 19 January 2022) ERBEA
e (R —F
—RAT+hBEZE)
TIN Yat Yu Carol Beneficial owner - 16,900,000 16,900,000 1%
B —1F BB A
CHEUNG Ka Lung Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.12%
RKH BERBEAA
CHAN Ming Leung Terence Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.12%
FREA EnfEEA
GONG Xiaohan Beneficial owner - 16,900,000 16,900,000 1%
iR EnlEEA
TANG Shu Pui Simon Beneficial owner 5,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000 0.36%
BEE EnEEA
HON Ming Sang Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.06%
Bt EnlEEA
LO Wing Sze Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.06%
651 EnlEEA
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Notes:

1. Details of share options held by the Directors are shown in the section “Share
Option Scheme” above.

2. Based on 1,690,000,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December
2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company have or are deemed to
have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notifiable to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or recorded in the register required to be maintained by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

GEE
1 RS 2R X (S 8] —

ETE

2. ER =T =—F+=A=-+—H1,690,000,000
RANBE BTG ©

BREXFHEREEN RZTE-_—F+A4
=t+—H ARARESERFTETHRAEHE
RARB REFEMEEEE (EEXREFHK
HAEIGBIZEXVED) BBRD - HERERR (D K (&4
BHEBERBIESRAEKROIEXVHET
R8DHMEARRAR KB XL (B
BERBEEFSLAEROMNZFHREEE
SR BEENEZEAR) - KEERAR
BEA MBS IEGIEI/2EFEENS LM
EmRARE - RARBEESFIMERAF
N2 PR SRR °



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the
particulars of the corporations or persons (other than the directors
and the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:

Long positions in Shares of the Company
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Number of Approximate

Capacity/nature ordinary percentage of

Name of interest shares held interests

HE B, REEtE FREBRBE HHOEzAIL

(Note 1)

(BtsE1)

World Field Industries Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 283,994,000 16.80%
BEEXAERAR (E2) BEREEA

BLB International Company Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 240,000,000 14.20%
RECBERARAR (MHFE3) EREAA

Value Convergence Holdings Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 167,244,000 9.9%
MERZERARAE (M5E4) BERFEAA

Geng Xiaodong Beneficial owner 85,998,000 5.09%
BAREE SR BEmEEA

Notes: IE

1.

Based on 1,690,000,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December
2021.

Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed on 27 July 2021, World Field
Industries Limited is owned as to 100% by Green Astute Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 100% by Hao Tian Media & Culture Holdings Limited, which is
in turn owned as to 100% by Aceso Life Science Group Limited (“Aceso”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
474.HK). Based on the disclosure of interest forms in relation to Aceso filed on
24 August 2021, Aceso is owned as to 45.45% by Asia Link Capital Investment
Holdings Ltd. (“Asia Link”) and as to 10.83% by Century Golden Resources
Investment Co., Ltd (“Century Golden”). Asia Link is owned as to 100% by Li
Shao Yu (Z/>5F). Century Golden is owned as to 50% by Huang Tao (&%) and
as to 40% by Huang Shiying (& t%%).

1. BERZ-ZT=—%+=F=+—H1,690,000,000
BARRDETRI -

2. BRER-_E-—F+tA-_+LHARSZ#ERE
BRBREEERAFRBTFEERARGES
100% s - FAEMRA A AH R R EE T
B R ARESE 100% #a - M2 REE T
BERARABEEEGRBEEEGRAR (5
$81) (ARG RERATER LT (RO : 474
HK)) A 100% 12 - RIER T —-—&F N\ A
ZHNARREBEHCEREEE 895

MEEAEZERAER AR ([EH]) RtLeiR
REBRRR (ML EIR]) HH 45.45% HEm K&

10.83% 1% ° EF R D FIEA 100% Ex o
LR B EE N E RS 50% i M 40%
HEZS o
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3. Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed on 22 June 2021, BLB
International Company Limited is owned as to 100% by Baolingbao Biology
Co., Ltd. (“BLB Biology”), the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2286.5Z). Based on the third quarterly report
of BLB Biology for the three months ended 30 September 2021 published on
the website of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (www.szse.cn) on 28 October
2021, as at 30 September 2021, BLB Biology was owned as to 12.80% by
Beijing Yongyu Investment Management Limited (1t 5k IR E SR AR AT,
“Beijing Yongyu”) and as to 10.33% is owned by Ningbo Baopu Futong Asset
Management Center (Limited Partnership) (B} B EREEESEFRL(BRE
#)). Based on information published on Beijing Enterprise Credit Information
website (Jb R EEAEEMH, qyxy.scigj.beijing.gov.cn) and based on the
information available to the Company, Beijing Yongyu is wholly owned by Dai
Sijue (& HTE).

4. Based on the disclosure of interest forms filed on 5 November 2021, Value
Convergence Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 821.HK), was the beneficial owner of
158,558,000 shares of the Company. To the best knowledge and information of
the Company, as at 31 December 2021, Value Convergence Holdings Limited
was the beneficial owner of 167,244,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons or entities (other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, its
Group members or associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, or their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) has engaged in any business that competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to business of
the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. Such related party transactions constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter14A of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under article 164 of the Articles, every Director, company secretary,
other officers and auditor for the time being of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices
or trusts; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said
persons.

Such permitted indemnity provisions have been in force throughout
the year. The Company has arranged appropriate D&O Insurance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed corporate governance report is set out in pages 35 to 53
in this annual report.

By order of the Board
Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited
Li Yang
Chairman

28 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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IBDO

E5E 1 +85222188288
+852 2815 2239

BE:

Tel : +8522218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

ERATHEEP11158
IKRAI251E

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CEFC HONG KONG FINANCIAL
INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CEFC Hong
Kong Financial Investment Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 111 to 224,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of Loans and Interest Receivables

Refer to notes 5(b) and 20 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s loans and interest receivables
amounted to HK$114,667,000, representing significant balances
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group.

Management performed credit evaluations for the Group’s debtors
and assessed expected credit losses (“ECL”) of loans and interest
receivables. These assessments were focused on the debtors’
settlement history and their current ability to pay, and took into
account information specific to respective debtor.

We identified this area as a key audit matter because significant
judgements have been made by the management during the
assessment of the credit standing of the Group’s debtors and the
estimation of ECL of loans and interest receivables.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of Loans and Interest Receivables
(Continued)

Our response:

Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit loss policy
and methodology for impairment assessment in relation to the
application of ECL model;

Inquiring management for the status of the loans and interest
receivable as at year end date and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding of credit status of debtors, checking of historical
and subsequent settlement records and other correspondence
with the debtors;

Evaluating the appropriateness and reasonableness of
methodology, parameters and assumptions used in the
assessment of ECL such as criteria for judging significant
increases in credit risk, definition of credit-impaired financial
assets, key data inputs and forward-looking information;

Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the management’s
calculation of impairment loss allowances under ECL model;
and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding
loans and interest receivables, and the related risks such as
credit risk.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Impairment Assessment of Non-current Assets (Other
Than Financial Assets)

Refer to notes 5(d) 14, 15, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s non-current assets (other
than financial assets) principally comprised goodwill, intangible asset,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

The Group assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill, intangible
asset with indefinite useful life and other non-current assets as at
31 December 2021 based on higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal (“FVLCOD”) and value-in-use (“VIU”). Preparing the VIU and
FVLCOD calculations require management to exercise significant
judgement and make critical accounting estimates, particularly in
relation to the determination of valuation techniques and the selection
of inputs like projected cash flows during projection period, growth
rates beyond the projection period and discount rates to discount the
projected cash flows and cash flows beyond the projection period.
The Group has also engaged an independent professional valuer to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation methodology and
inputs.

We identified impairment assessment of non-current assets (other
than financial assets) as a key audit matter because the impairment
assessment involves significant judgements and assumptions by
management underlying the determination of the VIU and FVLCOD.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment Assessment of Non-current Assets (Other
Than Financial Assets) (continueq)

Our response:

° Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the management and key
assumptions adopted for valuations based on our knowledge of
the businesses and industries;

° Assessing the objectivity, capability, and competence of the
independent professional valuer by considering its qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

° Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the input data used and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuations;

° Involving an auditor’s valuation expert to assist our work
in assessing the valuation methodology adopted by the
independent professional valuer and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuations;

° Discussing with the independent professional valuer and
challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions in the cash
flow projections covering the projection period, growth rates
and discount rate; and

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures on the impairment
assessment in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin

Practising Certificate Number P0O6162

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —FT—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FERT FAT
Revenue PN 7 139,818 114,474
Cost of sales SHERA (101,119) (89,517)
Gross profit EF 38,699 24,957
Other gains and losses, net Ehias R EEFEE 7 1,831 9,663
Impairment of goodwill EERE 16 - (22,734)
Reversal of expected credit loss on B 5 e GRTETE Hf
trade receivables EEEERD 9 125 8
Provision for expected credit loss on FEU & R FI 2 T8 R
loans and interest receivables EEEERE 9 (18,042) (17,021)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEA (17,197) (16,271)
Administrative expenses THRAX (51,070) (45,325)
Finance costs BhE KA 8 (366) (315)
Loss before income tax BRATISBIAIE R (46,020) (67,038)
Income tax expense FrB iR 11 (251) (1,077)
Loss for the year attributable to AABEEANELFEEEE
owners of the Company (46,271) (68,115)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax, 22 T)#HEHE AEGEM
attributable to owners of the Company MW= (BRFE)
Item that may be reclassified AREZEHIEZER
subsequently to profit or loss: HIER -
Exchange gain on translation of BEBINEBI KRR
financial statements of foreign operations b 5 W s 362 1,343
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 TEA ABILEE
attributable to owners of the Company = E WAL (45,909) (66,772)
Loss per share attributable to owners ARAREE AEN
of the Company BRER 13
Basic and diluted (in HK cents) BEARKESE (BI) (2.74) (4.03)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wn e BRI R

As at 31 December 2021 W =—Z - —F+_-HA=+—H

2021 2020
g —ET-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FERT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ENE YN 14 8,237 9,620
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 5,486 6,445
Loans and interest receivables FEMWE R K FI B 20 1,803 —
Goodwil Bl 16 34,632 34,632
Intangible asset mEE 17 800 800
Deferred tax assets RIEBIAEE 29 562 599
51,520 52,096
Current assets RBEE
Inventories EA=y 18 6,016 11,971
Trade receivables = e Q] 19 27,486 19,136
Loans and interest receivables FENE TR A2 20 112,864 108,762
Deposits, prepayments and & BRE
other receivables E b eI IR 21 5,534 12,594
Tax recoverable A E IR 383 594
Financial assets at fair value through RAHERTEHEEETA
profit or loss EHERNIEEE 22 15,681 =
Cash and cash equivalents He MREEEER 23 15,348 78,547
183,312 231,604
Current liabilities i =R
Trade payables 2 S ERFIR 24 19,124 24,651
Accruals, other payables and receipts TEIRER - HiE[N IR
in advance NIAWRIA 25 10,968 13,098
Contract liabilities BRRE 26 529 2,551
Other borrowings H &R 27 4,057 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 2,965 3,654
37,643 43,954
Net current assets nBEEEE 145,669 187,650
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 197,189 239,746
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R

As at 31 December 2021 R =Z-—F+—-_H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(= FET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 28 932 1,321
932 1,321
Net assets EEFE 196,257 238,425
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners KARHEE ABIEER
of the Company
Share capital &N 30 16,900 16,900
Reserves i 31 179,357 221,525
Total equity EREE 196,257 238,425

On behalf of the Board of directors
REEFE

Li Yang
=5
Director

EE

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—F
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

Share-based
Share Share  Merger  Statutory  payment Translation Accumulated
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve®  reseve  losses Total
HRitAER
R&  BOEE* KGR HERE NEARR  RERE  EHEE g
HKPOOD  HKBOOD  HK$O00D  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HK$O00O
e TEr  fEr  Thr Tt fEr TRr  TEn
(note 31()  otedt) (ote3i(c)  (otedt(d)  (note3ie)

(Wi (Westo) (Wasie)  (Wsie)  (Wasig)

At1 January 2020 W-52%%-5-A 16900 375983 2,988 3,344 - 142 (04,140 305,197
Loss for the year 355 - - - - - - BiE (6811
Other comprehensive income Rb2ENE
- Exchange gain on translation of financial - BEENEREE

statements of foreign operations FRNER NS = = = = = 1343 = 1343
Total comprehensive loss for the year EEREERAE - - - - = 138 8115 (66772
At 31 December 2020 and RR-RETZAZT-BR

1 January 2021 Z5--E-F- 16900 375963 2,988 3,344 - 1485 (162,255 238425

Loss for the year EERE - - - - - - {6 )
Other comprehensive income Afb2EhE
- Exchange gain on translation of financial - REENEREE

statements of foreign operations EELIED - - - - - 32 - 32
Total comprehensive loss for the year EEREFALE - - - - - %2 @) (45909
Equity-settled share option scheme arrangements J\EREENBRET H% 4 - - - - 374 - - 374
At 31 December 2021 WZEZ-E+ZA=1-R 16900 375963 2,988 3,344 3,14 1847 (20852) 196,257

* These reserve balances comprised the reserve account as set out in the — * ZERBERPIEREMBRRRAEOREER
consolidated statement of financial position. B -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
ZBC-F —Z-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(3 TR TAET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETHNHEERE
Loss before income tax BRETETiRTEE (46,020) (67,038)
Adjustments for: BTN EIEFE
Bank interest income HITHISHA 7 1) (693)
Interest expenses FIEFZ 8 366 315
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREERTE 9 2,341 2,435
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE 9 4,547 5,609
Provision for inventories FERE 9 521 2,634
Impairment of goodwil EERE 16 - 22,734
Net fair value loss on financial assets at NHEFEBZEE AR BER
fair value through profit or loss NI EEN AT EBE TR 2,679 =
Loss arising from derecognition of loans and RIFREREKE SR RAS
interest receivables MEEAEE 7 3,959 =
Share-based compensation DA AL TR O R 9 3,741 =
Provision for expected credit loss on loans EWE R SR
and interest receivables FEERERE 18,042 17,021
Reversal of expected credit loss on trade receivables & 5N IETR S Z E BT 9 (125) ®)
Operating cash flow before working capital changes EEECRPIMLERETE (9,950) (16,991)
Decrease in inventories FERD 5,855 803
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B SR (gm) /SR (7,896) 5,300
Increase in loans and interest receivables FEWE SRR A B AN (27,906) (13,282)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and Be  BRRREM
other receivables EUFIERD 8,139 2,115
Increase in financial assets at fair value MAFEERZEEA
through profit or loss BHERM IS EELN (18,360) =
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables BoEMTE (RD) /18 (4,661) 885
(Decrease)/increase in accruals, other payables and BRER - AtEMAFER
receipts in advance BUFIE (D) (1,988) 1276
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BB E (RD) /& (2,022) 462
Cash used in operations EEMALSE (58,789) (19,432)
Income tax paid ERFMEH @) (1,314)
Net cash used in operating activities RETBRARESFE (58,792) (20,746)
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BEKH (731) =
Decrease in pledged bank deposit BHEBFETERRD - 3,726
Interest received YIS 1 693
Net cash (used in)/generated from REED (FiR) /EERETFE
investing activities (730) 4,419
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—EC--F —ZT°F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Pzt TR TAT

Cash flows from financing activities REMETHNRERE
Interest paid ERHE 32 (366) (315)
Proceeds from new borrowing FERAEE0E 32 4,057 -
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEREAEAS 32 (4,619) (5,697)
Net cash used in financing activities METBHARETE (928) (6,012)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BeRBSEEEERLFE (60,450) (22,339)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FHRERELZEER 78,547 100,997
Effect of foreign exchange rates, net B 2T (2,749) (111)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ERASRBEEEER 15,348 78,547
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 19 June 2013. The
address of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company is disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” in the annual report. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
25 March 2022, the shareholders of the Company passed a
special resolution which approved a change of the Company’s
name from “CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment Company
Limited HBEESMIEEBR AT to “Virtual Mind Holding
Company Limited Xz B R A 71", The change of company
name becomes effective on the date on which the certificate
of incorporation on change of name would be issued by the
Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the design, manufacturing and trading of apparels and provision
of money lending services.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 were approved for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2022.

1.
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BIROEEM 3R B A B 3 BB SR A At
BRERARNFR[ARER] —8 « XD
AR B R P EAR £

EARRR-_ZE-_—_#=A_-+HAH
BITHREFINAE L XAGIRKREK
RA-—ERNIDRER  HEKEAT
% 78 f [CEFC Hong Kong Financial
Investment Company Limited & /& =
EemREBRAA] EkA [Vitual
Mind Holding Company Limited K #4%
RBERAR] - AEIZBERRHASE
SAFHMEERBBENEREET
MBEERERK -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”)

2.1 Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs -
effective 1 January 2021

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 - Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 Reform - Phase 2
and HKFRS 16

None of these amended HKFRSs has a material impact
on the Group’s results and financial position for the current
or prior period.

The Group has not early applied any new or amended
HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period.

2.2 New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

BRANE BN R SR
(TERMBHREER ) )

2.2 B BB R E R HTHT

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

2.2 New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective continueq)

STRAEAERT BB M

S8 )

M ==/
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classffication of Liabilities as B arrEL| BaENEATD
Current or Non-current? F15% (BFTA) FIETE)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

BEGERE1T SHIRIBE?

RERMGEHRELE

AR
F 25 (BFIA)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BAe &R BT ER?
Estimates? E8% (BFIA)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BAes &R HE-RIEEL
and Liabilities arising from F12% (BFIX) EBERAEGEH
a Single Transaction? ZEERIR?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use' BT LA BT REANME

F16% (BFIAX) A

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BAL R BENEH-E
Fulfiling a Contract' FI75 (BAIAR)  HEAK!

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BAMBREEN  HSERRER
Framework' E3% (BFIX)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BEMBREEDN FEMKREE
2018-2020" CCHEY —E-\EE

e St 25
FRE

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)  Presentation of Financial BAREEST ZFIBBEE -
Statements - Classification (Z2=FF) ERAHEEER
by the Borrower of a Term Loan ERERERN
that Contains a Repayment on EHETET
Demand Clause? vkl

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new or revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. Up to now, the Group considers that these
standards will not have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial performance and financial position.

1 N —F— A Az &K
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2 NI =%—A—Hzk kMK
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosure
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost convention, except for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) as disclosed in the
accounting policies and explanatory notes below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current events
and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are summarised below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

4.1 Business combination and basis of 41 ¥ EHRGEREE

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. WWhere necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities
and assets meets the definition of a business and control
is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a
particular set of activities and assets is a business, the
Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive
processes and whether the acquired set has the ability to
produce outputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.1 Business combination and basis of

consolidation (continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group,
as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-
date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised
in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in
the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless
they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which
case the costs are deducted from equity.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Company. Profit or loss
and each component to other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this
results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value to the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest; and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present:
(i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (i) the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss,
if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree,
the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, by
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount
(see note 4.16), and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.3

4.4

Goodwill (Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial year. When
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is first
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset
will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to
below its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or
its value-in-use (if determinable), whichever is the higher.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
it operates) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.4 Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates approximating
to those ruling when the transactions took place are
used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the translation reserve
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

4.5 Property, plant and equipment 45 Y% - BERSEE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their
estimated residual value over their estimated useful life,
using straight-line method as follows:

ME - BB KR BN R 5
FEREMBEBREIIE Y
% BELAREBHEB KRB
HBEABREEEEZREKTER
BEEEA R K B ) (] H 8
EIGRA ©

WETRTIFEER  REMGFA
ERFEMULEARORET R - A
BRAKARERIHERE

Buildings 20 years BF —t+F
Leasehold improvements 410 5 years, or over MHEMFEE MERSF -

the lease terms, SHE W

whichever is shorter (UAEBEEA%E)

Machinery 10 years 2% T4
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 31to 5 years BRih - HER —Z=hF

I NEE
Motor vehicles 410 5 years B MEFRF

The assets’ estimated residual values, estimated useful
lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.6 Leasing - as lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases; and/or (i) leases for which the underlying
asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-
value assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term of less than 12 months. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the
cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The depreciation method used for
right-of-use assets is the same as that used for property,
plant and equipment. Right-of-use assets in which the
Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term. The depreciation rates of the
different classes of right-of-use assets are as follow:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)
46 HE -1FREABA @

4.6 Leasing — as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset (Continued) FEREEE (&)
Leasehold land 45 years HETH M+AHF
Office premises 4 to 5 years, or over the lease FENYIES MERF -
terms, whichever is shorter s E Hm
(LABRSZ & B2%E)
Office equipment 5 years PWAERME ik
Lease liability HERE

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to
be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect revised
in-substance fixed lease payments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

4.6 Leasing — as lessee (Continued) 46 HE -1FREABA @

Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of
any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or termination option
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the
revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is
similarly revised when the variable element of future lease
payments dependent on a rate or index is revised, except
the discount rate remains unchanged. In both cases, an
equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the
right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being
amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to
zero, any further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms
of a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results
in one or more additional assets being leased for an
amount commensurate with the standalone price for
the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification
is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease
(whether that is an extension to the lease term, or one
or more additional assets being leased), the lease liability
is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on
the modification date, with the right-of-use asset being
adjusted by the same amount. If the renegotiation results
in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying
amount of the lease liability and right-of-use asset are
reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial or
full termination of the lease with any difference recognised
in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted
to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of
the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term,
with the modified lease payments discounted at the rate
applicable on the modification date and the right-of-use
asset is adjusted by the same amount.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

HERE (B)

EAKBEESTAEENR
ZAEEE (i BARHEEHA
EABATTEERRR RS
ZAgEl) HERGBEZKREE
e TLARE  ARBRIMERTH
BRFTIEZ 3R - s SR E R IE
FIBRIR KETTRLIR - BHURK K
— MR 38 B R AR E R
AERREEIR HEREZ
REEREEER] - HERERR
FAE - RIULMEBRT @ 4
BEEZRREDSETHES
B gEesTREERFER (KE
7)) HEHAEE - WEREE
EZEMEABRET - QEME
— HHIRA R B T R

EASEELHEAREES K
REF AL - HEFHEHER
—fEkIA LREINEER L - H
SREMER 2 BIMERENE
BEREE  RAEEMIBR
T ZEREREBEEAR -
HEHEEAEERE (TR
FERAE IR N —TAKIA L
EEE) AEAETBEHER
ZARBRERHHE A EETERNRT
B FARHEREEEETHER
THEAE  MEHNGHEZHEE
HEG ) MHEREREMRE
BEZ REESIZER L FR
Do URBRE DK E AR
g EREERBEamTER - A
ERBEHERIEE—FTHE U
R EL BR T 5 R B3 100 5 HA AR 19
BB RERE  KEFTHE
ENFIRERT B @R 2 M R,
B mEREEEAETHRS
BRI ©

o



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)
4.7 BUN#Bh

4.7 Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets (including property, plant
and equipment) are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable and are
recognised as other revenue, rather than reducing the
related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate
of interest is treated as a government grant, measured
as the difference between proceeds received and the fair
value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.8

4.9

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the CGU
level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The
useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Financial instruments

() Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, and financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

The Group measured loss allowances for trade
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provisional matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised
cost, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &%=

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and i)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as
per globally understood definitions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

(b)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

4. ERETTHERME »

49 €W IT H &)

(ii)

MBEENRERSE (&)

@)

(b)

1 E R A NEE I
(%)

AEEBTHEZEAR
BRlEERRES

B8 3 0 Y 1R E B K
M WiEEHEER
BET - AERZIRE
BE £ 5K I8 281 H A 8t 5
EERBREAIRIEN o

ERTEE

SAREERRE 2
mE AEERA
EASHEANBDHIET
ke SN R IRTR 1T
BERBREHBATK
AIREEHAEEA (B
EALKHE) ER CRE
K &R B R 5 AR
o) RERE -

T EX BfE - A&
EHYRE BEHOR—
B EER BB
QOHEMEA - BRIEAR
EEEAERAREE
BEREMBRNE
HIZESE Blag -



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(©

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(d)

(€

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables from sales of apparels, when
the amounts are over one/ two year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &%=

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(€

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables and loans and
interest receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non-
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income
is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group’s financial liabilities at amortised cost
include trade payable, accruals and other payables,
other borrowings and lease liabilities.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.9

Financial instruments (continued)
(v)  Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets
the criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

4.10 Cash and cash equivalents

4.11

Cash and cash equivalents, including cash and bank
balances, comprise cash on hand and demand deposits
and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For
the purpose of cash flows presentation, cash and cash
equivalents include bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)
412 Share capital 412 BRAS

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares
are deducted from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental
costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.

4.13 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B A Y aE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ - - —F+—-A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

413 Revenue recognition (continued) 413 WA FERR ()

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.

Customers obtain control of the apparel products when
the goods are delivered to and have been regarded
as accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when
the customers received the apparel products. There is
generally only one performance obligation. The Group
does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to
the customer and payment by the customer exceeds
one year. Sales are made with a credit term from 10 to
180 days, which is consistent with market practice. As
a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money as no
significant financing component is deemed present and
the sales are made with the credit term.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers from the
sale of apparel products provide customers a right of
return. These rights of return allow the returned goods
to be refunded in cash. The right of return gives rise
to variable consideration. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until the
associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The
application of the constraint on variable consideration
increases the amount of revenue that will be deferred. In
addition, a refund liability and a right to return asset are
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis on
the principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Subcontracting income is recognised upon the
subcontracting goods are delivered and the customer has
accepted and obtained control of the goods.

Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods or
services to customer for which the Company has received
consideration, or for which an amount of consideration is
due from the customer.

Contract assets are rights to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Company has transferred to
a customer when that right is conditional on something in
additional to the passage of time.

4.14 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, ERSTHHERBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

4.14 Income taxes (Continued) 414 FR8% ()

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for (i) goodwill not deductible for tax purpose, (i) initial
recognition of assets and liabilities that are not part of the
business combination which affect neither accounting
nor taxable profits, and (iii) taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences are
not arising from initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction other than in a business combination that
affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the
asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.14 Income taxes (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are
also recognised directly in equity.

4.15 Employee benefit

()  Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group’s entities incorporated in Hong Kong
manages a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF scheme. The Group makes
contributions based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries funded by the Group and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF scheme.

The Group’s entities established in the People’s
Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong and Macau
(the “PRC”) make monthly contributions to a state-
sponsored defined contribution scheme for the
local staff. The contributions are made at a specific
percentage on the standard salary pursuant to laws
of the PRC and relevant regulation issued by local
social security authorities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.15 Employee benefit (continuead)

(i)

(ii)

Defined contribution retirement plan (Continued)

In addition, the Group’s entities incorporated in the
United States of America (the “USA”) make monthly
contributions to a defined contribution scheme under
the relevant federal program for the local staff. The
Group makes contributions based on a percentage
of the local staff’s funded by the Group and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
the rules of the scheme.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
when the services are rendered by the employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after
the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.16 Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and interests in
subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see note
4.3), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or cash generating unit.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. ERETBRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)
417 fE R AR

4.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Income earned on temporary investments
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on those
assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

4.18 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is
probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits that
can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.19 Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
services received is measured by reference to the fair
value of the options at the date of grant. Such fair value is
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve within
equity. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest at the end of each reporting period so
that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number of options that
eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are factored into
the fair value of the options granted. As long as all non-
market vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made
irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions
are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for
failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

4.20 Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.20 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

U)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viil

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

4.20 Related parties (continueq)

4.21

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its consolidated financial statements prepared
under HKFRSs, except bank interest income, unallocated
finance costs, and unallocated corporate expenses, which
are not directly attributable to the business activities of
any operating segment, are not included in arriving at the
operating results of the operating segment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Income taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes,
timing of payment of related taxes and interpretation
of relevant tax regulations. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

In addition, deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. This requires
significant judgement on the tax treatments of certain
transactions and also assessment on the probability that
adequate future taxable profits will be available for the
deferred tax assets to be recovered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

(b) Impairment of receivables

(c)

The impairment allowances for trade receivables, loans
and interest receivables and other receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected credit
loss rates. The Group adopts judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting inputs for computing such
impairment loss, broadly based on the available historical
data of the parties, existing market conditions including
forward-looking estimates at end of reporting period.

Impairment of inventories

Management of the Group reviews the inventories at each
reporting date, and makes provision for impairment of
obsolete, slow-moving and impaired items. Management
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the expected future market conditions
and the estimated selling price. The Group makes
provision for impairment if the net realisable value is below
the carrying amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

(e)

(including goodwill)

The Group assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill,
intangible asset with indefinite useful life and other non-
current assets as at 31 December 2021 based on higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD”) and
value-in-use (“VIU”). Preparing the VIU and FVLCOD
calculations require management to exercise significant
judgement and make critical accounting estimates,
particularly in relation to the determination of valuation
techniques and the selection of inputs like projected
cash flows during projection period, growth rates beyond
the projection period and discount rates to discount
the projected cash flows and cash flows beyond the
projection period.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment, the Group has to consider various factors,
such as expected usage of the asset, expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset,
and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The
estimation of the useful life of the asset is made based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that
are used in a similar way. Depreciation charge is revised
if the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant
and equipment are different from the previous estimation.
Estimated useful lives are reviewed, at the end of each
reporting period, based on changes in circumstances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 H{EZ —ZT - —F+—-A=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may earn
revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the basis of
the internal management reporting information that is provided
to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (being the executive directors of the Company)
in order to allocate resources and assess performance of the
segment. During the year, the Company has identified design,
manufacture and trading of apparels and provision for money
lending services as the reportable and operating segments of
the Group.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of them requires different business strategies.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain cash and bank balances and other corporate
assets not attributable to the reportable segments;

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
certain lease liabilities and other corporate liabilities not
attributable to the reportable segments; and

- segment results represent the loss or profit incurred or
earned by each segment without allocation of certain
other income, certain administrative expenses, such as
the Group’s headquarter administrative staff costs and
directors’ emoluments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

N p: N =
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6. oHER @
The segment information provided to the executive directors for FARPTESRHEN AT REDE2H
the reportable segments during the year is as follows: HERAT
Design,
Manufacturing Money
and trading lending
of apparels services Total
PREMRR &L - HEE
RERES R ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-B--%1Z8
=t-HLEE
Revenue from external customers REIMBE P HBA 129,254 10,564 139,818
Segment loss DEpEE (4,129) (20,521) (24,650
Bank interest income HITHISHA 1
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ESH (21,005)
Finance costs BEKA (366)
Loss before tax BRTG IR (46,020)
At 31 December 2021 R-E--F+-A=+-H
Segment assets NEEE 53,033 179,104 232,137
Other corporate assets HEfhRREBE 2,695
Total assets BEE 234,832
Segment liabilities AR 28,500 5,865 34,365
Other corporate liabilities HiarlafE 4,210
Total liabilities BeE 38,575
Other segment information Hit o HER
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-2-—-%5+ZA
=t-ALFE
Amounts included in the measurement st AGHE S B2k
of segment profit or loss DEVEEMFUR -
or segment assets:
Provision for inventories FERE (521) - (521)
Reversal of provision for ECL BoRNGIERDEE
on trade receivables BEREERD 125 - 125
Provision for ECL on loans and FERER R EBH
interest receivables EEEERE - (18,042) (18,042)
Loss arising from derecognition BRI R E S RAE
of loans and interest receivables MELNER - (3,959) (3,959)
Net fair value loss on financial WATEFEAEEHALH
assets at FVTPL BaRNIBEENLATE
BETE - (2,679) (2,679)
Subcontracting income, net MIWAFE 4,621 - 4,621
Depreciation (note (a)) & (K@) (3,508) (2,151) (5,659)
Capital expenditure (note (a)) BARZ (HE() 1,463 2,133 3,596
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEBEHR &)

FARATEFRENAIREDF LD
MERWT - (&)

The segment information provided to the executive directors
for the reportable segments during the year is as follows:

(Continued)
Design,
Manufacturing Money
and trading lending
of apparels services
FREMERAT - EXmA Total
ERES % Faks)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-Z5+_H
=t+-HLEFE
Revenue from external customers REINFEF KA 107,053 7,421 114,474
Segment loss AEER (14,646) (39,226) (53,872)
Bank interest income BITHBHA 693
Unallocated corporate expenses AOMAESH (13,544)
Finance costs BEKA (315)
Loss before tax BT ATEE (67,038)
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EF+-A=+-H
Segment assets DEEE 69,540 149,789 219,329
Other corporate assets EfhAREE 64,371
Total assets BEE 283,700
Segment liabilties AHARE 41,115 845 41,960
Other corporate liabilities HipArlafE 3,315
Total liabilities mak 45,275
Other segment information HfppER
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-Z5+-H
=t—HLEE
Amount included in the measure FAGES BB E Bk
of segment profit or BEMFUR :
loss or assets:
Provision for inventories FERE (2,634) - (2,634)
Reversal of provision for ECL BHRNGIERDEER
on trade receivables BEREED 8 - 8
Provision for ECL on loans ERER RN RS
and interest receivables EEEBRRE - (17,021) (17,021)
Impairment of goodwill HERE - (22,734) (22,734)
Subcontracting income, net MTWAFE 5,817 - 5,817
Depreciation (note (a)) iEAGEAR) (4,551) (2,159) (6,710)
Capital expenditure (note (a)) BARE (@) 79 - 79
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal places of the Group’s operations are in the PRC
(including Hong Kong). Management determines the Group
is domiciled in Hong Kong, the PRC, which is the Group’s
principal operating location. No revenue was earned from
transactions with other operating segments of the Group.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the
following geographical areas, based on locations of customers:

6.

DEER @)

ARARR—EREZERAR - MASK
B ENTBEMHUNTE (BRE
)  ERERTETEERLAEERE
AN BANMAARENEERS
HoFs - EAKBEMK LD BN S
EBREREI WA »

REER AN T P R ARIBR P AL
BIRATHEES -

2021 2020

—E-—F —=E=-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
The USA EH 89,056 100,037
Hong Kong 5% 40,106 12,665
Others Hip 10,656 1,772
139,818 114,474

Geographical location of external customers is based on the
location at which the customers are domiciled.

The principal non-current assets held by the Group are located
in the PRC (including Hong Kong).

SNERE P IR B RARBE PR &

gl e

AEEFENERIFRBEEDUNT
(BREE)
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Revenue from each of the major customers which accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

6. PEPER @

KEFREAREERAT10%A L
BEEXBEPHWRAHIIIMT :

below:
2021 2020
—E—fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Customer A HEH 30,749 50,399
Customer B BEL 29,435 N/A*
@A
Customer C ZFER 23,168 18,210

*

As at 31 December 2021, 12% (2020: 11%) of the Group’s
trade receivables was due from these customers. Revenue
earned from these customers were reported in the design,

The revenue from this customer accounted for less than 10% of the

Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020.

manufacturing and trading of apparels operating segment.

Note:

Depreciation and capital expenditures, which represent the depreciation,

12% (=

REZEFPHRAGAEEEEZE T
EF+_A=+—HILEFEHRAIR

10% °

S

FRrEE et 2 2 IR AR ERET  BUE

RESEEH
it
(@)

additions and lease modifications of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets as disclosed in note 14 and note 15, have been

RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—80  ZE%
FRERBEEAEEE S ERKED
T_FTF11%) c REZER

= — =<

EFFA TS ETEREARFR @ B
14 RIFE15 PIR B - BB RREN
e FERAEERAREREEE

included in:
Design,
manufacturing
and trading Money lending
of apparels services Unallocated  Consolidated
PREfaREt -
HERER  ERRERE RAE &
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET TR TR TET
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--FE+-A=t-HLEE
Depreciation e 3,508 2,151 1,229 6,888
Capital expenditures ERET 1,463 2,133 676 4,272
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-FE+t-A=+-HLEE
Depreciation nE 4,551 2,159 1,334 8,044
Capital expenditures BEARHY 79 - 2,046 2,125
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

WA R E At A R W 3

WASERWE SRR SIA - BREFEEE
WA WERERE  FINMEHES
BARTIR - BAASEEEERBHE—
FHBRBENRHES -

7. REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7.

Revenue represents the interest income from loans receivables,
and revenue from sales of apparels, net of returns, discounts
and sales related taxes. Further details regarding the Group’s
principal activities are disclosed in note 6.

ZK%lPKEEﬁiE)E.:,’JE’JH& i S
TR A SHE Bl - AEERIK
s AN EA WA Rz DT

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers represents
revenue from sales of goods which is recognised on a point in
time basis. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income
and gains are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT T
Revenue from contracts REEFZFAHOHIWE :
with customers:
Sales of goods HEEMm 129,254 107,053
Revenue from other source: R EH AR :
Interest income from loans receivable  FEUE ZXEYFI B UL A 10,564 7,421
Total revenue FEU PN 139,818 114,474
Other gains and losses, net Hnlh = &% 518 F 58
Net fair value loss on financial UAFEZ B8 A S HHER
assets at FVTPL R E ER AT EEIEF5E (2,679) =
Bank interest income IR1THIBULA 1 693
Subcontracting income, net (note a) MU AFEE (Fista) 4,621 5,817
Government subsidies (note b) BAS &R (FiFEb) 1,764 2,446
Loss arising from derecognition of KRR E R R FE
loans and interest receivables mEEAEE (FI5E20)
(note 20) (3,959) —
Sundry income B A 2,083 707
1,831 9,663
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

7. REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. WAREMWAR IS

(Continued) (#&)

Note: Mit3E

(@  Subcontracting income, net refers to other income generated from (@ MIRAFHEEAEERNZFIRERME
provision of assembling service on apparels by the Group to customers, ARG E AR E A A (L HBR RFE A A
after deduction of cost of services mainly including staff cost and material (FEBEEIRARMEIKAA) &) ©
cost.

(o)  For the year ended 31 December 2020, included in profit or loss is by #HEZF-_ZTF+-_A=1+—RHLFE"
HK$2,050,000 of government grants obtained from Employment Support WE BRI T I BT A [ B &
Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong EEe| BT [RHFE] T8 (R E
Kong SAR Government supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees. 2] A AR EE S FEENBITHE
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on 812,050,000 CE 5t Al o 1BIR [R5
payroll expenses, and not reduce employee head count below prescribed X8 AEBAAGEBZEREBAR
levels for a specified period of time. The Group does not have other ey TERTHBEATSEES L
unfulfiled obligations relating to this program. ABURDEREKRFELAT o REEWEE

fb B ETEI BRI MR BITEE -
For the year ended 31 December 2021, included in profit or loss is BHE_T-_—F+-A-+—HIEFE"
HK$1,714,000 of government grants obtained from Paycheck Protection WEBIBATH L [ TERERT S]] LA
Program launched by the United States Government supporting the AEEREFSRBAEHS I EENK
payroll of the Group’s employees and office rental expense. The Group FI#BN1,714,0008 T E 5T ABz - K&
does not have other unfulfiled obligations relating to this program. [ o B B S B A R M ANE TR AT ©

The performance obligation of sale of goods is satisfied upon HEE BT R RRUARER

delivery and acceptance of the apparel products and payment EmEET  B—RMARRFER10

is generally due within 10-180 days from delivery. Some Z180 HREEEHN R - HEL A

contracts provide customers with a right of return which gives BEPRMHRERE  EXAORBRH TES

rise to variable consideration subject to constraint. AERAE -

The disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with AEBERBHERFE A2 9 E L0

customers are as follows: N

Design, manufacturing and
trading of apparels
REnERET - RERES
2021 2020
B —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHT

Geographical markets @ H 5%

The USA =S 89,056 100,037

Hong Kong B 29,452 5,244

Others Hfb 10,746 1,772

Total revenue from contracts REHEEF SR EEE

with customers 129,254 107,053
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z —ZF ——

Bt 75 ¥ R B

FH-A=t—HLFE

REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. WAREMWAR IS
(Continued) (#&)
The following table provides information about trade receivables TRER/REHETFPEAME ZEKK
and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. Iﬁ&é%@f@lfﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂ °
2021 2020
—B-—F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Trade receivables (note 19) 2 S WA (FisE19) 27,486 19,136
Contract liabilities (note 26) a#8aE (Misk26) 529 2,551

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts of apparel products and therefore no information is
disclosed for revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under the
contracts for apparels production that had an original expected
duration of one year or less.

REBHERMEMNFEESORAE
R - Eb S ERBERAER
M A B A R RIEEARAIR 23— S 3k
ATEZBER A KA FTHRISRENE
& o

FINANCE COSTS 8. BLERMZA
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T
Interest on borrowings BH B 141 =
Interest on lease liabilities HERENE 225 315
366 315
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9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

9. BRFTEHAIGE

BR TS AT B 1R )58 H

B/ GEA) T

P ZIBIEEEE

2021 2020
—EB-—F ZECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREM BN £ 798 750
Duty and import fee* B RENER” 4,524 4,588
Overseas delivery expenses* INERFAT 8,797 6,298
Legal and professional expenses’ ERREERT 5,025 3,789
Cost of inventories recognised B R AR B
as expense (note (1)) (BEEE () 101,119 89,517
Depreciation of property, plant Y - BB REEITE
and equipment (note 14) (FfizE14) 2,341 2,435
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE (MF15)
assets (note 15) 4,547 5,609
Foreign exchange loss, net ME N R IR R 219 71
Impairment on inventories FERE 521 2,634
Reversal of ECL on trade Z S EWFIaTEREEEERD
receivables (note 19) (FF5E19) (125) 8)
Provision for ECL on loans and EWE R T SFBHREEEERE
interest receivables (note 20) (FF5E20) 18,042 17,021
Short-term lease expense EHEEER 352 872
Share-based compensation LARS {7 72 EE 11 9 3 P
(including employee benefit) (BREEERMN) 3,741 -
Employee benefit expense EERAMXZ
(including directors’ emoluments (BRESME (MsE10))
(note 10))
— Wages and salaries -TEKRF® 38,175 41,891
— Pension scheme contribution RIRETEIHE K
— defined contribution plans - REMRFETE 779 1,844
— Share-based compensation — LAR& 5 /5 EE i A SR A 2,897 -
— Other benefits — H A4 A 857 1,656

* Included in selling and distribution expenses

A Included in administrative expenses

Note:

FEIAHERDHER

A FTATTHR X

(i) Cost of inventories mainly includes material costs of approximately (i)
HK$73,512,000 (2020: HK$58,289,000), subcontracting charges of
approximately HK$12,484,000 (2020: HK$13,902,000), and staff costs of
approximately HK$11,259,000 (2020: HK$13,179,000).

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

BFERAEZBIEMBIK AL 73,512,000

(= T = T # 58,289,000/
JT) ~ H0 T & A #912,484,0005% 7T ( =
T — T 4 :13,9020008 ) R E T
AR 911,259,000 T (Z =T F
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of each of the directors for the years

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 10. EE@H%&EH%EﬁHﬁA

(a) EEME

R FEEBREZTME N

presented are set out below: ™
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  contributions compensation Total
0119/ DY
ok EUEA  BAGHEMR  AERNEM @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n T#n T#n T#n T#n
Year ended 31 December 2021 Bz-E--f
tZR=1-HLEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (‘Ms. Tin') Bzt ((Akt]) - 1,200 18 1,153 2371
M. Cheung Ka Lung FRELE - 2,068 18 136 2222
Mr. Guo Lin Mk
(resigned with effect from 11 January 2021) ~ (B=F=—%—F+— A&k - 3 1 - 36
M. Jiang Mingsheng ZREEE
(resigned with effect from 11 January 2021) ~ (B=F=—F— A+ AHE) - 18 - - 18
M. Jiang Tianging BREERE
(resigned with effect from 11 January 2021~ (B-F-—5-F+—B#FE) - 18 - - 18
M. Chan Ming Leung Terence RARLSE
(appointed with effect fom 2 August 2021)  (B=Z-—F/\F-HREZRT) - 32 6 136 465
Mr. Gong Xiaohan L2 S
(appointed vith effect from 8 December 2021)  (B=2-—%+-f/\B&
Ez{) - 130 - 1,153 1,283
- 3,192 43 2,578 6,413
Independent non-executive directors: BUAHIEE:
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon WAk e 240 - - 68 308
Mr. Hon Mg Sang BIEE 240 - - 68 308
M. Wu Fei RRAE
(resigned with eflect from 18 January 2021)  (B=Z=—%-F1/\BEEE) 12 - - - 12
Ms. Lo Wing Sze %E;Mzi
(appointed vith effect fom 22 Janvary 2021)  (B=F=—4-B-+_Ri
B2t ) 26 - - 68 204
718 - - 204 922
Total emoluments Hees 884 3,626 4 2,782 7,335
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST

PAID INDIVIDUALS (continueq)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of each of the directors for the years

10 EEMERABREFA

mall-)
(a) EEME »

R FEBREZTME N

presented are set out below: (Continued) T (&)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  contributions  compensation Total
58 2R AR
we BURR  RIGHEMS  RERNEHM &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Tin Thn Tin i
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-B-BET-A-T-HLER
Executive directors: Hi7E%
Ms. Tin A&t - 1,200 18 - 1218
M. Cheung Ka Lung FHRELE - 2502 18 - 2520
M. Guo Lin s - 1,200 18 - 1218
Mr. Jiang Mingsheng ZREEE - 600 - - 600
M. Jiang Tianging BfEELE - 600 - = 600
- 6,102 54 - 6,156
Independent non-executive alrectors: BUFHTES
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon WAk s 240 - - - 240
M. Hon Ming Sang BiEETE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lyu Hongbing BHLEEE
(resigned with effect fom 7 September2020)  (B-Z-TENA+LEEER) 165 - - - 165
M. Wu Fel RRfL 240 - - - 240
885 - - - 885
Total emoluments gt 885 6,102 54 = 7,041
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10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

1a§$M$&£%%%ﬁA
(%)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=EM= @
Notes: F3E
The remuneration of the directors disclosed above only included EXFBRBENEETMERERSE
their remuneration during the period when they are holding the RYEEAR QR E S8 A A B
office as directors of the Company. & o
i. The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly i. FRBTEENTHEZEEBES
for their services in connection with the management of the affairs MEEAQN R RAEEEFHAIR M
of the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive RIARTS o BB IEMITE FRIFT
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services MEZBRBESERARAIETES
as directors of the Company. FriR it m AR TS o
- d=— o
(b) Senior management’s emoluments (b) SREEENME

Senior management includes directors and other senior
executives. The analysis of the emoluments for senior
management excluding the directors, whose details have

EREEERREFLREMSR

THAR -

mREEE (TEH

FIRE RN E10@QHES)

been reflected in note 10(a), for the year is set out below: B BH NN T -
2021 2020
—E- —ECEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Salaries, allowances e ERMREYET

and benefits in kind 1,055 3,390
Pension scheme contribution RIRFT B 18 36
Share-based compensation LARSAD 75 EL At B SR A 12 -
1,085 3,426
The emoluments of the senior management excluding the RREEAENTMER TIE

directors fell within the following bands:

:

Number of employees

EEAH
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 57T =E 1,500,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001 /7T & 2,500,000 /87T - 1
1 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 10. ESMleRABESHA
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continueq) T

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEEmEEHAL

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included
3 (2020: 3) directors/former director for the year, whose
emoluments are reflected in note 10(a). The analysis of the
emoluments of the remaining 2 (2020: 2) highest of the
five paid individuals for the year is set out below:

AFEARBNTLRRHFAL
BE=# (CB-FF: Z4) &
NEF PMEERR
FEREE10() - BRBBHALE
BTMAE (CE=2F : W) R

KEEHMESHHTIT
2021 2020
—E-—F —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Salaries, allowances e EEREYET
and benefits in kind 3,377 3,390
Pension scheme contribution RIRETEMEFR 36 36
Share-based compensation LARRAR £ EE 01 5 HR A 12 -
3,425 3,426

Number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

MERENATHBENFEERS
HREEAZT

Number of employees

BE AR
2021 2020
—E-—F —T_TF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001 ZE7TZE 2,500,000 % 7T 1 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
no director or any of the highest paid individuals waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments and there were no
emoluments paid by the Group to the directors or any of
the highest paid individuals of the Group as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. 88

2021 2020
—E-—F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT

Current income tax charged REEAHFRAEHAX

for the year:

Hong Kong profits tax BEFEH 251 79
Deferred tax (note 29) EIERIE (F3E29) - 998
251 1,077

(i)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”) and the Cayman lIslands, the Group is not
subject to any taxation under these jurisdictions.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of qualified
entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25% (2020:
8.25%), which is in accordance with the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime.

PRC EIT is provided at 25% (2020: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiary for the
year.

Under the law of the PRC on EIT, corporate withholding
income tax is levied on the foreign investor for the
dividends distributed out of the profits generated by the
foreign investment enterprises. The Group’s applicable
withholding income tax rate is 5% (2020: 5%).

The USA CIT comprises federal income tax calculated at
15% and state and local income tax calculated at various
rates on the estimated assessable profits of the Group’s
subsidiary in the USA.

(i)

(iv)

RERBEBARES ((RBER
REE] MRASEEMRAIE
Bl NEEBBBERNZS B
[ BV EfRIARIR o

BEENEHERAFECREBEL
B EETERBUE A 16.5% (= F
ZTF 16.5%) 5t H - BRIBE
MBHFIERE  EEREEN
B 2,000,000 7T & &R Bt i F 4%
8.25% (—ZFE —FTF : 8.25%) &f
it o

B TSR IR AN S E
MiB A RANFEE Rt RS
ME25% (—B-F4F : 25%) &t
=R -

BEREMEMERE - HIN
REERNECERMEEZ B
DR B BB EBNAE
i REEBRZBIAMERHR
KRAEE5%(ZTE_FF : 5%) o

XBECEMEREREARER
BB 2 B A9 {5 FE SR T4
IR 15% 5T H BB FDPT1SHEIA K&
BARBR R E /M R TT FiF
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

12.

13.

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before
income tax at the statutory tax rate to the income tax expense

11.

e @)

BORTE B R ET B HIBR 1S3 Al B 188
MPTSHRFAX - EIRERRRE TN

at the effective tax rate is as follows: SRR HEERAT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Loss before income tax bR PSR S 18 (46,020) (67,038)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable LAE AR B BRI ARk
to profits in the tax BRI R ENTIE
jurisdictions concerned (8,626) (11,655)
Tax effect of non-taxable and BAR R TR H
non-deductible items, net TR B EE 6,928 7,614
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR EE BTG E 1,949 5,118
Income tax expense FrS B2 251 1,077
DIVIDENDS 12. B2
No interim dividend was declared during the year (2020: Nil) and AERFVESRFPERE (ZZE=F
the board of directors of the Company does not recommend the F - ﬁéﬂi\) - BARRESTETERLRN
payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December HE-T— —¢+ A=T—HIEFE
2021 (2020: Nil). E’HEHEH S (ZEZTF ) -
LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$46,271,000 (2020: HK$68,115,000) by the weighted
average number of 1,690,000,000 (2020: 1,690,000,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

As 60,000,000 share options granted by the Company under its
share option scheme on 8 December 2021 had an antidilutive
effect to the basic loss per share calculation for the year ended
31 December 2021, the diluted loss per share was the same as
the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

BREANEBEBIIZANRRER AEMN
E518#0 46,271,000 87T (ZE =T 4F :
68,115,000 7T) BRIAFRNE #ITEB
A% &9 0 4 - +5 £11,690,000,000 f% (=
T T4 1 1,690,000,000 %) 5+& -
HRAARBRBER=_E=_—F+=A1
N\ B KB IS 21 AT H /960,000,000
mEREHEEZE_Z-_—F+_A
=+ —HILEFENSREAEENGE
EREENE Bt BEZT=——F
T A=T—HIFENEGREEEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BERRKE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings  improvements Machinery  equipment vehicles Total
il - %EBR
BF HENERE BE  BOZERE RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TRL T T T T
Year ended 31 December 2020 EZ-Z-EF+-A=t1-ALFE
Opening net camyingamount ~~ FAIBASE 7,002 2,602 864 668 159 1153
Depreciation nE (719) (1,266) (162) (259) (31) (2,435)
Fxchange differences EiER 439 - 51 19 11 520
Closing net carrying amount ERERFE 6,743 1556 753 429 139 9,620
At 31 December 2020 R-B-2F+-A=t-H
and 1 January 2021 k=%--%-f-H
Cost A 16470 1,817 3,856 9,131 1563 42,837
Accumulated depreciation ZiE 9.727) (10,261) (3,109) 8,702) (1,424) (33.217)
Net carrying amount REYE 6,743 1556 753 429 139 9,620
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZ=S--F+-A=t-RILEE
Openingnet camyingamount ~ FAIREFE 6,743 1,556 753 429 139 9,620
Additions AE - - - 451 280 731
Depreciation ik (752) (1,266) (117) (183) (79) (2,341)
Exchange differences 5 ES 193 - 2 10 3 27
Closing net carrying amount ~ EREREFE 6,184 200 657 757 349 8,297
At 31 December 2021 RZB-F+ZA=t-H
Cost A 16,967 11,959 3973 9,677 1,726 44,302
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (10,783) (11,669) (3,316) (8,920) (1,377) (36,065)
Net carrying amount FEFE 6,184 290 657 751 349 8,237

As at 31 December 2021, gross carrying amount of
HK$4,831,000 (2020: HK$4,689,000) of leasehold
improvements and HK$300,000 (2020: HK$300,000) of motor

vehicles were fully depreciated but still in use by the Group.

R_ZE—_—F+-_A=+—8 " HEY
¥H{£4,831,0008 T (T _TF:
4,689,000% 7t.) & )4 B 300,000 7T
(ZZ =4 : 300,000/87T) HERME 4
SHECRBTERDNARNEEFEH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EFEEE
Leasehold Office Office
land premises  equipment Total
HELH BAME BWLAERE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TERT Tix
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-ZF+-A=t-H
EEE
Opening net carrying amount FONREFE 1,625 7,372 825 9,822
Depreciation e (50) (5,323) (236) (5,609)
Effect of modification to lease terms ~~ TAEAE e/ & - 2,125 - 2,125
Exchange differences R 107 - - 107
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 1,682 4,174 589 6,445
At 31 December 2020 R-E-ZEF+-A=1-H
and 1 January 2021 k=E-_-F%-H-H
Cost A 2,339 13,181 1,177 16,697
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (657) (9,007) (588) (10,252)
Net carrying amount IREFE 1,682 4,174 589 6,445
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZ-_Z-_-&£+-fF=1+-H
IEEE
Opening net carrying amount FOEREFE 1,682 4,174 589 6,445
Depreciation e (50) (4,262) (235) (4,547)
Addition NE - 3,541 - 3,541
Exchange differences BXER 47 - - 47
Closing net carrying amount FREMFE 1,679 3,453 354 5,486
At 31 December 2021 R-ZZB=Z-%+ZA=+-H
Cost A 2,339 16,722 1,177 20,238
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (660) (13,269) (823) (14,752)
Net carrying amount IREFE 1,679 3,453 354 5,486

The Group’s right-of-use assets represented by leasehold land
comprise leasehold interests in a land in the PRC and held

under long-term lease.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

16. GOODWILL

The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from
business combination, is as follows:

16. &

EGAMELEAMEBFEENDE
AW

2021 2020

—E-—F —TTF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHAT

Cost at 31 December RN+ = A=+—B2ZKikA& 99,109 99,109
Accumulated impairment losses RETREEE (64,477) (64,477)
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+ZA=+—RZKREE 34,632 34,632
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible SREARNE  BERETEENE

asset are allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) in
relation to the Group’s provision of money lending services
(“Money Lending CGU”) in Hong Kong.

The recoverable amount of Money Lending CGU has been
determined from value-in-use calculation based on cash flow
projections from formally approved budgets by management
covering a five-year period. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 12.7% (2020: 12.3%). Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady
growth rate of 2% (2020: 3%), which does not exceed the long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry in Hong Kong. The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflected specific risks relating
to the relevant Money Lending CGU. The growth rate of cash
flows of 2% (2020: 3%) within the five-year period have been
based on past experience.

EREASEREBREERBERSEA
MNRSELEM ((REELBM])
([EFRMERTELSNM]) -

fffﬁmﬂiéfﬁiﬁiﬁum—mﬁ %ME
BRERAFHEAREREIENTEE
FERERERAGFENEREERRE
FeoBmARNESRERAMNIIRES
127% (ZZF_FF : 12.3%) - BiBH
Eﬁqmiﬁi&/}\LETZEF*EiﬁTZ%( =
T_TF 3%) HE  ZBERE
HBEEFENEETERRPIERE - ﬁfrﬁﬁ
R ERATAMIRE - REEEAEN
MERSELBUAEBANSTERR - IR
%/}IhiZ%(—?—?ﬂE 3%) E"jﬂﬂz
HIERRIRBELRMET -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. B2 »)

The key assumptions used in the budget plan are as follow:

Discount rate — the discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks related to the CGU.

Long term growth rate — the weighted average growth rate used
to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

No impairment was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2021 as the recoverable amount of the Money Lending CGU
was higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2021.

As the Group’s customers for Money Lending CGU are mainly
in Hong Kong, the Money Lending CGU is heavily influenced
by the Hong Kong economy. The outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic during the year ended 31 December 2020 had
unavoidably posed negative impact on the outlook of the
Money Lending CGU and an impairment loss of goodwill of
approximately HK$22,734,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to write down the carrying amount
of the Money Lending CGU to its recoverable amount of
HK$41,000,000 as at 31 December 2020.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

ARAEF SRR REAT

BEE - FRBRE ARABRE
RIS & 7 A B A BV R R L -

RYERE - AARHEENERS
RENHIMETLSERE -

HREXBEReEAEMM KBS
HoRER T —F+_-_A=+—H
RAREE - AEBIERBE T ——F
+ZA=+—HIFEEREE -

HRASERERRERSEAEN
NEPETZMUNES  ARERRE
REELBMNIAXBEELENTE -
HE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HIF
ENIEZEH COVID-19R E T E Rt ¢
HWHERMERSEAEUMNAI=E
KEAYE BEREBE_ZT_=F
T A=T—BILFERANERERE
522,734,000 7T - A ERHMER
CEABMMNEAEMREZEER =S
—EFT A=+ —HWAKE S
41,000,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSET

1. BN EE

Money
lending
license

ERmERR
HK$°000
FERT

Cost and carrying value RAR REE
As at 31 December 2020,

1 January and 31 December 2021

R-Z2-Z2F+-A=+—-8"
—E-—-f5-A—-HBERt=A=+—H 800

The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every
year at minimal cost. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group would renew the license continuously
and has the ability to do so. Various studies including product
life cycle studies, market, competitive and environmental trends,
and brand extension opportunities have been performed by
management of the Group, which supports that the license has
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the provision of
services restricted by license are expected to generate net cash
flows for the Group.

As a result, the license is considered by the management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected
to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will
not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead, it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

For the key assumptions applied in determination of value-in-
use calculation of Money Lending CGU containing the license,
please refer to note 16 for details.

JRRR 2 AR FEH A F o BRARERK
AEFEH - AR ESRAELEEE
SRERIERER WAL - K
SEEREECHETZIENRRE  BREEM
FHIAR - ™5 - BRERIREBE - U
R EIEAE - 2SR FFERE
HA TR HABR &1 - M iRt Ex R AR AR il 2
FRIG AT A E F R A AL B S RKIRE
TMEFHE o

At - AEEESRERALISRLAE
REMEL - EAEHRETERE
ERLTAFE - SRR AEAE
H e AR AT T R TR -

WMWK - ISR & SR TREN
0 NIRRT R R
TR -

FRARANETES MR ERRER
TEABMFEREEFEZBRRR
BAZGREDMZFHE - B2HME
16 °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &ZE — T~ —

FH-A=t—HILFE

A
18. INVENTORIES 18. 75
2021 2020
—EC--F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Raw materials and consumables R R FEM 2,053 4,051
Work in progress 8 170 864
Finished goods SR ah 3,793 7,056
6,016 11,971
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EZ EIRRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET F&T
Trade receivables 2 5 W IR 28,006 19,781
Less: impairment loss B RBEEE (520) (645)
27,486 19,136

B 5 RIS

RIRIZRERERR - AZF

Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice
amounts which represented their fair values at initial recognition.
The Group’s trade receivables are attributable to a number of
independent customers with credit terms. The Group normally
allows a credit period ranging from 10 to 180 days (2020: 10 to
180 days) to its customers. Trade receivables are non-interest
bearing.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

E SRR IR RN QAT E -
AEENE ZREFERNZEAHRE
BEHBLER - Zliﬁl;_%/&a?ﬁ%
ENFI0E180K(ZE-ZF
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

19. EZEWRIE @)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date and

net of loss allowance is as follows:

RIBZHZBHNE SRR (FNRE
BERE) RESITIT -

2021 2020

—E-—F —TTHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

0 to 30 days 0£230H 20,037 8,897
31 to 60 days 31E260H 6,037 4,403
61 to 90 days 61290 H 73 2,230
91 to 180 days 912180 H 154 913
Over 180 days HBi® 180 H 1,185 2,693
27,486 19,136

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment on trade

receivables are as follows:

& 5 KB R E R R R B 2B
T :

HK$’000

FAET

At 1 January 2020 RZE_ZTF—H—H 653

Reversal of loss allowance recognised FABERHEEERERD

during the year 8)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R-B-ZEF+=-A=+—H

r—ZE—_—F—H—H 645

Reversal of loss allowance recognised during the year 4 R FERE 1B B O (125)

At 31 December 2021 R=ZB=—F+=HA=+—8H 520

Annual Report 2021 E#R

179



180

Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

The Group provided for impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note
4.9(ii). The Group did not hold any collateral as security over the
trade receivables. However, in order to minimise the credit risk
of not receiving payments from its customers, the Group has
entered into arrangements with a financial institution in the USA
and a bank in Hong Kong (which in turn entered into certain
arrangement with an insurance company in this connection),
and Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation (a
statutory body which provides Hong Kong exporters with
insurance protection against non-payment risks arising from
commercial and political events), which offered trade receivable
credit protection arrangement against the Group’s trade
receivables for certain major customers. As at 31 December
2021, trade receivables of approximately HK$16,532,000 (2020:
HK$15,323,000) were under such arrangements of which
if the Group ultimately becomes unable to collect the trade
receivables, the Group will be entitled to receive compensation
for the trade receivables from the financial institution, the bank
or the statutory bodly.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customers
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

19. ESRIRFIE &

A& BB IR M 5 4.901) FTol & 5 BUR
RENFE A ANRBE_E_ZFR=
T-NEF+-_A=+—HLFERNRE
BIEELEE - AEBTERE SRR
REFETAEER - A - AREMH
REZERPREGENERARR @ &
SEEREE —REBEBREE X
BITEREBLOERRRE (—FE
¥ REBUREMHEKRENRRRTSD
AERERBRIRE 2 A ERE) - 5]
ZHE (Maz R RE R RTTRIBL L BR{R
BRNREI VA TRE) RETEER
FiMs AREENE ZRKGERHE
SEWFIBEERRELZE - RZT=—
F+-H=+—H " #16,532,000/%
T (ZZT =T : 15,323,000/ 7T) &Y
B SR HBZENEBELHRE @ &
It - ANARE B ERAR R AU E B 5 UK
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq) 19. E 5 FEIRFIE )
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TR BRI EHEASEEZ S
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provisional matrix: EW IR EERRER
2021 —B-—F
For the receivables under credit protection arrangement: BEAREZ BB
Past due
ag
Less than 3to6 6to 12 Over
Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
TEA 3% 6%
B 3fEA 618 A 12f8F HB1§ Eokc)
ECL rate %EH}M EEEx 0.6% 1.5% 3% 5% 10%
Gross carrying amount ABEE (TET)

(HK$000) 15,037 1,336 159 - - 16,532
ECLs (HK$'000) EHEEESE (T51) 75 20 5 - - 100
For the receivables without credit protection B AREZHENERRIE
arrangement:

Past due
el

Less than 3to6 6to 12 Over

Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
TEA 3z 6%

B EA 3fEA 618 A 12f8F HB1F ke

ECL rate HEEEEREX 1% 3% 6% 10% 20%

Gross carrying amount  BRE #2448 (?ﬁém)

(HK$'000) 9,870 - - - 1,604 11,474

ECLs (HK$000) BHEEBE (TAT) 99 - - - 321 420
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

19. ESRIRFIE &

2020 —ECIBE
For the receivables under credit protection arrangement: B ERRETHNERRE :
Past due
b
Less than 3106 6to12 Over
Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
TiEh 3z 6%
A 3fEA 61 A 121 ER1F e
ECL rate HBHEEERX 0.6% 1.5% 3% 5% 10%
Gross carryingamount  BREAS%E (F&T)

(HK$’000) 12,107 2,917 85 - 214 15,323
ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEBE (TET) 77 44 3 = 21 145
For the receivables without under credit protection BERAREZHENERRIE
arrangement:

Past due
gl

Less than 3106 6to12 Over

Current 3 months months months 1 year Total
TiER 3z 62

N 31EA 61& A 128  HB1F Fk]

ECL rate BHEEEEX 1% 3% 6% 10% 20%

Gross carryingamount  BREASE (FiET)

(HK$’000) 955 902 - 567 2,034 4,458

ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEEHE (TAT) 9 27 — 57 407 500
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

20. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

20. RIRER KT

2021 2020
—E-—-F —ZEETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T
Non-current JEBNHR
Loans receivable U E TR 1,807 =
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (4) -
1,803 -
Current BN EA
Loans receivable FEUE TR 143,913 123,763
Interest receivables JrE LRI 8, 4,998 4,808
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (36,047) (19,809)
112,864 108,762
114,667 108,762

The Group’s loans and interest receivables, which arose from
the money lending business of providing corporate loans,
personal loans and property mortgage loans in Hong Kong, are
denominated in HK$.

As at 31 December 2021, loans and interest receivables of
carrying amount of HK$81,420,000 (2020: HK$58,901,000)
were unsecured while remaining loans and interest receivables
of carrying amount of HK$33,247,000 (2020: HK$49,861,000)
were secured by charges over certain properties in Hong Kong
and personal assets such as diamonds and jewelries, and
guaranteed by certain independent third parties. The interest
rates on all loans receivable are from 2.3% to 30% (2020: 3% to
36%) per annum and loans receivable are due within 24 months
(2020: 12 months) and contain repayment on demand clause.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting
date is the carrying value of the loans and interest receivables
mentioned above.

AEE R I E TR BIABTTEHE -
ELAREBRHEEER  AAER
EMFEZBERNERBE XL -

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8" KA
{8 /481,420,000 7% 7T K FE 0 & 3 & F|
SEEE(=-ZZ=Z 4 : 58,901,000
BIr) AEER MHRTEEEA
33,247,000 % 7T & FE U B 3k & F) 2 BR
HE (ZE =% : 49,861,000/%8 7T)
HERETESMERBEALE (i
ERIRE) (FIEF - WEREBETBISE
ZHER - 2HEKREROF RIZF
ME23%FEI0%(ZE_ZF : 3% &
36%) st EREWEZR24EA (=F
ZETF - 12{8A) REIE - WEHAEZ
ERERER - RERSEBHHRAE
BERKE FRER R ERF SHERE
{g o

Annual Report 2021 E#R

183



184

Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

20. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s
credit quality and defines credit limits granted to borrowers.
Limits attributed to borrowers are reviewed by the management
regularly.

As at the reporting date, the Group reviewed its loans and
interest receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual
and collective basis. The Group recognised impairment loss on
individual assessment based on the accounting policy stated in
note 4.9(ii) under HKFRS 9.

The Group has measured impairment loss for loans and interest
receivables based on 12-month ECLs unless there have been
a significant increase in credit risk since origination, then the
allowance will be based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
assessed the ECLs on loans and interest receivables based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. As at 31 December 2021, provision
for impairment of approximately HK$32,411,000 (2020:
HK$1,800,000) was made on loans and interest receivables
that were credit-impaired, and provision for impairment of
approximately HK$1,800,000 (2020: nil) was written-off.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

20. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continues)  20. FEIRE R R FIR ()

The movements in provision for impairment of loans and interest
receivables are as follows:

FERE R EF SR ERENEZINT

2021 2020
—EC-- “Z°%F
Non credit- Credit- Non credit- Credt-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
Provision for impairment AEERE BEERE AEERE EEERE
measured at 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL | 12-monthECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
HERGENTERS 1288 HED HES 12f08 e FES
ENGERE RNGEFE ROGEEE | BOGEEE BHRESE RHEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS" 000 HKS" 000 HKS" 000
T Thn Thn T T T
At beginning of year REA] 153 17,856 1,800 989 - 1799
Transfer to 12 month ECL gR 1 EAREEERR 486 (486) - - -
- non credit-impaired - XEERE
Transfer to Lifetime ECL EYSHENRNEERR 22 2 - (909) 909
- non credlt-mpaired - KEERE
Transfer to Lifetime ECL BYSHFENRAEEFR (102) (13,678) 13,780 - -
- credit-mpaired -EERE
Charged for the year (note 9) Epuik: (F320) 384 (973) 18,631 7 16947 1
Witen-of Hs - - (1,800) - -
Atend of year RER 899 2,14 32,411 153 17,856 1,800
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

FEWERRAE @)

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying TREEREBKER R EHREASEE
amount of the loans and interest receivables that explain their 23 AREERHEYEKRER R STEE

20. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continuea) ~ 20.

significance to the changes in the ECL allowances for loans and

interest receivables:

EERBRBEHNERL

2021 2020
ka3 2
Non credit- Credit- Non credit- Credt-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
Loans and interest REEHE BEERE AEERE EEERE
receivables, measured at 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL | 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
EYEHRASKESLEN 12f8A HES HES 12{8A FES FES
tEAR BBEERE RHCEFE ROGEEE | BHGEEE BHRESE RHGEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HKS" 000 HKS' 000
TR TR TR Tihn Thn Thn
Gross carrying amount as R-A—H 61,831 64,940 1,800 113,489 - 1,800
at1 January LEIRSE
Transfer to 12 month ECL EVZ2{IREEEEER 9,099 (9,099) - = = =
- non credit-impaired - XEERE
Transfer to Lifetime ECL EYSHENRNEERR (9,125) 9,125 - (64,275) 64,275 -
- non credlt-mpaired - KEERE
Transfer to Lifetime ECL EYERERREBEEER (29,226) (40,255) 69,481 - - -
- credit-mpaired -ZERE
Newloans originated B HRTER 54,100 - - 25,440 - -
Repayments B (22,929) (4,600) - (11,617) - -
Changes in modifcation g - (3,959) - - - -
Written-off i - - (1,800) = = =
Changes in interest receivables  FEUH|E 28 1,536 (202) - (1,206) 665 -
(Gross carmying amount as at ®t-A=t+-A
31 December LEEELE 65,287 15,950 69,481 61,831 64940 1,800
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

20. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

In October 2021, the Group and a borrower agreed an
modification on the terms of certain loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$12,584,000, under which
modified loans and interest receivables would be reduced to
HK$9,000,000 and settled by instalments with maturity date
extended to 5 November 2022 (the “Modification”).

In the opinion of the management, as the Modification results
in a significant extension of the maturity date and reduction of
outstanding amount of relevant loans and interest receivables, it
is a substantial modification and accounted for as derecognition
of the original financial assets. The difference of approximately
HK$3,959,000 between the carrying amount of the outstanding
loan and interest receivable of HK$12,584,000 prior to the
modification and the amount recognised as new financial
assets, being the fair value of the modified, has been recognised
in other gains or losses during the year ended 31 December
2021. The fair value of modified loan receivable at the date
of the modification as determined by a firm of independent
professional valuer, based on discounted cash flows method
that does not only use data from observable markets, was
approximately HK$8,625,000.

20. EWWEFZERFE @)

RZZTZ—F+A  AEBR—&E
KARBIESCE T RRKE KR EEL
12,584,000 78 JT AR FK » ] UL - K&
2R e W B 3R I L2 R E 9,000,000 74
T WHHEER HHAEREZ
—ZF+—RAA ([&Ek]) -

ERERE BRZERERIEA
ANiBER - HEAEKEREF SRR
BESERY  WA—EHEKREBKRIL
RERIERARBMBEEEAR - B
Al A (8 38 FE W E 3K F) B 12,584,000
BRI REERER AN ENBEE
MERE (EERATE) 2HNERE
#3,959,000 B T ERBE_S = —4F
+ A=+ —HIEFEEHE MK KES
BYURER - ISR A BB E%E
HEMAFRBMIRREREE (TE
FRARTBRMISHIE) BENLISE
WE A FEH A 8,625,00087T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

21. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21. if'zf - AR R EAEW
RECEIVABLES MIE

2021 2020

—E-—F —EIEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

Prepayments iEUNEN 871 1,843

Other receivables, gross H b e IR 4R = 5,046 8,929

Less: impairment losses B REEE (1,918) (1,918)

Other receivables, net H{th fE USRI = 5E 3,128 8,854

Deposits e 1,535 3,740

5,534 12,594

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits of HK$1,320,000
(2020: HK$1,658,000) and deposits with suppliers of HK$nil
(2020: HK$2,082,000). Other receivables mainly represent
amounts due from trade partners. As at 31 December 2021
and 2020, deposits and other receivables of the Group have
no comparable companies with credit ratings can be identified,
hence ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The
loss rate applied for deposits and other receivables that are not
credit-impaired, where there are no comparable companies,
was ranging from 3 to 5% (2020: 3 to 5%)).

As at 31 December 2021, the provision for impairment of
HK$1,918,000 (2020: HK$1,918,000) was recognised for
deposits and other receivables that were credit-impaired. There
was no movement in the provision for impairment of other
receivables during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22. A AP {EFTE B & 85t A

23.

PROFIT OR LOSS EHEENUBEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FA&T
Listed equity securities held HIEEBMAES L MRAES
for trading in Hong Kong 15,681 =

The fair value of the Group’s investment in listed securities has
been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the
end of reporting period. At 31 December 2021, the Group’s
listed equity securities approximately HK$15,681,000 were
pledged for other borrowings (note 27) of the Group. During
the year, net fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$2,679,000 (2020: nil) was recognised in
profit or loss.

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 36(f).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Groups included cash at
banks which earn interest at floating rates based on daily
deposits rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounting to
approximately HK$1,062,000 (2020: HK$1,493,000) which
were placed with certain banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed
by the PRC government. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through
the banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business. The bank balances are with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

23.

REE FTBEHFGENRAFETIZRBHK
EHRNEAREBETE - R=ZT=—
+=-A=+—8 AEEN ETRAE
##715,681,00078 T A AN B H 0 5
FREIRHR (BisE27) - £ ARAFE
TR B AEHIEENITKEEDN
N EEE#2,679,0008 7T (T =
TF ) ERNBRER -

ERrE2 FER AFENE 2515
B2HMIE36() °

ReEkBFATFEER

Re kB eFEER BFEFARTHR
& BB RERRR T B F R ERERA
g o

1N

R-ZE-——F+=-A=+—0" K&
EUAREHENREERITER
4 51,062,000 T (Z T =T F:
1,493,000 7T) * FEIFEBRANSE T
BT - ARBTREERRIREMEN -
R BIRE SR EIBR SN B A BEIBUR 8951
PEE IS HEAAIR o IRIBPHA) CHNEE
BIEF)D) RAKEE - EERNEEER
B AEEEFESBEEETINESE
BHRITHEARE LI AEME - iR
THRHBHTEEEEBENRITER &
HAN R B HE R LR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

24. TRADE PAYABLES

Credit periods of trade payables normally granted by its
suppliers were ranging from 15 to 120 days (2020: 15 to 120

24. EZ ENFRIE

HEBGTAREBZENS
H—H& N F155120K (=

KBANEE

B-TE

= —=<

days).

15 120K) °

RS HRARARBEERAHNE SR

Ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting

period based on invoice date is as follows:

FORRREDOMTEAT

2021 2020

—E--F —TFTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER TAETT

0 to 30 days 0Z&30H 3,375 8,586
31 to 60 days 260H 6,485 1,864
61 to 90 days 61£290H 303 2,081
91 to 180 days 912180 H 3,821 6,961
Over 180 days 238180 H 5,140 5,159
19,124 24,651

25. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND RECEIPTS

25. %Ei%%ﬁﬁ H{bFESFIE

IN ADVANCE R FEWRRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&TT
Accruals EREM
— Accrued staff costs - FEIR B TR 1,708 1,648
— Accrued other operating expenses - BREMEERS 3,546 3,353
Other payables E {th FEAT IR
- PRC social security fund — AR 3,841 3,981
— Others - Hfh 1,845 4,088
Receipts in advance FEU FRIA 28 28
10,968 13,098
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z —ZF ——

FH-A=t—HLFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. AR
2021 2020
—E--F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Short-term advances from customers: &/ EFFE L -
Sale of goods HEEMm 529 2,551
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Balance as at 1 January R—H—Bm&F 2,551 2,089
Decrease in contract liabilities as R AEEHNES
a result of recognising revenue WEFIMAZHE A R
during the year that was included
in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (2,551) (2,089)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result  EIR AT N A E R B FIE
of billing in advance MEBHE X B FIEN
of manufacturing activities 529 2,551
Balance at 31 December Rt+-—A=1+—HH&F 529 2,551
1t £,
OTHER BORROWINGS 27. HfER
2021 2020
—B-—F ZETTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Current D
Margin loan payable, repayable ERNAFRER - —FRK
within one year or on demand REREER 4,057 -

As at 31 December 2021, margin loan payable of the Group R=ZE——F+=-HA=+—8 ' &~5F
was denominated in HK$, carried interest at the prevailing ENFFRERABITHE - RERER
interest rate of loan prime rate plus 3.00% per annum FEIBITFIE I13.00% HFFIEFH S,
and secured by the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL of BUREEZ A A EFEHEZEETA

approximately HK$15,681,000 (2020: nil) (note 22).

= HER

7 B 75 & = %9 15,681,000 78
TCIEERIR (2 =4 : &) (MizF22) -

Annual Report 2021 E#R

191



192

Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H{EZ —ZT - —F+—-A=+—HILFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group leases various offices under lease agreements. The
lease agreements are between one to three years (2020: one to
three years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants. Leased assets are
not used as security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the leases. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
assets in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party

financing was received;

- uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and

- makes adjustments specific to the lease terms.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

28. HEAS®E

AEEREHERHHESHERAE -
HEMENFRA—ZE=F (Z2-F
F—F=F).

H

HEGRFZENEEEFEESZET
[ fRR S Mk » TR E 175 a2 8 e )
Y - HEBEENSHIEERONER

o

HENKERHEENRZSF R o fid

BErESEEZMNE (RAKEHEE

—RIER) - B AATE AR Fﬁ

M= - AHERIAEA R R E RS

TLAEOUESR ~ BERY KRS AR

WM@%%EFF@WEE%A%%E
MR RIFIER

RETIRERFME - AEH :
- EARBERT - ERERAEA

ROEGNE=TTMERELH
ﬁﬁﬂW'M&%QEQ% 73

- ERRE BERAEANE
B AR ERRNE K&

- HAEEEICETEEARE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

None of the leases contain variable lease payments.

28. HEEE »

BEAEESE2REMNN -

Office Office
premises equipment Total
WA WARRE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THT FHL
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE-Z%-5—-H 7,693 854 8,547
Effect of modification to MEEmTE
lease terms (note) ifz3) 2,125 = 2,125
Interest expense FERXZ 279 36 315
Lease payments HERT (5,746) (266) (6,012)
As at 31 December 2020 R-E-ZEF+=A
and 1 January 2021 =t-AR=-Z=—-§

—B—H 4,351 624 4,975
Addition NE 3,541 - 3,541
Interest expense FERZ 200 25 225
Lease payments HERR (4,584) (260) (4,844)
As at 31 December 2021 R-B=Z-%

+ZA=1+—H 3,508 389 3,897
Note: Ft 3
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group remeasured the carrying BE-ZT-TF+-A=1+—HILFE ' A58

amounts of lease liabilities to reflect an increase in the lease terms by one to two

years.

i%ﬁﬁiﬁf@ EVRRTEI(E - DA S BR7E & B33 o0

—EMEF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

== ==
28. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea) 28. HEEE @

The present values of future lease payments as at the reporting RIREEMNF R WS HIRE DT I

dates are analysed as: T
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Current liabilities mEaE 2,965 3,654
Non-current liabilities ERBEME 932 1,321
3,897 4,975
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Short-term lease expense HHHEER 759 872

Aggregate undiscounted commitments 52 5 & &) R ARG IR AR A ER

for short-term leases 667 759

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)



29. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

Deferred tax assets

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

Bt 75 ¥ R B

29. IR IE

FRBEHBEEREEBOT :

EEBREE

Impairment of
trade receivables

and loans
receivables Tax losses Total
B EWNIE
REWEXNHEE REEE CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-TF—-HF—H 593 998 1,591
Charged to profit or loss for the year FAFERE - (998) (998)
Exchange realignment B R 6 - 6
As at 31 December 2020 RZZEZTF+A
and 1 January 2021 =t—HK-T-—%
—H—H 599 - 599
Exchange realignment B X % (37) - (37)
As at 31 December 2021 R-B=—&
+=A=+-H 562 - 562
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

29. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forwards to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. As at
31 December 2021, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$81,300,000 (2020: HK$73,504,000) available
to offset against future taxable profits of the companies that
incurred these losses, in which no deferred tax assets were
recongised in the consolidated statement of financial position as
the management.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding income tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. A lower
withholding income tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The applicable rate for the Group is 5% (2020: 5%). In
estimating the withholding income taxes on dividends expected
to be distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008, the
directors have made an assessment based on the factors which
included the dividend policy and the level of capital and working
capital required for the Group’s operations in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2021, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised amounted to
approximately HK$1,903,000 (2020 HK$2,497,000)

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

29. JRAEFLIE (&)

FEHRIBEEE &)

BIER IR A EE TR IR B A P] BEEE AE BV
R IR FE R B i T & IR B AR BT TE U A
BRIBEEEAEMRER - N2 =—F
+=—A=+—8 AXEENXRSHEHE
Eii8 4 581,300,000 L (—Z T ==
% : 73,504,000 ) * Al A{EERESE
ZEBB L RRIRRERTRFHEE -
HApWERERE RN R ERIEER
BEE  AREEE -

BEBEFBEEEMENE  BZZZT/\F
—A—HE - PRREB R FIRMERINZ
i M T 2R A I B AT o i
Bl ERINEIR B R AEEEA B REIE
4 - AR Be B EURTEHIFTEM - A&
EEAREAESN(—E-FF  5%) °
PMEETZERFRK A BARTE
—EZENF—A—BRELERBFE
B R B ZTEMMEHR  EFE
ERNBEREBERNEEEFRA]
BRERKMEBEEREEENKESE
HAEELTE - RZE=-—F+=A
=+—H BETEMBARMNRDIK
wA (MAREREERIEEE) HER
ZEA#)1,903,00087C (CE-TF ¢
2,497,000 7C) °



30. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

30. g7

Number of Nominal
ordinary value
shares at of ordinary
HK$0.01 each shares
SREE0.018 T
EBERYE EEREE
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2020, and WZE-TF—F—B - ZZ2=%F
31 December 2020 and 2021 +-RA=+-HR=_T_—%
+-A=1+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
At 1 January 2020 and RZE-TF—H—RB ZZ=%F
31 December 2020 and 2021 +ZA=+—BR=_ZE-_—%
+-A=1+—H 1,690,000,000 16,900

31. RESERVES

(a) Share premium

31. {#E
(a) BRORE

The share premium account represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued, net of share issue costs.

(b) Merger reserve

(b)

Merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to certain
reorganisation of the Group and the nominal value of the

shares issued by the Company.

R £ 5 (B AR 48 B WP 1S TR IR B
ARRREEHITROEE (FRA
MBEITER) WEH -

BOHRE

AEEHE HEREARARE
AEEETEEMBRENRB LR
MR EEEAR R E BTN
H{EZ AR ZHE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

31. RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Statutory reserve

According to the relevant PRC laws, the subsidiary
established in the PRC is required to transfer at least
10% of its net profit after tax, as determined under the
PRC accounting regulation, to a statutory reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the subsidiary’s
registered capital. The transfer of this reserve must be
made before the distribution of dividend to the subsidiary’s
equity owners. The statutory reserve is non-distributable
other than upon the liquidation of the subsidiary.

Share-based payment reserve

Share-based payment reserve represents the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to directors, employees and
consultants of the Group recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-
based payments in note 4.19 to the consolidated financial
statement.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.4.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

31. BE @

()

(d)

(€)

ETE e

RIEAEEFBER - ERBIKL
WHBARIBE VG ERTELM
FIE10% (RIFHR R ST HABIE
E) BAETEHEE BEERHES
BRI DM B A R FE & AN H) 50%
Bl - ZREBENERBERNE
NAEIRERB AR E ZBIE
o BRISBARNEEIN - SRR
BB ©

%Hﬁﬁ?ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬂ’giﬁﬁﬁ

ABHD RERE N EEART
AEBES - BB LEMZARIT
EREREEREEE 2AF
B RIEGEAMBHRERME4.19
VA RS #65 5 DA B /3 2 B0 S A
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BE#EE

BRERBEEREZINNEAR]
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

32. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 32. MEHRERERNE
CASH FLOW

Recondiliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as BEEBEENBEHRAOT :
follows:

Lease Other
liabilities borrowings

*HEEE Eﬂiﬂa TA

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
At 1 January 2020 R=-Z=-ZF—HF—H 8,547 -
Changes from cash flows: ReneZeE :
Interest paid ERFLE (315) -
Repayment of principal portion BEHEAaGELRS
of lease liabilities (5,697) -
(6,012) -
Other changes HhEs)
Effect of modification to lease terms MHEMER R 2 2,125 =
Interest expenses FERX 315 -
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZEF+=-A=+—8H
and 1 January 2021 E=—Z2-_—-%—H—H 4,975 -
Changes from cash flows: RenEs
Proceeds from new borrowing FriEERATISRIE - 4,057
Interest paid ERFLE (225) (141)
Repayment of principal portion BEEERELS
of lease liabilities (4,619) -
(4,844) 3,916
Other changes Hith &)
Addition in lease liabilities HESELM 3,541 -
Interest expenses FEFE 225 141
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—-+=-A=+—H 3,897 4,057
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

33.

34.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 33. A RS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these BRareMBHREREMIIFR IS
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following O REBRAFE TR E Z M
significant related party transactions during the year. RN :
(a) Transactions with a related party (a) BEE— BB L EITHR
2
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ZE_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Addition of right-of-use asset from 2RE A N EIBRE AEEE
NE
— T&T Capital Limited — T&T Capital Limited
(A company controlled by (AEZTAIESIRAT)
Ms. Tin) - 2,046
The directors of the Company are of the view that the KRAESERREERZHTINAK
transactions were entered in the ordinary and usual course NEl—M KA EEFBREFRIRE
of business of the Company and on normal commercial BRFEIGRETAL o
terms.
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEEAEFHMH
The Group defines directors as key management AEEHEEATAETETEA
personnel and their remuneration are set out in note 10(a). 8 MEZEEABMEFHHER
FiEE10() °
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. B AERTE

On 8 December 2021, 60,000,000 options were granted by
the Company under its share option scheme adopted on 22
November 2013 to its directors, certain employees of the
Group and a consultant of the Company for their contributions
to the Group to acquire shares of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.155 per share with an exercise period from 8
December 2021 to 7 December 2026. The estimated fair value
of these options granted was HK$3,741,000. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, all of these options were vested and
exercisable upon the grant of the share options and none of
them were exercised, forfeited or cancelled.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

RKRAFBRBEER-_Z—=F1+—F8
T AR ERETEIMEESE
& B A TE B ME R 160,000,000
MERE REESFHASEELD
B AR ERG - 1THER
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—Z —

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

B A Y aE

— S+ A=F+—HIFE

34. IBIRRERTE @)

Details of movement of the options during the year ended 31 RBE_T-_—F+HA=1+—HIEF
December 2021 are as follows: € BIRENESHFBOT
Number of share options
BREYA
Weighted Outstanding at Lapsed  Outstanding at
average 1 January Granted Exercised cancelled 31 December
Date of grant  exercise price Exercise period 2021 duringtheyear  duringthe year  during the year 2021
RZB=-% RZB=-F
-B-R MERKY/ TZR=t-B
RUAE METHIRE i HATE REREL RERTRE B HATE
Directors
EE
TIN Yat Yu Carol 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 16,900,000 - - 16,900,000
B4 ZZ-%+ZANR 0.16587C ZZZ-FTZA\RE
ZRIETIRT
CHEUNG Ka Lung 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
FRE ZZ-%+ZAR 0.16587C ZZZ-FTZA\RE
ZRIETIAT
CHAN Ming Leung 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
Terence ZZ=-#+ZANR 015587 ZZ--#+Zf\BE
e ZRIETIRT
GONG Xiaohan 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 16,900,000 - - 16,900,000
L2 ZZ=-%+ZAR 0.15578TC ZZ-#+Zf\BE
_,_A¢+_ﬂt
TANG Shu Pui Simon 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
MR ZZ=-%+ZAR 0.155/8TC ZZ--#+ZA\BE
_,_A¢+_ﬂt
HON Ming Sang 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
B ZZ=-F+ZA)\A 0.15587 ZTZ-FTZA)\RE
_,_A¢+_ﬂt
LOWing Sze 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Bkt ZZ=-%+ZAR 0.155 /8T ZZ-#tZA\BE
_,_A¢+_ﬂt
Employees 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 2,300,000 - - 2,300,000
[E8 ZZ-%+ZANR 0.155/8TC ZZ--#tZA\AE
_A¢+_ﬂta
Consultant (note) 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 - 16,900,000 - - 16,900,000
ER (Hit) ZTZ-E+ZA)\H 0.1557 ZTZ-E+ZA)\RE
_=_A¢+_ﬂta
Note: 16,900,000 options were granted to Mr. Li Yang who was a consultant on e - (ERERNERBAEERE L B HER

the date grant. Mr. Li Yang was subsequently appointed as an executive
director and Chairman of the Company with effect from 19 January 2022.

The Company used Binominal option pricing model to estimate
the fair value of the options using the following assumptions:

Weighted average share price at grant date

Average expected volatility
Expected dividend rate
Risk-free interest rate

HK$0.155
91.1%

Nil
1.2%

16,900,00017 BE AR 1 - 5k ABERE
BEZIAARRATEEREIR A=
——F—RAthBEK-

ARRIFR IR R EERIURIEA T

R (hET RN A TE -
R B BRI AR E 0.155 7T
%E%¥ﬁ§ﬁ¢5 91.1%
%E/iqﬂx \_;\T /43]\{\
4 3 B 1| 2R 1.2%
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34. Bkt E (o)

The volatility was made reference to the Company’s historical
stock price movement in Bloomberg.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, share-based
payment expenses of HK$3,741,000 (2020: Nil) have been
charged to profit or loss.

WIETS% T ARG E LR

HE-_T-_—F+ZA=+—H1
FE-UBROAERNNRAX
3,741,000 T (ZEFF : H)ER
BE R o

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3. TRMITAESE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

R RSB T AR O EE
o :

2021 2020
—E-—-F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
Financial assets g EE
Financial assets at FVTPL AAFETE BEEETA
EHERNIBEE 15,681 =
Financial assets at amortised cost Tﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ$§+%ﬂ’\]ﬁﬁ HEE
— Trade receivables - B W 27,486 19,136
— Loans and interest receivables = FEHSZT &ﬂ 114,667 108,762
— Deposits and other receivables - e R HAMEWEIE 4,663 10,751
— Cash and cash equivalents -Re KB EEER 15,348 78,547
177,845 217,196
Financial liabilities Bk aE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REENATENTKEE
— Trade payables - B ENNIE 19,124 24,651
- Accruals and other payables - TRIRE A KA MR FKIE 10,940 13,070
— Other borrowings H A fEFR 4,057 -
— Lease liabilities - TH‘E\E\TE 3,897 4,975
38,018 42,696
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in
its investment activities. The financial risks include market risk
(including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s
headquarters, in close co-operation with the board of directors.
The overall objectives in managing financial risks focus on
securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by
minimising its exposure to financial markets.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s exposures to currency risk arise mainly from its
overseas sale transactions and settlement of its overseas
purchases, both of which are primarily denominated in
United States Dollars (“US$”) and RMB respectively. These
are not the functional currencies of the Group entities
to which these transactions relate. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

36. AR ERR AT
==}

AEBRAEREERBBEDMRETD
REMAER TAMASPERER © B
RBEm SRR (EENERER - 7
K RERER) EERR&RE
Bk -

AEBENMBRREEEEZEETA

ETHASB LI - SRR ER
BERAEZEEEINROESmMISRR

NERAKENRYPEFHRERE -

(a) SRR

SRR IE SR T AM A TFES
RS MEEINEE R EE) M
KB B o 2N & B H) SN L e
TEXRBEBIINHER S REN
BHONBE BORIEFEUET
(TEx)) RPARKEE - 25 &
BXHERHFENAEEE B

MEEER - REBWEFEMRITE
SR IT A REINERR - 7
SEE e RIMNERE - A5
MNEFERE B IHERINE R

G o
AA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MiEE s EE R AFET

=,
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (#)
(a) Foreign currency risk continued) (a) FhEE R (&)
Summary of exposure L B A5% B
As at the reporting dates, the carrying amounts of the REEH - NEENINE (B
Group’s financial assets and liabilities denominated in SEEENEEEUINNER)
foreign currencies, i.e. currency other than the functional FENMBEENEENREE
currency of the respective group entities, are as follows: (N
Financial Financial
assets liabilities Total
MBEE BMEasE et
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FET

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZEBEZ—F

+=HA=+-—H
RMB AREE 14 (55) (41)
uss$ e 20,948 (2,306) 18,642
As at 31 December 2020 R -TF

+=—A=+—8
RMB AR 16 (737) (721)
us$ ETT 37,331 (25,179) 12,152
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MiEE s EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) E #®)
(a) Foreign currency risk continued) (a) e B ()
Foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis EXHRBEDN

Since HK$ is pegged to USS$, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in HK$/US$ exchange rate. The
following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss
after tax for the year and equity in regard to a 3% change
in RMB exchange rate. The rate is used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s best assessment
of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk at the reporting date has been determined
based on the assumed percentage changes in foreign
currency exchange rates taking place at the beginning
of the financial year with all other variables held constant
throughout the year. A positive number in the sensitivity
analysis below indicates a decrease in loss after tax where
HK$ strengthens against RMB. For a weakening of the
HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on loss after tax, and the balances below would be
negative.

MRB T - NEETE
HETHRTHNER TS RA(E
MEXES TREEAEEDN
FARBREEEMESRARE
ERZEAEIDHEBHGRE - [E
KR AERERABIERERR
TINERRSRA - SEEEY
PE R R RE ) 2 RIEMAEL ©

RE B e B AT SN
2 BURE DT T RER NG [E =
HB)E 5 L B F R F A R 2
ERMBHMEENEEFEA
HFBTEMETE - TXHEED
P B IEBUE R R T AR E
Eog - AIRRRRERRD - L8
TRARBESME - HEHEHIEK
ERSEEFRLERNTZE -
m NS RRE o

Effect on loss after tax

RBREE2TE
2021 2020
—B-—F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
If HK$ strengthens against RMB 2078 7T 5, A REEFHE 5 18
If HK$ weakens against RMB WMBTEARERE (5) (18)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MHEEMEER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) B

(b) Interest rate risk (b) == px

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of the changes in market interest rates. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk arises primarily from the Group’s
bank balances and other borrowings which were bearing
floating interest rate (notes 23 and 27). The Group has
not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. The policies to manage interest rate risk which
have been followed by the Group since prior years are
considered to be effective.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss after tax for the year
and equity, with effect from the beginning of the years.
These changes are considered to be reasonably possible
based on observation of current market conditions. The
calculations are based on the Group’s floating rate other
borrowings held at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis has been prepared assuming these financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. There is no impact
on other components of combined equity in response to
the possible change in interest rates.

MERRIREHTAENATFE
IR &2 AT 5 R m
REzER -  AEERESR
SN EREREEEREAEE IR
17417 K E At f8 SRR B 75 % B0 5
K (MzF23kar) - REEI K
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁiiliﬁﬂﬁlﬂﬁﬂtwm

c AEEBEBRAFEERA—E
”giiﬂtﬂ 2R - BRABUR
WRBB

NRYRED T

TRITEREEMEEEITT
mZIET AEE 2 FERFT
BHEBERESHNZEF
iﬂZAET%ﬂ$&EZﬂ@
B - ZFEYHEBRERITHNR
BRAEEMRELE - SHETIR
ﬁﬁglﬂﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁZg
BEMAEFTEST - 2T I REN
BEMRAARTEZZFTERT
AEREFHEITEMRER - F R
Z Al RE B H A f et 2 E A AL
DIWEZE -

Increase/(decrease)
in loss after tax
BRELZEEEM S GRL)
2021 2020
—E-—-F =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Increase by 50 basis points #0050 & =2, 23 33
Decrease by 50 basis points B 50 EE 2L (23) (33)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MHEEMEER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continueq) B

(c) Equity price risk (c) RERR

The Group’s listed equity investments are susceptible to
market price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investment securities. The Group manages
the equity price risk through diversification and by placing
limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports
on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior
management on a regular basis. The Group’s Board of
Directors reviews and approves all equity investment
decisions.

At the reporting date, the exposure to equity investments
at fair value listed on the The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited was HK$15,681,000. Given that the
changes in fair values of the equity investments held are
strongly positively correlated with changes of the HKEX
market index, the Group has determined that an increase/
(decrease) of 10% on the HKEX market index could have
an impact of approximately HK$1,568,000 increase/
(decrease) on the income and equity attributable to the
Group.

AEER ETREREREER
FAREBETEEMTEZ M
BYUAAEMSERERRR - AX&
FE 8% LAt A KR EHE B & 2 H
T AREBERSIAEERRER
B WEHRASESHRERE
RXBEREHERE - A5E
ESSERUIEMERERE
RER o

R|EBE  REBBERZFT
BRAB LEMEATFEHENR
R E R A 15,681,000/8 7T °
ERFERERENAFEE
HHEFBEIFMTISERESH A
B2 IEMAREER  ANEBRET
ERXGMBEE LA (T
BIIO% A e EEERNEEE
EA RREZE M, O D) 4
1,568,000 B TTHY R 2L o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MHEEMEER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) B

(d) S5 REEFEBERG

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk mainly arises from trade receivables, loans and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposit and cash and bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets
except for certain trade receivables under credit protection
agreement, and except that the credit risks associated
with certain loans and interest receivables is mitigated
because they are secured over collaterals. There is no
significant changes in the quality of collaterals as a result
of deterioration or changes in the collateral policies of the
entity during both reporting periods.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has developed
and maintains the Group’s credit risk gradings to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is based on the
Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored
and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

For financial assets at amortised cost, the exposures
to credit risk are monitored such that any outstanding
debtors are reviewed and followed up on an ongoing
basis. The Group continuously monitors defaults of
customers and other counterparties, identified either
individually or by group, and incorporate this information
into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal
only with creditworthy counterparties.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

EERRESRTIAZHF IR
EERERTAZGERETER
T TERAKEFEHEEE
2R  REBEAXNEEHR
SEBRAESEWFA - B
EREFB - BE M H WK
H - DEBRTEREREAK

BEEABNEERRIFEEM
ERmREREMERENE
i HEERERERZER THNET
B 5 BUGRIARR SN - AREE T
UEERENEEHENEERR
K TR E AR & ER
e XNMERSHE SHERE
BEARBRBCREHERK
HmNERBEERES -

REAREREEERR K&
B HEREREERRER -
IR B E QAR SR K E R
ATARETT O - ERRERTD
REASEEENR Hir i H
T2EFPREMER AETH
o REBFEE AR R R
RERZHFHERTE L
FTER R 5 BEERZER S
HFEETHEY

IRBHR AT ENMBEEM
5 AEEEHAAZOHEERR
ETER X TERE MREE
MAREEER AKERHEER
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HRER  YRNEERREET
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥ R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

36. MiEE s EE R AFET

=9 e
= (&)

(d) S5 REEFEBER

(%)

AEE B ANEERRFTRIER
BIEATER :

Internal credit rating Description Basis for recognising ECL
A EBIEE AR B BREREESENEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month ECL

and does not have any past-due amounts
EWER RSEFHHENRBRERIE - 2{E RFEREE &

B S A
Special mention The counterparty has been experiencing Lifetime ECL

2Dz
Higher risk
B ER
Loss

&8
Write-off
iz

difficulties which may threaten
the Group’s position. Ultimate loss is
not expected at this stage but could
occur if adverse conditions persist.
RESHFHBRHER ARk
REERMAL o FEFTHAIBR
FESEPE BRI & A - s DA
FEFE - QIR Re g B AERKEX -

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or external resources

BBATIINBERFENER
EE R B VR TR AR EEIE N

There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

BEREBERNEBEAECEEEERE

There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

BRBETERABARENIFREE
REETRRBEAIWEABRIEA

— not credit-impaired

FEERE SRS
- WARBEAEEERE

Lifetime ECL
— not credit-impaired

FENEHEEER
- WAREEEERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

FERRHEEER
- DRAREERE

Amount is written off

WHB AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL

36. A EER A FE

=9 e
= (&)

(d) S5 REEFEBERG

(%)

TRAFLAEKEHHEEENE
ERk CRETHRBEEBEN

assessment: &)
Internal 12-month Gross carrying
Notes  credit rating or lifetime ECL amounts
1218 A7 &
Mz  ARBEETR AHEEER REASHE
2021 2020
B ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT
Trade receivables 19 N/A (note) Lifetime ECL 28,006 19,781
(provisional matrix)
B SR RIE TEA (ME) HFEREHEEER
(BipiER)
Loans and interest 20 Low risk 12-month EC 65,287 61,831
receivables Special mention  Lifetime ECL 15,950 64,940
Loss Lifetime ECL 69,481 1,800
R E R KT x 128 AEBEEEE
iy FEREHEEER
B FEREHEEER
Deposits and other 21 Low risk 12-month ECL 6,581 10,751
receivables Loss Lifetime ECL - 1,918
e REM YA iy 12{E ATEEIEEEE
ER FEHMEREEER
Cash and cash equivalents 23 Low risk 12-month ECL 15,348 78,547
RekHe%EEER iy 12 AEEEEEE

Note: For trade receivables from sales of apparels, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance

at lifetime ECL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MiEE s EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
Trade receivables g 5 rERRE

As set out in note 4.9(ii), the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provisional matrix, grouped by past due
status. The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers in relation to its sales of apparels because these
customers consist of a large number of customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. As at 31 December 2021,
gross amount of trade receivables from sales of apparels
of HK$28,006,000 (2020: HK$19,781,000) were assessed
based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL. The
Group’s trade receivable were not credit-impaired as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

BRI EE 4.9() FrE - ANEEE ER
BRI EREERFE IR
FRE G EEREEEENE
BEE BRAEAKREEEH
BEAEERMENERERI
REBFRABEEBEETZER
HHFEHEEEE (GRafkn
DH8) o EHEB R EREIER
RIEFTFHMEL AT B RMEL
KihEt - WEBBETBERKAE
B NI ER 2 ATE B RHE
A% -

EAREEEERRERZ —
R AREEF A ERERERENRER
BRFZEEEFREEE B BN
BE THERZERFBEEZ4
EHRARBRFHENER - FEUE
BFEERE NGRS AR
FIEMEEN - RZE = —F+=
A=+—H REHERMEIE
GFEHRBEHEEBBRANNBREE
PEEITR A E B B R
28,006,000 7L (Z T =T F :
19,781,000/7T) e RZT=—%F
KZTE_TF+_A=+—8"
REBNE S EKFIBY EHA
SERE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MiEE s EE R AFET

Trade receivables (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, reversal of
ECL on trade receivables of HK$125,000 (2020: reversal
of HK$8,000) was recognised in the profit or loss for the
year.

Loans and interest receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on loans and interest
receivables based on 12-month ECL, excepted for one
loan and interest receivable which was past due for one
year and credit-impaired, lifetime ECL was based on for
ECL assessment.

The credit risk on certain loans and interest receivables are
limited because certain loans receivable are pledged with
the properties units in Hong Kong, personal assets of the
borrowers and guaranteed by certain independent third
parties. The directors expect that the general economic
conditions will not significantly change for the 12 months
after the reporting date.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)

EZRWREARERRE (&)

BHE-T_—F+-HA=+—H
IHFE - BSEWFIENTELSE
BB EE 12500080 (—F =
T4 ¢ £[08,000/87T) ERNER
TEBESHER ©

EHRERRFE

P8 PR &8 B 75 R 5 2R RIS 9 517
% AEERE12EAEREE
BRI W E A BETTIR ]
EEBBRENTRRERN G - 1
EBH—FREEREZEKRE
REMERRS  FEARHAEE
EBEDENRAHMEEBEENGE
= o

ETREEREFE ZEERR
BAER - TIRRNETRKEN
AEBEBMEET - BRANEA
BERETEBYE=TTFHNE
RIEEM - EFEHR HE B H
BARKA 8 A BEE MR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. MiEE s EE R AFET
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= (&)

(d) S5 REEFEBER

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract between the
Group and a counterparty may result in a change to the
contractual cash flows without resulting in derecognition
of the financial assets.

Such restructuring activities included extended payment
term arrangements, repayment schedule modifications
and changes to the interest settlement method. The risk
of default of such assets after modification is assessed at
the reporting date and compared with the risk under the
original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is
not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of
the original asset and the book value of the financial asset
is recalculated and the related gain or loss is included in
current profit or loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present value
of the contractual cash flows following the renegotiation
or modification, as calculated using the original effective
interest rate of the financial asset.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL of deposits and other receivables. For
those balances expected to have significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group applies
lifetime ECL based on aging for classes with different
credit risk characteristics and exposures.

(%)

BHNERERENER

AEBERZHHF I IEMRLER
BREANAEEERANAER
ERLEY MIASEHSRE
R PHER o

ABEEEDBEERE RN
B SRR R - AR B
BH - BANERLRERE
BB EFRERE I EAR
BEER - AMAERTEEN
BHBORRSERSE BT
ik B REAOERTIBER
R RETHLL B E
SeMEENFEE - MRS
B2 SRR AT A IR - B
FE B EREEREEDR
R E AR R E RS
REENRERAEAEHAL
RemERERET -

BE R EMBERRE

AEEIZ 128 A RREEEER
BT REMEWRGRIANREE
B dEnERERREER
REEBNZF/EHRME - AN
S BRE T REE BRI
A2 BREC AR E M7 E TR HIE
EEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with sound credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the
Group considers the credit risk to be insignificant.

Concentration of credit risk

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on:

° Trade receivables
° Loans and interest receivables

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty and by geographical region. The Group had
certain concentrations of credit risks as 52% (2020: 78%)
of total trade receivables are due from five of its largest
external customers and 36% (2020: 51%) of total loans
and interest receivables are due from five of its largest
external borrowers as at 31 December 2021. The directors
carry a periodic review on the creditworthiness on these
customers and consider the exposure to such credit risk is
minimal. Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
loans and interest receivables are disclosed in notes 19
and 20 to the financial statements respectively.

Other than above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

The credit policies have been followed by the Group since
prior years and are considered to have been effective in
limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable
level.

214 Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited X452 i% G R A &)
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(d) S5 REEFEBERG

(%)

RERBRESEEERA

RITEFNEERRIFEER
RARRZHF 19 SHBERE
AR EEER TERERFRN
RITEAREERAEERBEN -

SHEERER

AEERATREAREERT
N

o EZEWFUR
o RUWERNMFE

EHEERBERRF HF AR
WwEEE N-_ZT-_—%F+_H
=t+—8 AEBHEETEHE
ERR - 5B S RWKIBRRE 2
52% (ZZE=FF : 78%) JHHE
RBERINREBRAFRLER - T
HEKE SRR FI BB 2 36%(=
TFTF51%) DEERAR
RINAERANFEER - EEFRZ
ERFPZIEREETEE®RE
TRAEZEERBRIK - AEE
REE S ERGRIE K EKRE 3K
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MiEE s EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
Collateral and other credit enhancement K@ REAMEEER

The Group employs a range of policies and practices
to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is
accepting collateral for certain loans granted. The Group
has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes
of collaterals or credit risk mitigation.

The Group prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained
as part of the loan origination process. This assessment
is reviewed periodically. The principal collateral types for
loans and interest receivables are:

- Real estate, including residential and commercial
properties; and

- Personal assets, including but not limited to
diamonds and jewelries.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have
not significantly changed during the reporting year and
there has been no significant change in the overall quality
of the collateral held by the Group since prior years.
The Group also focuses on ascertaining legal ownership
and the valuation of the real estate collaterals. A loan
granted is based on the value of the collaterals, which is
generally lower than the estimated value of the real estate
collaterals. The Group monitors the value of the real estate
collaterals throughout the loan period.

AEERA— R BER MG
NEREERR - &AF LAY
EREXETERNEMR - K
SEMEZ S EEROER MK
B ERERRSIE T REBEK o

AEBEHEERENERET LK
SOEARRERMGEE TR
TR EER - BREEREFEHN
HEHmEER AL

- FHE BREEMERY

ES3

- BEAERE - BREERNE

A RIRE e

RBEFE - NEEARERKE
A BRYEBEAEE A8
BEHMIAK - AN E P R
MR EBEREENESEAES - K
SETERETERFWERT M
BIEFARENEE - ERIRE
EHRmOnEE (—REXRFHE
EREGE R - AEER
EEERPAFEERFMER
HmHEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(e)

(Continued)

In addition to collateral-backed loans, the Group also
granted unsecured loans to customers. The Group
evaluates the credit status of individual customers,
including the customers’ business performance, financial
information, repayment ability, as well as industrial outlook
in which the customers operate.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial instruments, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.
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(d) S5 REEFEBERG
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MHEEMEER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continueq) B

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) REEEREEE @)

Total Within

contractual  one year or
Carrying undiscounted repayableon  One year or
amount  cash flows demand above

KR —FRg

BHRE AREX
REE RELH BE -FIguL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THET TER THR

As at 31 December 2021 R=E--%+-R=1-H

Non-derivative financial instruments FTESRIA

- Trade payables - B SRR 19,124 19,124 19,124 -

- Accruals and other payables - BREAREMENTE 10,940 10,940 10,940 -

- Other borrowings - Hfbfgin 4,057 4,198 4,198 -

- Lease liabilities -HEARE 3,897 4,036 3,090 946
38,018 38,298 37,352 946

As at 31 December 2020 WZZ-FF+-A=1—H

Non-derivative financial instruments FTESRIA

- Trade payables -BHERFE 24,651 24,651 24,651 -

- Accruals and other payables - BREARHMENTE 13,070 13,070 13,070 -

- Lease liabilties -HEBE 4,975 5,152 3,792 1,360
42,696 42 873 41,513 1,360
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

36. MiEE s EE R AFET
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The fair values of trade receivables, loans and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and
bank balances, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, other borrowings, and current portion of lease
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of loans and
interest receivables and lease liabilities have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using the rates currently available for instruments on
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables present financial assets measured at
fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy
groups financial assets into three levels based on the
relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the
fair value of these financial assets. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. MiEE s EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) E #®)

() Fair value measurements recognised in the () RAEFEEMBEMRRKRER
consolidated statement of financial position NAEEFE @)
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AV ELEE (&)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the MBEEERRBMERR ANATE
financial asset is categorised in its entirety is based on EEANER  DEREQFE
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value EBERNKEERBAER
measurement. glm o
The financial assets measured at fair value in the RS BEEARE B BIRARA
consolidated statement of financial position at the EATEFENTBHEERAR
reporting date are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as ThEID BATH A F(ELERE
follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E F2E E3E &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn Fign TiEn FiEn

As at 31 December 2021 R-B--f+-A=t-H
Financial assets at fair value WAFEEAZHA

through profit or loss EHBERNIBEE
~ Listed equity securities - FiRiEES 15,681 - - 15,681
There were no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 RZFEE - F1EHF2EZEIL
and no transfers into or out of level 3 during the year. mEAEE  MEEEANEL

F3E -

Annual Report 2021 3 219



Notes to the Financial Statements

5r 75 3 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T - —F+-"A=+—HIEFE

37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 37. EXEHE

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio calculated
on the basis of borrowings and lease liabilities over total equity.
The Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain the
gearing ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders,
raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio is regularly reviewed by senior management.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as
follows:

A EEAREE B EARRAEE R
BRGNS LRI RRE T
R IRTS RS - AR SR E
% -

AREBEGR K E R HEARE - I
PERERBEE L HE - AREEH
RS MHE B B A SRR E A
BEAGBLXRERERN - AEENER
EEAEEREERBLRERERE
IKF o BT MR RFEIZ LR - AEE
AEABMBRRMER SR - BITH
Bfn ~ MBRGRAREIER - BEESE
BRHEBENRBER

BEBBLEASRERERETRRA -
RERRNEERBLLRAT

2021 2020

—E-—F —T_TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Other borrowings HEAMfE® 4,057 =
Lease liabilities HERAE

— current - 2,965 3,654

— non-current - FERED 932 1,321

7,945 4,975

Total equity B 196,257 238,425

Gearing ratio BEAGBHLE 4.0% 2.1%

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)
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38. AN A B IEARM R

COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a)) RH B AR (s (a) 63,612 63,612
Property, plant and equipment M - B K& 342 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 980 2,069
64,934 65,681
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments SENEA 834 750
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE LS B B A RI5RIE 124,695 138,895
Cash and cash equivalents HeNBEEEBEER 197 59,291
125,726 198,936
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables TEIRE A & E A R 5108 3,181 1,232
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASHF B A Bl FUA 249 249
Lease liabilities HEBaR 1,008 1,074
4,438 2,555
Net current assets RBEEFRE 121,288 196,381
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 6 1,015
6 1,015
Net assets BEFE 186,216 261,047
EQUITY s
Share capital &N 16,900 16,900
Reserves (note (b)) & (s o)) 169,316 244,147
Total equity AT 186,216 261,047

On behalf of the Board

REEZT
Li Yang Tin Yat Yu Carol
=& H—F
Director Director
EF ZF
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Notes:

@

Subsidiaries

T-—£+-A=t-ALEE

=

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

F

R

(@ MEAR

77

38. AR T BT )

RiE BT RME QR FER 0

as follows: g
Place/
country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued/paid-in
Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
MR held by the operation and
LRI EE BT/ Company principal activities
7518 B= SRARAFE AATHENERER EEMBRETEEY
Direct Indirect
HE s
Great Entrepreneur BVI 4 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
Investments Limited REERRES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
AREREEET REBREER
LB
Transformed Holdings Limited BVI 4 ordinary shares 100% = Investment holding
EBERRES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
ARGIREE ET REBRETR
BERR
Going Success Holdings Limited BVI 1,000 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
EEERRES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
1,000 IRFAREE 1 =TT REBREER
AR
Holly Global Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
EBERAES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
100 A EI{E 15570 REBREER
H 2B AR
Best Supreme Investment Limited  BVI 100 ordinary shares 100% = Investment holding
EEERRES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
100 R BAREE 156 7T REBREER
HERR
Victory Leader Holdings Limited BVI 1 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding
I EERAR AR REBERTHS of US$1 each in Hong Kong
1REREE1ET REBREZER
AR
Runway Global Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
K RERIRAR AR BB 3,000,000 %7 and trading of

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

apparels in
Hong Kong

REBREER
K IREHE 5
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

BRE - (%)

B A Y aE

— S+ A=F+—HIFE

38. RNAFBARREK ()

@@ ™MBE2E (&)

//

RiE BT RME QBB 0

as follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place/
country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued/paid-in
Name establishment capital Effective interest Place of
ML held by the operation and
LRI EE BT/ Company principal activities
H518 B= SRARAFE AATHENERER EEMBRETEEY
Direct Indirect
HE I
Jiaxing Runway Global Garment PRC US$2,000,000 - 100% Manufacturing and
Limited* R 2,000,000 27T trading of apparels
I R ER IR AR &6 (F2 L) in the PRC
BRAR! AP BT T AR S e
k&5
Runway Fashions, Inc. USA 1,000 ordinary shares - 100% Provision of designing,
xH of US$1 each marketing and
1,000 REAREE 1 7T advertising services
ORE i in the USA
REBIRHHRE
M5 &8
RS RS
Delta Wealth Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 = 100% Provision of money
BMEMBERAR BB 1,000,0008 7T lending services
RUEFRE RS
Smart Dream Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares = 100% Investment holding
EBERAES of US$1 each in Hong Kong
100 R BAXEE 136 7T NEBREER
Y B AR
Glory Kind Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100% Investment holding
BIEERAT B 1,000/87C in Hong Kong
NEBIREER
Runway Global Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% Investment holding
B IREREE B R A A BB 17%87T in Hong Kong
(formerly known as Crystal Idea REBREER
Investments Limited)
(AIEARBRERRAT)
& Wholly foreign owned enterprise under PRC law # FRELERE RN B E D E

None of the subsidiaries issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

BUEME A RN FREITEMERE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

38. AR T BT )

COMPANY (Continued)
Notes: (Continued) Mtz : ()
(b)  Reserves (b) B
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARIEBEHMAT -

Share-based

Share Contributed payment Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
PY:2vix
B AR R E PN S AH#E 2R st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHET FHT
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-Z2F—H—H 375,963 63,583 - (100,823) 338,723
Loss and total comprehensive AN EEIE K
income for the year 2HEWRELEEE - - - (94,576) (94,576)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-ZF
and 1 January 2021 +=A=+—HRK
—E-_—-%—A—H 375,963 63,583 - (195,399) 244,147
Loss and total comprehensive ~ ANEFEEE N
income for the year 2HENEEEE - - - (78,572) (78,572)
Equity-settled share option DA A E R
scheme arrangements RNk Bl BE - - 3,741 - 3,741
At 31 December 2021 R-B=—F
+=A=+—H 375,963 63,583 3,741 (273,971) 169,316

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to certain
reorganisation of the Group and the nominal value of the share issued by
the Company in exchange thereof.

RIBFTBETRDEEMNERE

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

AARMBABHBERBASEE TEA
P RER B A R M A EFEEA A RER
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